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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached than
other companies listed on the Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks
of investing in such companies and should make
the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally
small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to
high market volatility than securities traded on the Main
Board and no assurance is given that there will be a
liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness
and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss
howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any
part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of China
United Venture Investment Limited (formerly known as GLORY
MARK HI-TECH (HOLDINGS) LIMITED) (the “Company’,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars
given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on GEM of the Exchange (the “GEM Listing
Rules’) for the purpose of giving information with regard
to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and
belief, the information contained in this report is accurate
and complete in all material respects and not misleading
or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission
of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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Chairman’s Statement

FRHESE

To Our Shareholders,

| would like to present to the shareholders the annual report
of China United Venture Investment Limited (formerly known
as GLORY MARK HI-TECH (HOLDINGS) LIMITED) and its
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the
“Year” or “Year 2022”).

In 2022, the Group recorded revenue of approximately
HK$287.9 million, representing a decrease of approximately
15.2% as compared to 2021. This year, the Group recorded a
loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$61.9 million (2021: profit of HK$50.0 million).

Our electronics business recorded a revenue of approximately
HK$272.6 million (2021: approximately HK$317.2 million) in
the Year, representing a decrease of approximately 14.1%
as comparing to the year ended 31 December 2021. This
business segment was affected by the outbreak of the
COVID-19 pandemic globally which has imposed adverse
impact on the consumer demand for electronic products
globally. The recovery to pre-pandemic situation from the
COVID-19 is a long, uneven and uncertain process.

The master-planning and architectural design business
recorded revenue of approximately HK$8.3 million during the
Year (2021: approximately HK$22.0 million), representing a
decrease of approximately 62.3% as compared with 2021.
During the Year, the outbreak of COVID-19 continue to affect
the development of the design business of the Group that
the PRC real estates market is affected by the aftermath
of COVID-19 pandemic and the local economic activities
were restricted due to various epidemic prevention policies.
On top of an observed slow recovery from COVID-19, this
segment is also affected by the crises experienced by its
customers’, the China real estate developers’, high debt level
and liquidity issues. The Directors are monitoring the issues
closely and remaining cautiously optimistic to the results of
the Architectural Design Business in the future.

The financial position of the Group remains strong. As at 31
December 2022, the Group had net current assets, cash
and bank balances and equity attributable to owners of
the Company amounted to approximately HK$70.2 million,
HK$106.5 million and HK$111.6 million.

In 2022, despite the fact that our business model remained
subject to adverse impact of COVID-19, the Directors
continued advancing the business plans that have been
implemented for the two businesses in 2022 in order to
facilitate organic growth of the Company in 2022.
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During the COVID-19 in 2022, we intended to diversify risks
by expanding new businesses, especially the cultural tourism
segment and finance segment.

Cultural tourism segment:

We established cooperation with Beiwen Times (Beijing)
Culture Limited* Jt Rt XE R X/ B R A F]) (‘Beiwen
Times”) in March 2022. Beiwen Times is a cultural industry
content operator, and principally engaged in the investment
and operation of film and television cultural industry parks
and the operation of urban cultural consumption complexes.
We have established strategic cooperation with Beiwen Times
in the digital cultural industry, leading to an industrial alliance.
Both sides agreed to share resources and complementary
advantages for mutual benefits by leveraging their respective
expertise, resources and advantages, and initiate deep
cooperation in sub-fields of the digital cultural industry in
which Beiwen Times operates.

As the exclusive design service provider of Beiwen Times,
we will provide Beiwen Times design services, including
architectural design, industrial design, landscape design,
graphic design, display design and creative planning, and
innovative services including “Design + Culture”, “Design +
Industry” and “Design + Metaverse”. We hope to create more
development opportunities for our original design segment by
entering the cultural tourism industry.

Finance segment:

We completed the acquisition of equity interests in the
following companies in March 2022: State Venture Investment
(HK) Holdings Limited (B#% (&%) A R 2 7l), which
held 51% shares of Qingdao Guotou Dingcheng Asset
Management Company Limited* (B 8B SR EEEES
R A 7)) (“Qingdao Guotuo”), a company associated with a
state-owned enterprise at Qingdao Municipal level, which is
specialised in assisting enterprises in Shandong Province in
mergers and acquisitions, restructuring, overseas listing and
financing and plans to develop distressed asset management
and principal investment in the PRC.
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Chairman’s Statement

FEHRES

We acquired Radiant Assets Management Limited (& & &
EEHRAA) (“Radiant Assets”) in March 2022. Through
Radiant Assets, the Group may get the opportunities to
cooperate and form strategic partnerships with China Great
Wall AMC (International) Limited (“China Great Wall”), One
Belt One Road Financial Limited (—#& — &£ & A R 2 7)) and
GCL-Poly Energy Holdings Limited, which is beneficial to the
Company’s adoption of PIPE plus PE model in forming funds
and promoting investments. The Group intended to invest in
distressed assets by using strategies adopted by investment
banks and financial institutions and explored its business
opportunities in the management and investment of non-
performing assets.

In addition, we acquired State Innovation (Zhuhai) Investment
Co., Ltd.* GERE (28 ) £ & BR A 7)), with the intention
to integrate the company into the Group’s private equity fund
management platform in the PRC to develop private equity
fund-related business.

In terms of improving the overall operational efficiency of
the Group, we proceeded with introducing cloud services in
September 2022 in order to support our electronics business
and building design business. In our opinion, we could benefit
from the cloud service as follows:

° Management enhancement: As we operate our
electronics segment business in the PRC, HKSAR and
Taiwan region, the dedicated cloud service platform
would greatly enhance our management efficiency and
response speed;

° Online sales: As the electronics segment needs
to improve its online sales platform, cloud service
products would benefit the segment by expanding
the market, broadening the customer base, and
diversifying the sales channels, thus reducing operating
costs;

° Easier development: Cloud service products such as
computing resources and development tools would
enable development teams in the electronics segment
to build, test and deploy new products more efficiently
and respond to market demands more quickly, thereby
maintaining a competitive edge.

China United Venture Investment Limited I E£HSREGRE A T
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° Analysis and forecast: Cloud storage, cloud service
and artificial intelligence could empower analysis
on production data, sales data, market trends and
other data, allowing the electronics segment to better
understand market demand, forecast sales trends and
make more informed and effective decisions based on
such information.

° Less expenditures: Capital expenditures would be
reduced since there would be no need to purchase
expensive hardware for the purchased cloud service if
we rent infrastructure from the cloud service provider.

° Disaster resistance: Cloud service could enhance
security and disaster tolerance of information and
resist disasters and accidents so that data and
applications could be restored quickly in case of
accidents, thus ensuring the continuity of business
would not be affected.

Looking forward, the Directors remain confident and
optimistic about the Group’s performance in the coming year
in the face of the challenging and volatile market environment.
| would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere
gratitude to all our customers, suppliers, business partners,
employees and shareholders for their valuable support for
the Group. | will lead the team to continue to work hard. The
Group will forge ahead to maximise returns for shareholders.

Mr. Wang Li Feng
CHAIRMAN

31 March 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEEWLR DT

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in electronic business
and architectural design business. The development of the
Group’s financial services business is at an initial stage. In the
electronic business, the Group designs, manufactures and
sells connectivity products mainly for computers, computer
peripheral products, mobile phones peripheral products,
multi-media consumable electronic products, communication
products, automobile electronics accessories, wire harness
and medical equipment (the “Electronics Business”). In
the architectural design business, the Group focuses on
master-planning work, general design work and architectural
schematic design work (the “Architectural Design
Business”). In the financial services business, the Group
aims at providing full range of financial services, including
but not limited to fund issuance, asset management,
distressed asset management and insurance brokerage, etc.
in Hong Kong and the PRC and intends to develop cross-
border venture investment and fund management business
with a view to promoting electronics-related science park,
intellectual properties rights and related advanced technology
in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area (the
“Financial Services Business”).

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue
The Electronics Business

During the year ended 31 December 2022, this business
segment contributed revenue of approximately HK$272.6
million to the Group (2021: HK$317.2 million), representing
a decrease of approximately 14.1% as compared with year
ended 31 December 2021. Although this business segment
continues to benefit from the recovery of the global economy,
the increased distribution channels for our products and the
effective strategies implemented by our Directors to increase
our sales order and revenue continuously, uneven and
uncertain adverse impact due to COVID-19 on the consumer
demand for electronic products globally offset the increase.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Architectural Design Business

The outbreak of COVID-19 continued to affect the
development of the design business of the Group. With the
PRC real estates market being affected by the aftermath
of COVID-19 pandemic, this business segment contributed
revenue of approximately HK$8.3 million during the Year
(PY2021: approximately HK$22.0 million), representing a
decrease of approximately 62.3% as compared with PY2021.
On top of an observed slow recovery from COVID-19, this
segment is also affected by the crises experienced by its
customers’, the China real estate developers’, high debt level
and liquidity issues. The Directors are monitoring the issues
closely and remaining cautiously optimistic to the results of
the Architectural Design Business in the future.

The Financial Services Business

This segment commenced in 2022 and was still at a start-up
stage and mainly involved in mergers and acquisitions. During
the year ended 31 December 2022, this segment generated
HK$7.0 million during the year ended 31 December 2022,
The segment recorded an operating profit of HK$1.2 million.

Turnover

The Group recorded a total turnover of approximately
HK$287.9 million for the Year (PY2021: approximately
HK$339.3 million), representing a decrease of approximately
15.1% as compared with PY2021.

Gross profit

The Group recorded a gross profit of approximately HK$34.2
million for the Year, representing an increase of approximately
62.9% as compared to approximately HK$21.0 million
for PY2021. This was mainly attributable to the improve
in global supply chain disruption and dropping in raw
material prices for our Electronics Business. The gross profit
margin increased from approximately 6.2% for PY2021 to
approximately 11.9% for the Year.
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Other income

The Group earned other income of approximately HK$6.1
million during the Year (PY2021: approximately HK$4.7
million. There was a slight increase in rental income received
for the Year as compared to PY2021.

Other gains and losses

On 16 June 2021, the Group entered into an agreement with
Shenzhen Hengguan, an independent third party, the entire
equity interest of DAL at a consideration of RMB101,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$122,210,000). The Group
obtained its shareholders’ approval on 20 October 2021 via
a resolution at a special general meeting. Accordingly, a gain
on the said disposal transaction of approximately HK$90.0
million was recorded in other gains and losses for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

During the Year, the other losses consist primarily of
exchange loss incurred as USD appreciates.

Saved as disclosed above, there were no other material
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures during the Year.

Finance costs

During the Year, as the Group raised new borrowings for
working capital, the Group recorded interest expenses of
approximately HK$3.9 million (PY2021: HK$1.9 million). The
remaining finance costs represent the interest expense on
lease liabilities incurred and an increase was noted during the
year ended 31 December 2022 as a result of the full year
effect of the new right-of-use assets recognised following the
completion of the above transaction in 2021 and increased in
bank and other borrowings.

Selling and distribution expenses

The selling and distribution expenses were approximately
HK$8.0 million for the Year (PY2021: approximately HK$8.5
million), decreased by 5.7%, which was mainly attributable
to the expenses incurred for operating the online stores and
additional marketing efforts used to boost sales.
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Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses were approximately HK$75.1
million for the Year (PY2021: approximately HK$67.9 million,
representing an increase of approximately 10.6%. The
increase was mainly due to (i) an increase in rental expenses
for our production facility in Mainland China; (i) increase in
staff salary and benefits for the Architectural Design business;
(iii) staff costs and legal and professional costs incurred for
the commencement of the Company’s new Financial Services
Business; and (iv) procurement of the cloud services to
improve the overall operational efficiency of the Group.

Significant Investment

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group has
acquired certain unlisted investments and list securities
for capital appreciation and cash inflows purposes. These
investments and securities are assessed by independent
valuer for fair value as at 31 December 2022 after taking into
considerations of, among others, probability of default of
substantial loan receivables. The gain or loss arises from the
fair value adjustments will be recorded in the consolidated
statement of profit and loss. For details please refer to Note
22 of the consolidated financial statements.

On 4 March 2022, the Group acquired State Venture
Investment (HK) Holdings Limited (B3% (&8 ) %A A R 2 7)),
which held 51% shares of Qingdao Guotou Dingcheng Asset
Management Company Limited* (B8BTS KNEEEE A
R A7) (“Qingdao Guotuo, FBE1R"). At acquisition, the
Group recognised intangible assets of & & H%’s customer
relationship and goodwill based on an independent valuation
of the fair value of the assets of & &El#&. For details,
please refer to Notes 23 and 24 of the consolidated financial
statements.

Pursuant to the exclusive strategic cooperation agreement
with b XX B (IE ) XL BBR A F) (Beiwen Times (Beijing)
Culture Limited) (“Beiwen Times”), as disclosed in the
Company’s announcement dated 4 March 2022, and other
business objectives such as establishment of e-commerce
platform, the Group advanced certain loan receivables to
independent third parties for interests income. For details,
please refer to Notes 25 and 27 of the consolidated financial
statements.

Income tax expenses

The Group recorded an income tax expenses of
approximately HK$0.2 million for the Year (PY2021: HK$3.1
million).
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Net (loss)/profit attributable to owners of the Company

The Group reported a net loss attributable to owners of the
Company for the Year of approximately HK$61.9 million
(PY2021: net profit of approximately HK$50.0 million),
decreased by approximately 2.2 times. This was mainly
attributable to one-off gain on disposal in 2021.

Earnings/loss per share

The basic and diluted losses per share for the Year was
approximately HK$8.79 cents (PY2021: basic and diluted
earnings per share approximately HK$7.10 cents).

Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s net current assets,
cash and bank balances and equity attributable to owners of
the Company amounted to approximately HK$70.2 million,
HK$106.5 million and HK$111.6 million (2021: approximately
HK$116.3 million, HK$84.1 million and HK$173.1 million)
respectively. The current ratio of the Group as at 31
December 2022, expressed as current assets over current
liabilities, was maintained at the level of approximately 1.39
(2021: approximately 1.52).

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s gearing ratio was
approximately 1.78, increased from the gearing ratio of
approximately 1.41 as at 31 December 2021. The gearing
ratio is derived by dividing total liabilities (including but not
limited to interest-bearing borrowings, trade payables and
other payables and accruals) by total capital (including but
not limited to equity attributable to owners of the parent
company) at the end of the respective years.

Debts and Charge on Assets

During the Year, the Group raised new borrowings, in the
form of bank loans and unsecured borrowings for working
capital replenishment. As at 31 December 2022, the
outstanding amount was approximately HK$80.2 million. The
Group pledged certain property and plant in the PRC held
for use in the production and supply of goods, to secure the
bank loans granted to the Group. Save as disclosed above,
as at 31 December 2022, no other assets of the Group were
charged. The Group had no interest-bearing debt nor any
asset pledged as at 31 December 2021.
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Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital Assets

The Directors currently do not have any future plans for
material investments or capital assets and will continue to
monitor the industry and review its business expansion plans
regularly, so as to take necessary measures in the Group’s
interests.

Capital Expenditures and Capital Commitments

The Group did not have material capital expenditures and
commitments as at 31 December 2022.

Foreign Exchange Risk

During the Year, most of the Group’s business transactions
were conducted in US dollars, Hong Kong dollars and
Renminbi. Review of the Group’s exposure to foreign
exchange risks is conducted periodically. The Group
expected that the exposure to exchange rate fluctuation was
not significant and therefore did not engage in any hedging
activity during the Year.

Capital Structure

The Company did not run any capital exercise during the
Year.

THE MANAGEMENT POSITION, VIEW AND
ASSESSMENT ON DELAY IN PUBLICATION

OF THE RESULTS ANNOUNCEMENT FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 AND ANNUAL
REPORT 2022 AND ACTIONS TO BE TAKEN BY
THE GROUP

The following sets out the management’s position, view
and assessment on the delay in publication of the results
announcement for the year ended 31 December 2022 and
annual report 2022 and where appropriate, actions to be
taken by the Group to address issues identified and caused
the delay:

On 3 April 2023, trading in the shares of the Company on
the Stock Exchange was suspended at the request of the
Company, as the Directors expected the publication of the
audited annual results announcement of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2022 (the “FY2022 Results”) and
the Annual Report 2022 of the Group would be delayed.
The delay was mainly caused by certain unresolved issues in
respect of audit of the FY2022 Results by the Auditor.
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After discussion within the Board and seeking guidance from
the Stock Exchange, the Company established a Review
Committee for the purpose of reviewing and reporting on
the matters and issues leading to and/or otherwise relating
to the suspension of trade of the Company identified by the
Auditors. The Company further conducted an independent
investigation into the audit issues, the findings, impacts on
the Company’s business operation and financial position and
the remedial actions taken by the Company. All of these had
been disclosed in the announcement dated 2 April 2024.

The Review Committee considered the procedures carried out
by the Investigation Firm during the independent investigation
and the limitations encountered by the Investigation Firm in
its Investigations. After considering the Investigation report,
the Review Committee took the view that the scope of the
Investigation was adequate and adequately addressed the
audit issues. The Directors further adopted the findings as
set out in the investigation report and instructed the finance
department to recognise the transactions under investigation
into different assets and liabilities on the statement of financial
positions according to the accounting policies of the Group,
applying the facts and circumstances as observed by the
independent investigators.

Having considered the findings of the Investigation report,
the Review Committee, the Audit Committee and the
Board admitted the deficiencies in the Group’s corporate
governance and internal control system and accepted all of
the recommendations. Accordingly, they implemented all of
the enhancement measures to the existing internal controls
as follows:

o Revising the terms of reference of Board Committees
to revise the delegation of authorities, tightening the
procedures around approving of investments, loan
advancement, first-time service engagement and
payments;

° Setting out new policies and procedures including
but not limited to payment, sales and procurement,
contract signing;

o Adopting the principle of “authorization first,
transaction later”, and restricting all ratification/post-
approval of transaction.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

° Enhancing training and education to the Directors;

o Establishing new department to handle and coordinate
the Board affairs (including supervisory and reporting),
compliance (including but not limited to listing rules),
legal and company secretarial affairs;

° Enhancing procedures surrounding the use of external
professionals and experts, appropriate and sufficient

due diligence for proposed transactions, investment
valuations, and legal review and analysis;

° Enhancing the document retention and record keeping
control mechanism

° Strengthening the declaration of interests control

mechanism

After reviewing the implementation progress, the Review
Committee, the Audit Committee and the Board considered
that the Company had in place adequate and reliable
corporate governance, internal control and financial reporting
systems and procedures to fulfil its obligations under the
GEM Listing Rules again.

The Company would continue to monitor the effectiveness
of the Group’s corporate governance and internal control
systems and procedures so as to meet its obligations under
the GEM Listing Rules and ensure reasonable and adequate
corporate governance and internal control policies and
procedures were in place.
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OUTLOOK
The Electronics Business

The supply chain disruption and inflation of raw material
prices resulting from the Covid-19 pandemic has negatively
impacted the bottom line of the Electronics Business and
restricting the execution and implementation of various plans
and visions, including the geographical diversification of
our production lines and supply chains. The Directors will
continue to maintain close communication with customers
and suppliers in order to sustain the overall profitability of
the Electronics Business. In the meantime, the Directors may
also venture on the expansion and commencement of the
multi-faceted initiatives should the macro-economy condition
stabilised and opportunities materialise.

The Financial Services Business

Subsequent to the Year just ended, the Directors have kicked
off, the plan to diversify into the financial services industry. In
the first quarter of 2022, for the purpose of harnessing the
Group’s competitive advantage and diversifying its business
into the financial services industry, the Directors have invited
new members to the Board to spearhead the development
of a new financial services business. Mr. Huang Bin, Mr. Wu
Le Bin and Mr. Ni Xian have joined the Board, all of whom
are experienced finance professionals in asset management,
fund management, corporate advisory, private equities and
venture capital investments. In addition, as disclosed in the
Company’s business update announcement dated 4 March
2022, the Company has acquired from Mr. Huang Bin (i) the
entire issued share capital of State Venture Capital Limited (37
FEF R E ARG A ] and (i) 70% of the issued share capital
of State Innovation Capital Limited (FTERERIE KGR A
7)) at nominal consideration, which marked the start of the
Financial Services Business.
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The Group intends to develop the Financial Services Business
through organic growth over acquisitions with a view to
provide full range of financial services, including but not
limited to fund issuance, asset management, distressed
asset management and insurance brokerage, etc. in Hong
Kong and the PRC. The Group intends to, develop cross-
border venture investment and fund management business
with a view to promoting electronics-related science park,
intellectual properties rights and related advanced technology
in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area. The
Group believes that the new Financial Services Business will
provide an additional income source for the Group and the
Group will benefit from the diversified return in future.

In the upcoming year 2023, the Directors will continue the
Group’s a multi-faceted plan to increase the shareholders’
value and re-invest the available resources to maximise asset
utilisation and value and merger and acquisition activities and
strategic partnerships.

The Architectural Design Business

With our brilliant design products and strong marketing
channels in the PRC, the Group is in the process of
strengthening our new services, a living aesthetic consulting
service which combined interior design-based services and
sales of electronic interior accessories under our own brand
name. During the Year, we have continued the collaboration
of the Architectural Design Business and the Electronics
Business, initial research and development on the design and
production process of the electronic accessories.

Riding on the trend of “Internet plus cultural creativity”, the
Group targets to offer a thorough one-stop integrated design
services by enhancing the Internet interactive platform with
users.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Receiving of Financial Assistance

On 4 April 2022, Goldstone Investment Management
Limited, as the lender (the “Lender”), entered into two loan
agreements (the “First Loan Agreement” and the “Second
Loan Agreement’, collectively, the “Loan Agreements”)
with State Venture Capital Limited (FEBRKEREGRE QA
A)) as the first borrower (the “First Borrower”) and State
Innovation Capital Limited FTEERIEARBR AR as the
second borrower (the “Second Borrower”, collectively, the
“Borrowers” or each the “Borrower”), respectively. Each of
the Borrowers is a subsidiary of the Company.
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The principal terms of the Loan Agreements are summarised
as follows:

Date 4 April 2022

Lender Goldstone Investment Management
Limited

Borrowers The First Loan Agreement: State

Venture Capital Limited

The Second Loan Agreement: State
Innovation Capital Limited
Loan amount The First Loan Agreement:
HK$60,000,000

The Second Loan Agreement:
HK$18,000,000
Term of the loans One year, commencing from the date
of the Loan Agreements

Maturity date 3 April 2023 (the “Maturity Date”)

Interest rate 2% per annum

Guarantee

On 4 April 2022, the Company executed a deed of guarantee
with the Lender, pursuant to which the Company shall
provide a corporate guarantee in favour of the Lender for the
Borrowers’ liabilities under the Loan Agreements.

The terms and conditions of the Loan Agreements are
negotiated between the Lender and the Borrowers on an
arm’s length basis and are on normal commercial terms.
The Board consider that the terms of the Loan Agreements
are fair and reasonable and the entering into of the Loan
Agreements is in the best interest of the Company and the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Loan Agreements constitute receiving of financial
assistance under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. As
the Borrowers entered into the Loan Agreements with a
connected person of the Company, pursuant to which (i)
the Loan Agreements are conducted on normal commercial
terms; and (i) the Loan Agreements are not secured by
the assets of the Company, the Loan Agreements are fully
exempt from shareholders’ approval, annual review and all
disclosure requirements under Rule 20.88 of the GEM Listing
Rules.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Acquisition of subsidiaries

On 4 March 2022, the Company acquired the entire issued
share capital of State Venture Capital Limited (“State
Venture”) and 70% of the issued share capital of State
Innovation Capital Limited (“State Innovation”) from
China United Resources Group Limited (“China United
Resources”) each at a nominal consideration.

State Venture is an investment holding company incorporated
in Hong Kong with limited liability on 6 July 2017. Prior to
the acquisition, State Venture was directly wholly-owned by
China United Resources. China United Resources was (i)
60% beneficially owned by Mr. Huang Bin, the non-executive
director of the Company; and (ii) 40% beneficially owned by
CITIC International Assets Management Limited.

State Innovation is an investment holding company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability on 8 June
2015. Prior to the acquisition, State Innovation was (i) 70%
directly held by China United Resources; and (ii) 30% directly
held by CAS International Investment Holdings Co., Ltd.
which was in turn (a) 36% beneficially owned by B &I &l
Bl B AR E (XA F which was beneficially owned by
Chinese Academy of Sciences; (b) 34% beneficially owned by
China Science International Investment Co. Ltd.; and (c) 30%
beneficially owned by CR Capital GP Joint Venture Limited.

As State Venture and State Innovation was controlled by
China United Resources which was ultimately controlled by
Mr. Huang Bin, the non-executive director of the Company,
the acquisition constitutes a connected transaction of the
Company under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. As the
highest applicable percentage ratio is less than 0.1%, each of
the acquisitions is fully exempt under Rule 20.74 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

For details of the acquisitions, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 4 March 2022.

Tenancy agreement

On 11 May 2022, the Company as tenant entered into a
tenancy agreement (the “Tenancy Agreement”) with China
State Ventures Group Limited (“China State Ventures”) as
landlord for a term of thirty-three (33) months from 11 May
2022 to 28 February 2025 at a monthly rent of HK$100,000
for the lease of its head office and principal place of business
in Hong Kong at Room 1801-1802, 18/F, Bank of America
Tower, No. 12 Harcourt Road, Central, Hong Kong.
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EEEWLR DN

China State Ventures is a company incorporated in Hong
Kong and is ultimately controlled by Mr. Huang Bin, a non-
executive director of the Company. As such the entering
into of the Tenancy Agreement constitutes a connected
transaction and an acquisition of the right-of-use asset by
the Company under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.
As all the applicable percentage ratios are less than 5%, the
transaction is exempt from the circular (including independent
financial advice) and shareholders’ approval requirements
under Rule 20.74 of the GEM Listing Rules.

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME

Subsequent to the passing of the special resolution approving
the change of Company name by the shareholders of the
Company at the special general meeting of the Company
held on 29 March 2022 and the Certificate of Change of
Name and the Certificate of Secondary Name were issued
by the Registrar of Companies in Bermuda on 11 April
2022, the English name of the Company has been changed
from “GLORY MARK HI-TECH (HOLDINGS) LIMITED” to
“China United Venture Investment Limited” and “H £
SR EAR AT has been adopted as the secondary name
of the Company to replace “BERIE (ER)BRAF". The
Certificate of Registration of Alteration of Name of Registered
Non-Hong Kong Company was issued by the Registrar of
Companies in Hong Kong on 28 April 2022 confirming the
registration of the new name of the Company in Hong Kong
under Part XVI of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622
of the Laws of Hong Kong). The stock short name of the
Company will be changed from “GLORY MARK” in English
and “¥EER " in Chinese to “CU VENTURE INV” in English
and “BTEKSIRE" in Chinese, for trading in the Shares
on the Stock Exchange with effect from 9:00 a.m. on 13
May 2022. The stock code of the Company on the Stock
Exchange will remain unchanged as “8159”. Details of the
change of name of the Company were set out in the circular
of the Company dated 9 March 2022 and the announcements
of the Company dated 28 February 2022, 21 March 2022, 29
March 2022 and 6 May 2022, respectively.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 24 March 2023, the Company as vendor and Shen Chen,
an independent third party of the Company, as purchaser
have entered into an equity transfer agreement, pursuant
to which the Company has agreed to dispose of 100% of
the issued capital of Radiant Assets Management Limited
at a consideration of HK$1. The disposal was subsequently
completed on 14 June 2023. As the relevant applicable
percentage ratios (as defined under Rule 19.07 of the GEM
Listing Rules) in respect of the disposal are less than 5%, the
disposal is exempt from the reporting, announcement and
shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 19 of the
GEM Listing Rules.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

DIRECTORS
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wang Li Feng (“Mr. Wang”), aged 59, was appointed
and has been an executive Director of the Group since 15
September 2016. Mr. Wang is the vice chairman of the Board,
the chairman of the executive committee and the strategy
and development committee, a member of the remuneration
committee and the nomination committee and also a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Company. He obtained a master
degree in architecture from Royal Melbourne Institute of
Technology in November 1991. Mr. Wang is also a director
of PT Design, the controlling shareholder of the Company.
He worked as the chief representative for Peddle Thorp
Architects Melbourne Asia Shenzhen Office (2 X Fl 35 115 £
MARERITBRABREYNEKE) from February 1998 to
January 2003. He has been the executive director of Peddle
Thorp Consultants (Shenzhen) Co. Ltd (fH&E:%:8 CGRII) AR
/A A]) since January 2003 and has been the chairman of PT
Architecture Design (Shenzhen) Company Limited (1757225
&5t OFII) BBR A &) since March 2009.

Mr. Fan Xiaoling (“Mr. Fan”), aged 37, was appointed as
an executive Director on 5 December 2019. He is a member
of the executive committee and also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company’s electronics business.

Mr. Fan has over 14 years of experience in the electronics
industry. He has strong abilities of supply chain strategy,
sales and operation planning, demand planning, forecasting
development, quality management, logistics management
and project management. He has extensive and successful
experiences in North America, South East Asia, Finland,
Germany, Brazil, Mexico, and United Kingdom market. He
is the director of supply chain management of LTL Group,
LLC., where he is mainly responsible for the supply chain
management of semi-conductors and electronic products.

Mr. Fan obtained a Bachelor of Finance degree from East
China Jiaotong University, China in June 2008.
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Mr. Ni Xian (“Mr. Ni”), aged 36, was appointed as an
executive Director on 4 March 2022.

Mr. Ni graduated from Northwest University of Political
Science and Law (781t EU%E K28 with a bachelor’s degree in
legal English in 2008. He subsequently obtained a master’s
degree in Law from the Law School of Huagiao University (Z
fEAE) in 2011.

Mr. Ni has assisted companies in making public offerings and
seeking listing on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and
has accumulated working experience in a number of well-
known financial advisory companies. He passed the National
Judicial Examination in the PRC, the Test for English Majors —
Band 8, and the Fund Qualification Examination. He has the
experience in corporate investment and financing, corporate
governance and financial management.

Mr. Ni acted as the President Assistant of Pa Shun
International Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 574), where he
was responsible for making assessments on acquisitions and
investment projects, conducting due diligence investigations
on finance, business and legal issues, assisting in completing
the IPO of Pa Shun International Holdings Limited in June
2015, assisting in monitoring the progress of projects and
financial position of projects, and assisting the Chief Executive
Officer in developing the long-medium term development
strategies and dealing with the relationships with investors.

From 31 December 2020 to 4 December 2021, Mr. Ni was an
executive director of Lamtex Holdings Limited (in liquidation)
(a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 1041).
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Huang Bin (“Mr. Huang”), aged 57, was appointed as
non-executive Director and the chairman of the Board on 20
February 2022. Mr. Huang is the chairman of the nomination
committee of the Company.

Mr. Huang is currently a director of CITIC International
Assets Management Limited (F BB EEEE AR A
7)) and a non-executive director and co-chairman of China
New Economy Fund Limited (FEFEEREBR AR (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 80), respectively. He also has extensive
professional experience in fund and asset management
as well as investment banking and direct investments. Mr.
Huang committed to contributing in China for years, including
development in cross-border energy, resource mergers and
acquisitions, and promoting energy output and international
engineering. Mr. Huang previously joined CITIC Securities
(R {£# %) and established CITIC Merchant Enterprise
Management Limited (BB EE B R A F]), which is
driven by specific projects and supported by market-oriented
operation to identify a unique business model that integrates
investment businesses with comprehensive financing
services, thereby providing international corporate clients with
comprehensive solutions.

After years of experience in working abroad and as a visiting
scholar, such as Crédit Agricole Corporate and Investment
Bank in France, Yaxin Finance in Hong Kong and subsidiaries
of Scoita Capital in Canada, Mr. Huang joined the Chinese
General Chamber of Commerce (BT EEEF L) and
initiated the formation of Guangdong-Hongkong-Macao Bay
Area Entrepreneurs Union (BB XEEPEREEE). He is
the executive vice chairman of the Union and in charge of
technology and financial sector as well. Mr. Huang graduated
from Harbin Engineering University, and subsequently
received the training from the European Economic Community
Visiting Scholars Program and the business management
training from Northwestern University in the United States.

From 19 March 2020 to 2 December 2021, Mr. Huang was a
non-executive director and the chairman of Lamtex Holdings
Limited (FRiEFERZ B BR A7) (in liquidation) (@ company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1041).
From 3 September 2019 to 16 October 2020, Mr. Huang was
an executive director of GTI Holdings Limited (X Z £ B AR

A 8] (in liquidation) (a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 3344).
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Yan Ka Shing (“Dr. Yan”), aged 37, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director of the Group since
5 December 2019. Dr. Yan is the chairman of the audit
committee and the remuneration committee, and a member
of the strategy and development committee, the executive
committee and the nomination committee, where he is
primarily responsible for providing independent advice to the
Board.

Dr. Yan has nearly 11 years of experience in the medical
industry and has been employed by the Hospital Authority
since July 2011. He completed his housemanship in the
Hospital Authority from July 2011 to June 2012. He then
became a registered doctor and has served as a medical
officer in various hospitals managed by the Hospital Authority
in Hong Kong, since July 2012.

Dr. Yan obtained his Bachelor of Medicine and Bachelor
of Surgery (MBBS) degree from the University of Hong
Kong in November 2011, the Membership of the Royal
Colleges of Physicians of the United Kingdom (MRCP (UK)),
a postgraduate medical diploma in the United Kingdom, in
March 2016, and the Postgraduate Diploma in Infectious
Diseases from the University of Hong Kong (PDipID (HK))
in October 2019. He was admitted as a member of the
Hong Kong College of Physicians in January 2017, then
became Fellow and Specialist in Endocrinology, Diabetes
and Metabolism, and has held fellowships from the Hong
Kong College of Physicians and the Hong Kong Academy of
Medicine (Medicine), since September 2020 and December
2020, respectively. Also, he has been a member of the Hong
Kong Medical Association since July 2011.

Dr. Yan was appointed as an independent non-executive
director, the chairman of nomination committee, a member of
the audit committee and remuneration committee of Victory
Securities (Holdings) Company Limited (stock code: 8540.
HK), since 14 June 2018.

Dr. Yan was appointed as an independent non-executive
director, the member of the audit committee, the nomination
committee and the remuneration committee of Comtec Solar
Systems Group Limited (stock code: 712), since 1 July 2021.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Wu Lebin (“Mr. Wu”), aged 61, was appointed as
independent non-executive Director on 20 February 2022.

Mr. Wu obtained his bachelor’s degree in medicine, a master’s
degree in science (life science) and completed an EMBA
study program.

Mr. Wu is the chairman of the board of director of CAS
Venture Capital Investment Management Co., Ltd. (7 &l Bz &l
¥R EEIEHPR AT, the chairman of the board of director
of Hui Xin Fund Management Company Limited (B E &%
B AR A7), the chairman of the board of director of New
Journey Hospital Group (¥ £ 2 8 f7 & &), the chairman and
an executive director of Biosino Bio-technology And Science
Incorporation* (F AL EW R KD ER A F]) (@ company
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 8247),
a researcher of Institute of Biophysics, Chinese Academy
of Sciences, a vice president of China Entrepreneur Club.
He was the chairman of the board of director of Chinese
Academy of Sciences Holdings Co, Ltd. (fF BRI 12 % A R
A A]), a committee officer of National Planning Committee (X
KT 3l% 8 €), National Economic and Trade Commission (&
RLEEEK), Technology for Boosting Economy Commission of
Chinese Academy of Sciences. Mr. Wu was a non-executive
director of Legend Holdings Corporation (a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 3396)
during September 2014 to June 2021.

Mr. Wu committed to technology management for years,
and he have been focusing on researching of transformation
of major scientific and technological achievements. Mr. Wu
participated in the research and development of National
Basic Research Climbing Project (B8 5% £ 5% #ff 70 2 & 5t 2,
former Programme 973). He also participated in development
of National Marine Advanced Technology Development
Program and the research of development strategy of Chinese
Academy of Sciences. Mr. Wu is the author of books about
technology management, for example, Two Dynamics Theory
of Human Social Development (A Bt & 3 E — 8) H i),
and R&D and the Driving Force of Enterprises — Technology
R&D and Case Studies of Famous Enterprises in China and
Overseas (R&ADEDPEFE) ] - FIIZZ D ERBIFER
Z 7 2 #7), and he also published dozens of related papers
and articles. Mr. Wu was entitled to subsides from Chinese
government for his outstanding contribution in science,
technology and management as an expert in such areas.
He was also awarded the Second Prize of Progress of
Technology from Chinese Academy of Sciences and other
prizes. He is also the person in charge of the highlight project
of the 863 program, “Biomedical Key Reagent” (£ %1% £
#2 5L H) of the Eleventh Five-Year Plan of China.
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Mr. Wu has experiences in operation and investment for
several technology companies. Mr. Wu proposed the
innovative development strategy for companies, which is the
three-chain linkages comprising “innovation chain, industrial
chain and capital chain” when he worked in Chinese Academy
of Sciences Holdings Co, Ltd. As a result, the assets
of aforesaid company increased by more than RMB100
billion every year, and he organised to invest in companies
on Science and Technology Innovation Board, including
some famous companies, for example, Quantumctek and
Cambricon. Mr. Wu also founded some biopharmaceutical
companies such as Jiangxi Boya Biopharmaceutical Co., Ltd.

Mr. Sui Fuxiang (“Mr. Sui”), aged 49, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director, a member of each
of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Nomination Committee, the Executive Committee and the
Strategy and Development Committee with from 17 August
2022. Mr. Sui has long been engaged in strategic research,
financial investment and business collaboration. He has
studied in a number of universities and has studied in the
international economic and trade environment, especially in
the field of equity investment. He is familiar with the economic
and social conditions of Hong Kong and Macau, and is good
at analysis for macro economy, as well as business models
and cutting-edge technology research. Focusing on new
energy, new infrastructure and specialized and new fields, Mr.
Sui has organized and planned a number of developments
and transactions regarding high-end equipment production,
asset management, supply chain finance and comprehensive
healthcare projects, underpinned by his rich relevant
resources and experience. Since joining CITIC Merchant Co.,
Ltd. in 2019, he has been mainly responsible for internal
coordination within the group, project development and client
liaison. Mr. Sui was a non-executive director of GTI Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 3344) from November 2019 to October 2020.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Lee Jui-lan (“Ms. Lee”), aged 61, is a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company'’s electronics business.

Ms. Lee has over 32 years of experience in the electronics
industry. She has extensive experience in software
development, marketing electronic products and management
of companies in Taiwan. She worked in Intertek Testing
Services Taiwan Ltd., which is principally engaged in testing,
inspecting and certifying electronic products, for more than
10 years with the last position of the general manager of the
electronic business unit principally responsible for the overall
management, which is a subsidiary of Intertek Group PLC, a
company listed in the London Stock Exchange.

Ms. Lee obtained a bachelor of Electronics Engineering
degree from National Taipei University of Technology, Taiwan
in June 1984.

Mr. Tsang Shiao Tung, Joseph (“Mr. Tsang”), was
appointed as the company secretary, an authorised
representative and the process agent of the Company on 14
November 2022.

Mr. Tsang holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the
University of Toronto and a Master of Corporate Governance
degree from The Open University of Hong Kong (currently
known as Hong Kong Metropolitan University). Mr. Tsang
is an associate member of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute
in the United Kingdom. He has extensive experience in the
company secretarial field and the banking field.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2022 (the “Year 2022”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 42 to
the consolidated financial statements for the Year 2022.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the Year 2022 is
set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”,
“Management Discussion and Analysis”, "Corporate
Governance Report” and “Financial Summary” on pages 6 to
9, pages 10 to 22, pages 42 to 61 and page 216 this annual
report.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the Year 2022 and the state of
affairs of the Company and of the Group at that date are set
out in the financial statements on pages 70 to 215.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

During the Year 2022, the Group adopted the following
policies to improve the environmental quality:

° to design and produce connectivity products by taking
into account the possibility of dismantling and recovery
of the components and materials

° to use recycled papers as printing materials whenever
appropriate
° to reduce electricity consumption by switching off any

light and electrical appliances which are not in use

° to choose energy efficiency appliances (with energy
labels showing on prescribed products) with lowest
energy consumption

o to avoid, reduce or control environmental pollution
arising from the Group’s operations and to require
our contractors to adopt and implement similar
environmental measures

° to ensure good management practices by reviewing
them regularly and ensure that they are tuned to the
changing internal and external circumstances

° to comply with all applicable environmental legislation,
standards and regulations
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The Group will put in place additional environmental policies
as and when appropriate or necessary to ensure that its
business operations are conducted in an environmentally
responsible manner.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Board is aware, the Group has complied in
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the business and operation of
the Group.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The largest and the top five suppliers of the Group accounted
for about 7.16% and 26.74%, respectively, of the Group’s
total purchases for the Year 2022.

The largest and the top five customers of the Group
accounted for about 20.53% and 71.75%, respectively, of the
Group’s total turnover for the Year 2022.

At no time during the Year 2022 did a director, an associate
of a director, or a shareholder of the Company (which to
the knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) have an interest in any of the
Group'’s five largest suppliers or customers.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year 2022 are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 70 to 71 of this report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022 as the Board
is expecting an unstable external business environment in the
year 2023.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 216
of this report.

FIXED ASSETS

The Group did not have material capital expenditures and
commitments as at 31 December 2022.

Details of these and other movements during the Year 2022
in the property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out
in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements for the
Year 2022, respectively.
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LIABILITIES

The Group raised new borrowings, in the form of bank loans
and unsecured borrowings for working capital replenishment.
As at 31 December 2022, the outstanding amount was
approximately HK$80.2 million. The Group pledged its
investment properties in Hong Kong and certain properties
and plants in the PRC held for use in the production and
supply of goods, to secure the bank loans granted to the
Group.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the Year 2022 in the share
capital of the Company are set out in Note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements for the Year 2022.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE OF THE COMPANY

The Company’s reserve available for distribution to
shareholders as at 31 December 2022 amounted to HK$Nil.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year 2022 and up to 31 December
2022 were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Wang Li Feng (Vice Chairman)
Mr. Yu Sanlong (resigned on 29 December 2022)

Mr. Fan Xiaoling

Ms. Lee Jui-lan (resigned on 6 May 2022)

Dr. Chen Xiaofeng (appointed on 17 February 2022 and
resigned on 29 December 2022)

Mr. Ni Xian (appointed on 4 March 2022)

Mr. Su Guang (appointed on 1 May 2022 and resigned
on December 2022)

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Huang Bin (Chairman) (Appointed on 20 February 2022)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Sui Fuxiang (appointed on 17 August 2022)

Dr. Fong Chi Wai, Alex (resigned on 17 August 2022)

Dr. Yan Ka Shing

Mr. Wu Lebin (appointed on 20 February 2022)

Mr. Xu Lin (appointed on 4 March 2022 and resigned on
29 December 2022)

Dr. Feng Shen (ceased on 4 March 2022)
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In accordance with Article 84(1) of the Bye-laws of the
Company, at each annual general meeting one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a
multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less than
one-third) shall retire from office by rotation. And, according
to the Corporate Governance Code under Appendix C1 to
the GEM listing Rules (“CG Code”), every Director, including
those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

In accordance with Article 84(2) of the Bye-laws of the
Company, any Director appointed by the Board pursuant to
Article 83(2) shall not be taken into account in determining
which particular Directors or the number of Directors who are
to retire by rotation.

In accordance with Article 83(2) of the Bye-laws of the
Company, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting of
members of the Company after his appointment and be
subject to re-election at such meeting and any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board
shall hold office only until the next following annual general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-
election.

To comply with the above, Mr. Wang, Mr. Fan and Dr. Yan
shall retire from office, and Mr. Ni, Mr. Huang, Mr. Wu and Mr.
Sui shall be subject to re-election, at the forthcoming AGM.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming AGM has a service contract with the
Company not terminable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short position
of the directors and their associates in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company or its associate corporation
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”)), as recorded in the register maintained
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Exchange
pursuant to the required standards of dealings by directors of
listed issuer as referred to the Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of Chapter
5 of the GEM Listing Rules and Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company were as
follows:

EERROREBRO ZEZER AR

RZBZ_Z_F+_A=+—HB BEXRFRE
EELBEGR([RERBEKHM])FE352
77 B 2 B AT AC 8% HARIBGEM LT AR B
FEEE 5 46E5.67IRMM L HITAESHE
IR 52 BT RE AR FE 7 M (5G] EXVER
FTRFEDMBARITRAARNT B AIEL 28
M- RBEARNRBDAELHZBN EFRES
ZHMBARARBSLEEBEZE(ERRES
EBEGROIEXVED) 2k RAEROFHEE
ZHEENORBWT

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company AATEBREEMIEBTZEBR
Number of Percentage of
issued issued share
ordinary capital of
Name of director Capacity shares held the Company
FEE®T MAARDRIIT
EEEB 5% TEKREA BRAEAZBEDE
Mr. Wang (Note 1) Interest in a controlled corporation 355,620,000 (L) 50.51%
FRE (KaFT) R E E
Mr. Wang Beneficial owner 52,595,000 (L) 7.47%
FEAE EmBEE A
Note: st -
L denotes long position L) By E
1. The 355,620,000 shares are held by PT Design Group Holdings 1. F % A [ # 2 E ¥ B BIPT Design Group Holdings
Limited (“PT Design’), which is indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Wang. Limited ( [PT Design] ) 5355,620,0000% i%
/7} °
Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors and B EFXHEEEIN R - —_F+_-_A=+—

chief executive of the Company, nor their associates had any
interests or short positions in any shares or underlying shares
of the Company or any of its associated corporations as at
31 December 2022.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2022, the persons or entities (other than
the Directors and chief executive of the Company) who have
interests or short positions in the Shares and underlying
Shares of the Company which have been disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company, were as follows:
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BB EXVEDE2 KR35 B 2 X B R A A 74
ERARRROEBEARNDFHEEESIAR
ZATHERB(EERARAETETHAER
GN) R AR 7*E?fom%)iiﬁﬁfﬂﬂﬁu5%336%
/,\%T?EZi‘uEﬁﬁﬁﬁuEﬁIﬁﬁ %HZ'S
PiN/N Tﬂxfﬁ&ﬁ?ﬂﬁxfﬁqﬂ??EE%&ELEX/AEZ/\
THEB(ESEARAEEZTHRAERN)
N

Number of  Percentage of
issued issued share
ordinary capital of
Name of shareholder Capacity shares held the Company
e T mERQRS#T
REREH 514 ZRREA RAEAZBEDE
PT Design Beneficial Owner 355,620,000 (L) 50.51%
PT Design BB A
Mr. Pang Kuo-Shi (Note 1) Interest in a controlled corporation 74,403,000 10.57%
FEREL A (Hit1) EEGEEER
Modern Wealth Assets Limited Beneficial owner 74,403,000 10.57%
(Note 1)
Modern Wealth Assets Limited EnEA A
(Krat1)
L denotes long position L) BT
Note Byt
1. Mr. Pang Kuo-Shi is deemed to be interested in the 74,403,000 shares e EEEEAWEAREEBRBELEZ2EHEN

held by Modern Wealth Assets Limited, a company wholly-owned by
Mr. Pang Kuo-Shi.

SHARE OPTIONS

The Company adopted a share option scheme pursuant to
an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholder(s)’) on 13 December 2001.
Such share option scheme expired upon a period of ten
(10) years commencing on the date on which it becomes
unconditional, and no share option was granted thereunder.
The Company has not adopted any new share option scheme
thereafter.

‘A A)Modern Wealth Assets Limitedfr#f A #)
74,403,0008% f& 17 = # 5 #E  ©

B
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year 2022 was the Company or any of
its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the
directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation on his
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The Company considers all of the independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Other than the interests disclosed under the section
headed “Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares
and Underlying Shares” above, no person in the register
of substantial shareholders maintained by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO was disclosed as having
a notifiable interest or short position in the issued share
capital of the Company as at 31 December 2022.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance, to which the Company or
its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of
the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed in this report, during the year ended 31
December 2022, the Group had no transactions which need
to be disclosed as connected transactions in accordance
with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.
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Save as disclosed above, the Directors consider that those
material related party transactions disclosed in Note 32
to the financial statements did not fall under the definition
of “connected transactions” or “continuing connected
transactions” (as the case may be) in Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules which are required to comply with any of
the reporting, announcement or independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under the GEM Listing Rules. The
Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements (if applicable) under Chapter 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

As at 31 December 2022, PT Shenzhen is wholly-owned by
PT Consultants which is in turn owned as to 27.6% by Mr.
Wang, 22.0% by Mr. Kong Lixing (a former executive Director
who resigned on 5 December 2019) and 13.6% by Mr. Zhao
Guo Xing (a former executive Director who resigned on 5
December 2019).

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group’s employees are selected, remunerated
and promoted based on their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are
determined with regard to the Group’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing shareholders of the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING

BUSINESS

Save for the continuing connected transactions and
connected transactions disclosed above, during the Year
2022, the following Director had interests in the following
business which were considered to compete or likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of

EERERBRRRBEFRED 2ES

the Group (other than those business where the Directors
were appointed as directors to represent the interests of the
Company and/or the Group):

Name of Director

Name of entity which were

considered to compete or
likely to compete with
the business of the Group

Description of
competing Business

GNRARZE ==

B EXERGERERINAEXSAEES
FE THEERATHRER
EAEEEGERAEEBRAAEBERNEF
ZEB (BERRZAEREFURKRARARS
HAREES 2 RBRIN) PR ES

Nature of interests

WERBAEEELER
Esps FAREBERGECEREE BRIEFBER EEME
Wang Li Feng PT Consultants Provision of Architectural Directly holding 27.6%
Design Service (other interest in PT Consultants
than technical and and a director
documentation work)
TEE B E A REFEERFRSE (KM E BEREFEREHEN27.6%E

38

PT Shenzhen

mExERY

Shanghai PT Architecture
Design & Consultant Co.,
Ltd (“Shanghai PT”)

EEMERERFEANER
~aE ([ ERmE])

X8 TEERSN)

Provision of Architectural
Design Service (other
than technical and
documentation work)

R ERF RS (K&
AETAERRSN)

Provision of Architectural
Design Service (other
than technical and
documentation work)

RUELEERF RS (K&
MAETAERSN)
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As (i) the above Director is fully aware of his fiduciary duty
to the Group, and will abstain from voting on any matter
where there is or may be a conflict of interest; (ii) the Master-
planning and Architectural Design Business will be first
undertaken by the Group as general design contractor under
the Business Cooperation Agreement, unless otherwise
requested by independent developers; (iii) unless otherwise
requested by independent developers, all master-planning
work shall be first subcontracted to the Group; (iv) the Group
have the first right of refusal on accepting the architectural
schematic design work unless it is specifically requested
by the independent developers that such work shall be
performed by PT Consultants or PT Architectural; and (v) Mr.
Wang has not involved in the day-to-day management and
operation of Shanghai PT, the Group is capable of carrying
its business independently of and at arm’s length from the
businesses of these entities. Save as disclosed above, the
Directors are not aware of any business and interest of the
Directors that competed or might compete with the business
of the Group and any other conflict of interests which any
such person had or might have with the Group during the
Year 2022.

DONATIONS

During the Year 2022, the Group did not make any charitable
and other donations.

SUFFICIENCY PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information available to the Company and to
the knowledge of the Directors, the Company had, up to the
date of this report, maintained the public float required by the
GEM Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance
coverage for the Directors and senior management for the
Year 2022 in respect of legal actions against its Directors and
senior management arising out of corporate activities.
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
and a retirement benefit scheme for all qualifying employees
in Hong Kong and the Taiwan, respectively. The assets of
the schemes are held separately from those of the Group, in
funds under the control of trustees. The Group contributes
5% and 6% of relevant payroll costs to the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme and the defined contribution
retirement benefit scheme respectively, which contribution is
matched by employees. For contribution to the Mandatory
Provident Fund, the maximum amount is HK$1,500 per
month.

Eligible staff of subsidiaries operating in the PRC currently
participate in a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. The PRC subsidiaries is required to
contribute an amount of 10% on the covered payroll of its
employees to the central pension scheme for the funding
of the retirement benefits. The local municipal government
undertakes to assume the retirement benefit obligations of
the eligible employees of the PRC subsidiaries.

The Group’s contributions to the abovementioned defined
contribution schemes vest fully and immediately with the
employees. Accordingly, (i) for each of the two years ended
31 December 2021 and 31 December 2022, there was
no forfeiture of contributions under the abovementioned
defined contribution schemes; and (ii) there were no forfeited
contributions available for the Group to reduce its existing
level of contributions to the abovementioned defined
contribution schemes as at 31 December 2021 and 31
December 2022.

For each of the two years ended 31 December 2021 and 31

December 2022, the Group did not have any defined benefit
plan.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed herein, no equity-linked agreements were
entered into during the year or subsisted at the end of the
Year 2022.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2018 were audited by Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu, who resigned as the auditor of the
Company on 26 November 2019.

BDO Limited (“BDO”) was appointed as the auditor of the
Company on 26 November 2019. The consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the years ended 31 December
2019 and 31 December 2020 were audited by BDO.

BDO resigned as the auditor of the Company on 3 December
2021. Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited (formerly
known as UniTax Prism (HK) CPA Limited) has been
appointed as the auditor of the Company with effect from 6
December 2021.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2022
were audited by Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited
(formerly known as UniTax Prism (HK) CPA Limited). A
resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM of the
Company to re-appoint Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai
Limited (formerly known as UniTax Prism (HK) CPA Limited)
as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Mr. Wang Li Feng
CHAIRMAN

31 March 2024
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The board of directors (the “Board”) of China United
Venture Investment Limited (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is committed to maintaining
high standards of corporate governance and believes
that in the achievement of the long term objectives of the
Group, it is utmost importance to conduct the business with
accountability, transparency and fairness.

As of 31 December 2022, the Board with the assistance
of the company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) and the external legal adviser, continues
to monitor and review the corporate governance (“CG”)
practices of the Group to be in line with the code provisions
of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set
out in Appendix C1 (previously Appendix 15) to the GEM
Listing Rules on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) with effect from 1 January 2022 (the
“2022 CG Code”) and shall conduct the review of the current
CG practices in accordance with 2022 CG Code and make
necessary changes when appropriate.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company has
complied with the code provisions of the CG Code to the
GEM Listing Rules effective up to 31 December 2022 (‘2022
CG Code”) throughout the year ended 31 December 2022.
The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by directors on terms no less exacting
than the required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.

China United Venture Investment Limited I E£E#HSIREGRE D T

MEBAKREBRAR([FAR] EREN
BrrgEAEEH] ) EFe ([ESg] )}
NRFRABBRENEEE Y HEEERAE
EORPEEFEH UBE EFANIENR
AIREXBTRERER-

BHEe-_Z- -+ -_A=+t—"H BEFLHERK
AR ARINME([RARE]) RINBEEE
BB T FEERREHNAEB 2 XS
BTEEERERATEAR T __F—
A—BERMEBBAERSMBERA A ([
R Fr) ) GEM_ETT 48 BI M &G (AT FBFT 8%15) BT
B EERTH([EEARTA]) 28
X ([ZEB-—FEERTH]) WRE
CECCFEEARTAHBEANGEERE
RETEN TRBERBELILEZE.

TEEBER
B

ARFRAPEIN ARABEREBEZ
T CF+ A=+ BUHEAFEETERE
—E - —F+ - A=+—HHWGEMLTW R A
X¥ERTE([ZE-=FgERTA )2
FAEX -RNARERMREZTETELEIZH
TASFR R FEGEM T 8 Bl §5.48%
S56TIEFTEMR G ERIZERER -



Non-compliance with Rules 5.28 and 5.36A of the GEM
Listing Rules

Following the resignation of Mr. Su Guang, Dr. Chen Xiaofeng,
Mr. Yu Sanlong and Mr. Xu Lin with effect from 29 December
2022 as disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 29 December 2022, the composition of the Board
comprises three executive Directors, one non-executive
Director and three independent non-executive Directors
and hence the number of the members of each of the Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee has fallen below the
minimum number required under Rules 5.28 and 5.36A of the
GEM Listing Rules.

THE BOARD
Board Composition

The Board has a balance of skills and experiences
appropriate for the Company’s business. There is a balance
of both executive and non-executive Directors in the Board
members who bring to the Board with a wide range of
professional experiences in the management, finance and
legal industries, which provide strong support towards the
effective discharge of the duties and responsibilities of the
Board. On 31 December 2022, the Board comprises a total
of seven Directors, with three executive Directors, namely, Mr.
Wang Li Feng (Vice Chairman), Mr. Fan Xiaoling and Mr. Ni
Xian, and one non-executive Director, namely Mr. Huang Bin
(Chairman), and three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Dr. Yan Ka Shing, Mr. Wu Lebin and Mr. Sui Fuxiang.
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The Board composition of the Company during the year #HE_-_ZT-—"F+ - A=+—HBIEFEE AR
ended 31 December 2022 is set out below: RESSMHEKIT
Strategy and
Audit Remuneration Nomination Executive  Development
Directors/Committees £ /ZE8¢ Committee  Committee  Committee  Committee  Committee
BRK
EREEE® FHEEE REZEE HTZEE LRZEE®
Independent Non-Executive =~ BIFHTES
Directors
FONG, Chi Wai, Alex (resigned FEE(RZE-_=F M M M M M
on 17 August 2022) NATHBET)
SUI Fuxiang (appointed on 17 e (M2 M M M M M
August 2022) N\A +t AEZE)
YAN, Ka Shing BEB C ® M M M
FENG, Shen BE(R-E-—% M M M M M
(ceased on 4 March 2022) = AMAHE)
WU, Lebin (appointed on REG (R - - - - S
20 February 2022) “A-tHEZT)
XU, Lin (appointed on FH(RZTZZF M - M = =
4 March 2022 and resigned “ANBEZARR
on 29 December 2022)) S
—t+hBEF)
Chairman and Non-Executive FEHFEHTES
Director
HUANG, Bin (appointed on EW(R-Z-=F - - C - -
20 February 2022) ZRZ+HEZH)
Vice Chairman and Executive EIXERUTES
Director
WANG, Li Feng (redesignated on T EE (=T == - M M ® @
4 March 2022) ZRAMAHRT)
Executive Directors BITEE
YU, Sanlong (resigned on F=(RzZ=z= = = = M -
29 December 2022) +ZAZ+hBE
ff)
FAN, Xiaoling BNR - - - M -
LEE, Jui-lan (resigned on ZhE (A== - - - M =
6 May 2022) AAANAET)
CHEN, Xiaofeng (appointed B (R = - - - -
on 17 February 2022 and “ATtHEZAIR
resigned on 29 December RZEZZ%+ZH
2022) ZTABEHE)
NI, Xian (appointed on BZ(RZT== - - - S S
4 March 2022) ZAMBEZA)
SU, Guang (appointed on By (RZZ2=ZF - - - - -
1 May 2022 and resigned on 5A—H BZER
29 December 2022) R-BE-—E+-H
—t+hBEF)
Notes: et -
1. C is chairman of the relevant board committees of the Company 1. CRARNRIEHMESFZEGER
2. M is member of the relevant board committees of the Company 2. MEARFRIEBEEZEENE
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Biographical details of all the Directors are set out in the
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management”
section under this Annual Report. An updated list of Directors
identifying their roles and functions is maintained on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

CHANGE OF DIRECTORSHIP DURING AND AFTER
THE REPORTING PERIOD

The nomination committee met for 1 time during the year
ended 31 December 2022 to, among others, introduce new
talent to the Board and fulfill the succession needs of the
Board with an aim to creating sustainable values for the
Company’s shareholders.

Redesignation of Chairman of the Board

Mr. Wang Li Feng (“Mr. Wang”) being the Co-Chairman of the
Board and executive Director, has been redesignated to Vice
Chairman of the Board with effect from 4 March 2022 due to
job re-arrangement.

Following the redesignation of Mr. Wang to Vice Chairman
of the Board, he will remain as an executive Director, the
chairman of the executive committee of the Company (the
“Executive Committee”), the chairman of the strategy and
development committee of the Company (the “Strategy and
Development Committee”) and a member of each of the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”)
and the nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) of the Company.

Cessation of Director

Dr. Feng Shen (“Dr. Feng”) ceased to be an independent
non-executive Director, a member of each of the audit
committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”), the
Remuneration committee, the Nomination committee, the
Executive Committee and the Strategy and Development
Committee, respectively, upon the expiration of term of letter
of appointment on 4 March 2022 as he wished to devote
more time to his other business commitments.

Dr. Feng confirmed that he had no disagreement with the
Board and that there was no matter relating to his cessation
that need to be brought to the attention of the shareholders
of the Company or the Exchange.
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Appointment of Director

Dr. Chen Xiaofeng (“‘Dr. Chen”) has been appointed as an
executive Director with effect from 17 February 2022.

Mr. Huang Bin (“Mr. Huang”) has been appointed as a non-
executive Director and Chairman of the Board with effect from
20 February 2022.

Mr. Wu Lebin (“Mr. Wu”) has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 20
February 2022.

Mr. Ni Xian (“Mr. Ni”) has been appointed as an executive
Director with effect from 4 March 2022.

Mr. Xu Lin (“Mr. Xu”) has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director with effect from 4 March 2022.

Mr. Su Guang (“Mr. Su”) has been appointed as an executive
Director and the chief executive of the Company with effect
from 1 May 2022.

Mr. Sui Fuxiang (“Mr Sui”’) has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, a member of each of
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Nomination Committee, the Executive Committee and the
Strategy and Development Committee with effect from 17
August 2022.

Biographical details of Dr. Chen, Mr. Huang, Mr. Wu, Mr.
Ni, Mr. Xu and Mr. Sui are set out in the section headed
“BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT” of this report.

Resignation of Director

Ms. Lee Jui-lan (“Ms. Lee”) has resigned as an executive
Director due to her other business commitments with effect
from 6 May 2022. Following the resignation of Ms. Lee, she
ceased to be a member of the executive committee of the
Company.
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Mr. Su Guang (“Mr. Su”) has resigned as an executive
Director and the chief executive of the Company (the “Chief
Executive”) due to his other business commitments with
effect from 29 December 2022.

Dr. Chen Xiaofeng (“Dr. Chen”) has resigned as an executive
Director due to his other business commitments with effect
from 29 December 2022.

Mr. Yu Sanlong (“Mr. Yu”) has resigned as an executive
Director, and ceased to be a member of the executive
committee of the Company with effect from 29 December
2022.

Mr. Xu Lin (“Mr. Xu”) has resigned as an independent non-
executive Director due to his other business commitments,
and ceased to be a member of each of the audit committee
and the nomination committee of the Company with effect
from 29 December 2022.

Dr. Fong Chi Wai Alex (“Dr. Fong”) has resigned as an
independent non-executive Director due to other business
commitments with effect from 17 August 2022. Following
the resignation of Dr. Fong, he ceased to be a member of
each of the audit committee, the nomination committee, the
remuneration committee, the executive committee and the
strategy and development committee of the Company.

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company
has complied with the requirements under the Rule 5.05 of
the GEM Listing Rules regarding the appointment of at least
three independent non-executive Directors (“INEDs”) with Mr.
Wu Lebin, Dr. Yan Ka Shing and Mr. Sui Fuxiang.

Having made specific enquiry of all the Directors, all the
Directors confirmed that they had compiled with the
required standard of dealings and the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by directors adopted by
the Company during the year ended 31 December 2022.
The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation on his
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The Company considers all INEDs to be independent
in accordance with the independence guidelines set out in
Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Pursuant to Code Provision C.2.1 of the 2022 CG Code, the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual.
Chairman of the Group is responsible for leading the Board
to ensure that it operates effectively and performs its duties,
while Chief Executive of the Group is responsible for the
overall implementation of the Group’s business development
and general management. On 1 May 2022, Mr. Su was
appointed as an executive Director and the Chief Executive,
who resigned on 29 December 2022 afterwards. The daily
operation and management of the Company is monitored by
the executive Directors and senior management as disclosed
in “BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT” of this report. The Board considers that the
Company has complied with Code Provision C.2.1.

The types of decisions taken out by the Board include
matters in relation to:

° corporate and capital structure;

° corporate strategy;

° significant policies affecting the Group as a whole;

° business plan, budgets and public announcements;

° delegation to the Chairman, and delegation to and by

Board committees;
° key financial matters;

° appointment, removal or reappointment of Board
members, senior management and auditors;

o remuneration of directors and senior management; and

° communication with key stakeholders, including
shareholders and regulatory bodies.
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The Board may delegate certain decision-making regarding
the daily operation and administration of the Company to the
senior management from time to time, the daily operation and
management of the Company is monitored by the executive
Directors under the direction and supervision of the executive
Directors.

There are no relationships (including financial, business, family
or other material or relevant relationships) among members of
the Board.

BOARD OPERATION

The Board meets regularly over the Company’s affairs and
operations. During the year ended 31 December 2022, 2
general meetings and 25 Board meetings were held for the
purposes of, among others,

(i) reviewing and approving the quarterly results of the
Company for the three months ended 31 March 2022
and for the nine months ended 30 September 2022;

(if) reviewing and approving the interim results of the
Company for the six months ended 30 June 2022;

(iif) reviewing and approving the annual results of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2021;

(iv) discussing and approving four connected transactions
and three discloseable transactions;

(v) discussing and approving the overall strategies and
policies of the Group; and

(Vi) considering and approving the remuneration packages
of the respective Directors.
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The attendance record of each member of the Board at E#EE €KX EHFEEECERMNARANEE—
the Board meetings and the annual general meeting of the ZT -+ _A=+—HIFERFBEFKS
Company during the year ended 31 December 2022 is set Za8x& 5T :

out below:

Attendance/Number of Meetings

Mr. Huang (Chairman)

(appointed on 20 February 2022)

HEZ B RE
Board 2022
Meetings SGM AGM
—E-_F
EEEEE REBIXE RREFAS
B5hE(EE) 7/21 1/1 1/1
(R=ZZ==

“A-t+BHEZRE)

Mr. Wu (appointed on 20 February 2022) R4 (R T == 2/21 0/1 1/1

Mr. Ni (appointed on 4 March 2022)

resigned on 29 December 2022)

Mr. Su (appointed on 1 May 2022 and
resigned on 29 December 2022)

Dr. Chen (appointed on
17 February 2022 and resigned on

29 December 2022)

Mr. Sui (appointed on 17 August 2022)

Mr. Wang

Mr. Yu (resigned on 29 December 2022)

Mr. Fan

Ms. Lee (resigned on 6 May 2022)

Dr. Fong (resigned on 17 August 2022)

Dr. Yan

Dr. Feng (ceased on 4 March 2022)

ZAR-t+BEEE)
fREE (RZE=-= 17/20 11 11
—AMBEEE)

Mr. Xu (appointed on 4 March 2022 and &4 (KT == 13/18 1/1 1/1
ZAMNBEEZEL
N—_E—-—
F+ZAZ+NHBE)
BHAEE (R-DE—-— 7/12 N/A i A 1/1
hA—HEZAEK
WN—_E—-—
+ZAZ+NHBE)
BELr(R=_ZT=——= 15/20 1/1 1/1
“At+tBEZER
WN—_E—-—
+=—A=-+AHET)
Bt (RZE== 6/8 N/AZT 35 FB 1/1
NA+tEtREZFE)
FEAE 22/23 1/1 1/1
FrE(RZEZ= 19/22 11 1/1
+=— A=+ HEMT)
BhEAE 20/23 1/1 1/1
L+ (RZE=-= 9/10 1/1 N/AZ i
A ANBEE)
FEE(R=ZT== 14/15 1/1 N/AT 3 A
NATEBREE)
HEA 18/23 1/1 1/1
BELE(R=ZZE=—= 2/3 N/AA i A N/AZT iE B
= AW BHE{E)
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The Remuneration Committee was formed for, inter alia, the
following purposes:

(@) to make recommendations to the Board on policies
and structure for remuneration of Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing policy on such
remuneration; and

(b) to determine the remuneration packages for executive
Directors and senior management and to make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors.

As at 31 December 2022, the Remuneration Committee
was made up of two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Dr. Yan (Chairman) and Mr. Sui was appointed on 17
August 2022, and one executive Director, namely Mr. Wang.
Dr. Feng ceased his duty on 4 March 2022, and following
his cessation, Dr. Fong was appointed on 4 March 2022 and
ceased his duty on 17 August 2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, one Remuneration
Committee meeting was held for the purpose of, among
others, reviewing, approving and recommending the
remuneration packages of individual Directors and senior
management to the Board for consideration and approval.
The attendance record of each member of the Remuneration
Committee during the year ended 31 December 2022 is set
out below:
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EENEREEAEME

FMZE@ERY HFREBENUTRE:

(@ MEELEREEABZHFMEERRE
B R RZIERMEERENIEFF G
EEBFMER REFTSFLEHR:
K

b)) EBEERTEELEREEABZHMMNA
B URFRTEETZFHAESTSIE
HEsE-

R-E-_—_F+_-_A=+—H HFHEES

MEBIYFNTESTHEA(ETF)EBELE
(R—ZE-—FN\A+LtHEZT)R—RBHTT
EEThAEK - BBEITN T -_—_F=AN
BEE REBER A LR _T-__F=
AMNBEZARNR-_ZE-__FNA++-BHE-

BE_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—RHILFE £17
—REWNEZETR A (HP1E)EH £
FEERSREEAENTNFEYRNESS
EmAttEE Rt E-BHE TS -_-F+=A8
—t+—HLEEE FTHWMEEEeSKECHER
BRE AN

Attendance
Members of Remuneration Committee FMZEE€/KE i FE &
Dr. Yan HEL 3/3
Dr. Feng (ceased on 4 March 2022) BEL (RZT__F=AWBHE) N/AT @ A
Mr. Wang FhAE 3/3
Dr. Fong (appointed on 4 March 2022 and AEL (R-TE-_—F=ZANHEZIR 2/2

resigned on 17 August 2022) RZZBZZFNATLEBEHE)

Mr. Sui (appointed on 17 August 2022) BrEE(R-ZZE-_=—FNATLtREZMT) N/AZ iE B

Details regarding the Company’s emolument policy and long
term incentive schemes, as well as the basis of determining
the directors’ emoluments are set out in this Annual Report.

The Remuneration Committee will meet and review the
emolument policy and long-term incentive schemes as well
as the basis of determining the emolument payable to the
Company’s directors in Year 2022.

ARAMERRELEEARBFINRETES
e 2 BEFRENAFR-

R-T-—FE HHEERBRBTEERR
HEMEE - REEDHEURBAARDE
FHMET 2 HE-
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The Remuneration Committee is governed by its terms of
reference.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2022, the Audit Committee comprises
two independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr. Yan
(Chairman) and Mr. Sui.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Audit
Committee held five meetings and performed the following
duties:

(1) reviewed and commented on the Company’s draft
annual, interim and quarterly financial announcements,
Directors’ Report, Independent Auditors’ Report and
Financial Statements, with a recommendation to the
Board for approval;

(2) reviewed and commented on the Group’s internal
controls;

(3) met with the external auditors and participated in the
appointment, reappointment and assessment of the
performance of the external auditors; and

° reviewed the results of the external audits;

° reviewed and assessed the effectiveness of the
Group’s risk control/mitigation tools including
the risk management systems, the internal audit
function relating to risk management and the
Group’s contingency plans;

° reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control
systems after considering the report from the
internal auditors;

o reviewed the significant findings and recommendations
from the internal auditor and external auditor,
and monitored their implementations; and

° reviewed and monitored the compliance by the
Company with all applicable laws, regulations,
standards and best practice guidelines.

(4) The annual results presented herein have been
reviewed by the Audit Committee.
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The attendance record of each member of the Audit
Committee during the year ended 31 December 2022 is set
out below:
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ERERBE
BE-T--Ft-A=-+-HLEE BKX
REGSMAZHEDERIIMT :

Attendance
Members of Audit Committee ERZEEE|NE HE=E
Mr. Sui (appointed on 17 August 2022) BEhE (RZTEZZFN\NA++-HEZE) 1/1
Dr. Yan MEL 4/4

Dr. Fong (appointed on 4 March 2022
and ceased on 17 August 2022)

Dr. Feng (ceased on 4 March 2022)

Mr. Xu (appointed on 4 March 2022
and ceased on 29 December 2022) A

W—_E—-—

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the remuneration
paid or payable to the Company’s auditor, Prism Hong Kong
and Shanghai Limited (formerly known as UniTax Prism (HK)
CPA Limited) (2021: BDO), in respect of audit and non-audit
services is set out below:

FELt (RZE__F=ZANBEZER
FNA+EBEME) 3/3

B+ (R-—E-—F= A AFHE) N/AT i A
HEE(RZE_—_F=ZANAEZER
F+- A=+ hBHE) 1/4

BB A &

BE_ZE-_—_F+-_A=+—HLFE AR
AENENAQR A EeEB TS
BHABARAR (FIBLER«EmZ (BB S
MEEABERAR) (ZE-—F : UEER)
BT MIEETRB M EeEIN O T

2022 2021
—EgE=-= —=E
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Prism Hong Kong and tEeEERETiEERmERAA
Shanghai Limited (formerly (FBAECE EZE (FB) ST
known as UniTax Prism (HK) ZE¥FERQTF)
CPA Limited)
Audit service Fi R - 1,100,000
Non-audit services (Note 2) EEET RIS (A7a22) S =

Note 1: The non-audit services mainly consisted of the reviews of the Group’s
interim financial reports and the performance of certain agreed-upon
procedures.

Note 2: This non-audit services represent the services rendered as reporting
accountant for a circular issued in connection with a disposal of a
subsidiary during the year.

An independence confirmation has been obtained from the
Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited (formerly known as
UniTax Prism (HK) CPA Limited) confirming that Prism Hong
Kong and Shanghai Limited (formerly known as UniTax Prism
(HK) CPA Limited) is independent of the Group in accordance
with the independence requirements of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants for the year ended 31
December 2021 and up to the date of this Annual Report.

Bt ZIEBEAMBIZREBEMAEEN D RY KR
ERBETETHERR-

Kz : B BFRBIEFARERPARSFTMER B E—
Fe PRt B8 22 A1) T 3% Y 388 B T B2 1L B PR A o

AAREMBLEBEBSMELTERA A
(B LER«BE(EE)GMEBKMAR
AR BYHERN MALEARESTAE
BRERAR (B LER «BZE(HE) G
MEKAERAG)RBE=S=—F+=H
S+ BHLFEREEAFRABRERES
SR AESMBELERBE LN AEBHAL-
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NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The Board has established the Nomination Committee
pursuant to the requirements of the CG Code. The
Nomination Committee adopted the following procedure and
criteria for nomination of Directors:

1 Procedure for Nomination of Directors

1.1 When there is a vacancy in the Board,
the Board evaluates the balance of skills,
knowledge and experience of the Board, and
identifies any special requirements for the
vacancy (e.g. independence status in the case
of an independent non-executive Director).

1.2 Prepare a description of the role and capabilities
required for the particular vacancy.

1.3 Identify a list of candidates through personal
contacts/recommendations by Board members,
senior management, business partners or
investors.

1.4 Arrange interview(s) with each candidate for the
Board to evaluate whether the candidate meets
the established written criteria for nomination of
Directors. One or more members of the Board
will attend the interview.

1.5 Conduct verification on information provided by
the candidate.

1.6 Convene both Nomination Committee meeting
and Board meeting to discuss and vote on
which candidate to nominate or appoint to the
Board.
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2. Criteria for Nomination of Directors

2.1 Common Criteria for All Directors

(a)
(b)

Character and integrity

The willingness to assume broad
fiduciary responsibility

Present needs of the Board for particular
experience or expertise and whether the
candidate would satisfy those needs

Relevant experience, including
experience at the strategy/policy setting
level, high level managerial experience
in a complex organisation, industry
experience and familiarity with the
products and processes used by the
Company

Significant business or public experience

relevant and beneficial to the Board and
the Company

Breadth of knowledge about issues
affecting the Company

Ability to objectively analyse complex
business problems and exercise sound

business judgment

Ability and willingness to contribute
special competencies to Board activities

Fit with the Company’s culture

Board diversity
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2.2 Criteria for Non-Executive Directors

(@) Willingness and ability to make a
sufficient time commitment to the affairs
of the Company in order to effectively
perform the duties of a director, including
attendance at and active participation in
Board and committee meetings

Accomplishments of the candidate in his
or her field

Outstanding professional and personal
reputation

The candidate’s ability to meet the
independence criteria for directors
established in the GEM Listing Rules

In structuring of the Board composition, by taking into
account the Group’s board diversity policy, board diversity has
been considered from a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. All the ultimate decision will be based on
merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring
to the Board.

As at 31 December 2022, the Nomination Committee was
made up of one executive Director, namely Mr. Wang,
one non-executive Director, namely Mr. Huang, and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr. Yan, Dr.
Fong and Mr. Xu.
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, one Nomination
Committee meeting was held for the purposes of, among
others, (i) assessing the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors; (i) making recommendation to the
Board for consideration the re-election of all the retiring
Directors as Directors at the 2022 AGM; and (iii) reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board. The attendance
record of each member of the Nomination Committee during
the year ended 31 December 2022 is set out below:
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BE_T__F+_-_A=+—HILFE 817
—REBZEEEE R (EPERE) ()FE
BYFRTEENBLE: (\REBRARE
EEN_T__FHRRBFRAeLBEREEL
MEFSRHEESZUHEE: RiiRTESS
MAB RERAK -BE-_FT__F+_-A
=+t—HLEFE REZBE@ENEBZHER
SEHIT

Attendance
Members of Nomination Committee REZEBE/HE e &
Mr. Sui (appointed on 17 August 2022) BEE(RZZEZZFN\ATLREZT) N/AZ iE B
Mr. Wang FhAE 2/2
Mr. Huang (appointed on 4 March 2022) HEhE (RZE-__F=ZAWNBEZET) 1/2
Dr. Yan HEL 2/2
Dr. Feng (ceased on 4 March 2022) BELT(RZEZZF=ANBEHE) N/AA 3
Dr. Fong (ceased on 17 August 2022) FET (R —F N \AT+EBEHE) 1/1
Mr. Xu (appointed on 4 March 2022 A (RZEZZF=-ANHEZER
and ceased on 29 December 2022) RZE__F+ZA=Z+HLHHME) 0/2
DIRECTORS’ TRAINING '

Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities
and are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. The Company would provide to each newly appointed
director or alternative director an induction package covering
the summary of the responsibilities and liabilities of a director
of a Hong Kong listed company, the Group’s businesses
and the statutory regulatory obligations of a director of a
listed company as well as the Company’s constitutional
documents to ensure that he/she is sufficiently aware of his/
her responsibilities and obligations under the GEM Listing
Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The Company has provided information related to the
changes in the GEM Listing Rules to the directors to
update and refresh the directors’ knowledge on the latest
developments to the GEM Listing Rules. The Company will
continuously update the directors on the latest developments
to the GEM Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements, to ensure compliance and enhance the
directors’ awareness of good corporate governance
practices.

EERTHREEAAZBE ARAEBHES
DEFBEEZXER NERIEFREZ AR
REBE - ARBAGEMZEESTAREAES
REZEAZABENXGH EFRETELT
RAEFZHME AREZERB LHAAZ
ERAEEERBRARBZEEXHZH
Z RN IE D AMBRBEGEM ET R A R HEAb
EERTAEZBRAERER-

ARRIEMEFRHEEHECGEMEM R ES 2
B - UBHEFTHCGEMEMRBEHMER 2
MB-ARAFEREFRHEGEMET R A K&
HitEREERECHRNBERERN BRAR
AETERRAERNAEETHRIFERERR
Mz B
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For the year ended 31 December 2022, a summary of their
records of continuous development training is as below:

MFEERIEJIREHENT

BE_T_—_H+_A=+t—HLFE &

K

I
~T

Attending

webinars/

reading

materials

and updates

relevant to

corporate

governance

o FE B

TEEREBN

miEHE

HEPEER

HEMBEIE

Name of Directors EEHRE MBI REH
Chairman and Non-Executive Director: FERIHITES:

Mr. Huang Bin (appointed on 20 February 2022) &M@ AEE (R-ZZE=-_—_F-_A=-+RHEZT) v
Vice Chairman and Executive Director: BXrERYITES:

Mr. Wang Li Feng FEELEE (R-T-—_F=AMWBAHFE)

(redesignated on 4 March 2022) v

Executive Directors: HTES:
Mr. Yu Sanlong (resigned on 29 December 2022) F=# %L (RZT_ZF+=-HA=+h1A8

BE(T) 4
Mr. Fan Xiaoling W EE v
Ms. Lee Jui-lan (resigned on 6 May 2022) TR (RZZEZ_FHABHET) 4
Dr. Chen Xiaofeng PREESRIET (RZE_ZF A+ tH

(appointed on 17 February 2022 and resigned BZERRZZE_ZF+=ZHA=+A1A8

on 29 December 2022) BHE) 4
Mr. Ni Xian (appointed on 4 March 2022) REZEE (RZZB__F=ANBEZE) v
Mr. Su Guang (appointed on 1 May 2022 BAETE(RZTEZZFHAA—HEZAR

and resigned on 29 December 2022) RZEBEZ—_F+ AT HLBEE) N/AT 38 A
Independent Non-Executive Directors: BYBITES:

Mr. Sui Fuxiang (appointed on 17 August 2022) FEfR&FELEE (RZZE__F N \NA++H
EZE) N/AT i A
Dr. Fong Chi Wai, Alex (resigned on FEBRET(RZZEZFNATHHEE)

17 August 2022) v
Dr. Yan Ka Shing BB 4
Dr. Feng Shen (ceased on 4 March 2022) /% Eﬁﬁi (RZE2EZ=F=AMHEEE) N/AZ3E A
Mr. Wu Lebin (appointed on 20 February 2022) S aE (RZE-ZF A =+H

Zgéfi) 4
Mr. Xu Lin (appointed on 4 March 2022 AMEE (RZEZF=ANBEZAR
and resigned on 29 December 2022) RZEBEZ—_F+ AT HLBEE) N/AT 38 A
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

According to the Bye-Laws of the Company, any one or
more shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the secretary of the Company, to
require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one days
of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so
in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board
shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
Shareholders may, at any time, direct questions, request for
publicly available information and provide comments and
suggestions to directors or management of the Company.
Such questions, requests and comments can be addressed
to Mr. Wang Li Feng by email to lifengwang@188.com or Mr.
Patrick Chang at patrick@glorymarkhightech.com.hk.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The declaration, form, frequency and amount of any dividend
payout of the Company must be in accordance with relevant
laws, rules and regulations and subject to the Bye-laws of the
Company.

The dividends may be paid up in the form of the Company’s
shares in addition to cash, by the distribution of specific
assets of any kind or by distribution of any form. Subject to
compliance with applicable laws, rules, regulations and the
Bye-laws of the Company, in deciding whether to propose
any dividend payout, the Board will take into account,
among other things, the financial results, the earnings,
losses and distributable reserves, the operations and liquidity
requirements, the debt ratio and possible effects on the credit
lines, and the current and future development plans of the
Company.
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INSIDE INFORMATION

The Directors are aware of the requirements under the
applicable regulations, Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance and the Hong Kong Listing Rules for the handling
and dissemination of inside information. All the inside
information identified by the Directors shall be published
and disclosed to the public in a timely manner through the
Company’s publications and communications, unless the
information falls within safe harbours as prescribed in the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws
of Hong Kong).

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the
date of this report, there has not been any change in the
Company’s Bye-laws. The Company’s Bye-laws are available
on the websites of the Company (www.glorymark.com.tw)
and the Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tsang Shiao Tung, Joseph (“Mr. Tsang”), has been
appointed as the company secretary, an authorized
representative, and the process agent of the Company
effective from the 14th of November, 2022. Mr. Tsang is a
holder of a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University
of Toronto and a Master of Corporate Governance degree
from The Open University of Hong Kong (currently known
as Hong Kong Metropolitan University). He is an associate
member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute
and The Chartered Governance Institute in the United
Kingdom. Mr. Tsang has demonstrated compliance with
the requirements of Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules
and possesses extensive experience in both the company
secretarial and banking fields.

All the Directors have access to the advice and services of

the company secretary on corporate governance and Board
practice and matters.
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INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS

The Group has formulated risk management and internal
control systems to provide standard guidelines for
identification, assessment, management, monitoring and
reporting of all materials risks of the Group. Appropriate
internal control procedures are established to ensure a
comprehensive, accurate and timely record of accounting and
management information.

The Group has an Internal Audit Department which
reports directly to the Audit Committee. The Internal Audit
Department conducts a regular review to ensure the financial
statement is prepared in accordance with the relevant
accounting standards and applicable laws and regulations.
It provides the Audit Committee and the Board with useful
information and recommendations on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control systems. Internal Controls
Review Reports are submitted to the Audit Committee and
the Board for review with recommendations adopted to
further enhance the effectiveness of the internal controls. The
Internal Audit Department also assists the Audit Committee
in monitoring the implementations of the previously identified
findings and reports the status of remediation to the Audit
Committee. The Internal Audit Department generally reviews
and assesses the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control
systems by adopting a risk-based audit approach based on
the Internal Control — 2013 Integrated Framework issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway
Commission (“COS0”).

Corporate Governance Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AR E

O
T

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA UNITED VENTURE
INVESTMENT LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
China United Venture Investment Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as
the “Group”) set out on pages 70 to 215, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Qur responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

China United Venture Investment Limited HEHSIREGR AT
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming

Independent Auditor’s Report
B A REN RS
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our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Revenue recognition from contract work of comprehensive

architectural services

Refer to Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements and

the accounting policies on pages 85 to 120.

The key audit matter
BRETEE

We have identified the revenue recognition from
contract work of comprehensive architectural services
as a key audit matter due to the significant judgement
and estimate used by management to determine the
total cost to complete and the contract costs incurred
for work performed to date.

The Group recognised revenue from its provision of
comprehensive architectural services amounted to
HK$8,270,000 during the year ended 31 December
2022. The Group recognises service revenue by
reference to the stage of completion of the contract
activities at the end of the reporting period, measured
based on the proportion of contract costs incurred
for work performed to date relative to the estimated
total contract costs. Accordingly, revenue recognition
on these contracts involves a significant degree of
management judgement in the estimation of the
total contract costs and stage of completion of each
contract.

PHEERBENIBHBAER

BRI A B AW AN SR FE5F 1208 2
® 3 B -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

AERBMITHNESNAEEZER

Our procedures in relation to revenue recognition from
contract work of comprehensive architectural services
included:

- Obtained an understanding and evaluated
management’s process relating to the
estimation of total contract costs, determination
of the stage of completion and recording of
contract costs;

- Compared contract sum and budgeted contract
costs to respective signed contracts and
approved budgets on a sample basis;

- Discussed with the management and checked
the supporting documents to evaluate the
reasonableness of management’s estimation
of the total contract costs and contract costs
incurred for work performed to date on a
sample basis;

- Recalculated the percentage of completion
based on the proportion of contract costs
incurred for work performed to date relative to
the estimated total contract costs.

- Assessed reliability of contract budgets by
comparing actual contract costs against
budgeted costs of completed projects prepared
by the management of the Group.
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The key audit matter
BRETEE
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

AERBMITHNESNAEEZER
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Valuation of loan receivables, trade and other EWER BZRHMEWERZGE

receivables

Refer to note 25 and 27 to the consolidated financial FEUIRALRA B F BRI 5E25 K427 A K FE85E
statements and the accounting policies on page 85 to 120. 1208 2 &K o

The key audit matter
HAEETSE

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of
the Group’s loan receivables, trade receivables and
other receivables are approximately HK$22,164,000,
HK$45,686,000 and HK$41,897,000 respectively,
net of accumulated loss allowance on loan
receivables, trade receivables and other receivables
of HK$470,000, HK$11,189,000 and HK$613,000
respectively.

The management of the Group performed periodic
assessment on the expected credit loss (“ECL”) of
the loan receivables, trade and other receivables
and the sufficiency of provision for loss allowance
based on information including aging of the trade
receivables, historical settlement records, expected
timing and amount of realization of outstanding
balances, and ongoing trading relationships with the
relevant customers. The management of the Group
also considered forward looking information that may
impact the customers’ ability to repay the outstanding
balances in order to estimate the ECL.

We have identified the loss allowance on loan
receivables, trade and other receivables as a key
audit matter because the amount is significant to
the consolidated financial statement as a whole and
the assessment of loan receivables, trade and other
receivables under the ECL model involved the use of
significant degree of management judgement and may
be subject to management bias.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

REBMTHESNAEEZER

Our procedures in relation to valuation of loan
receivables, trade and other receivables assets
included:

S Reviewed the management’s assessment of
ECL model and challenge the reasonableness
of the methods and assumptions used to
estimate ECL of loan receivables, trade and
other receivables.

= Obtained an understanding of the methodology
for the ECL model, development processes and
evaluate the design and implementation of the
key controls, through review of documentation,
discussion with management and management
expert.

- Assessed and challenged the reasonableness
of assumptions and judgements made by
the management of the Group on model
adoption and parameters selection.

S Examined the key data inputs to the ECL
model on a sample basis to assess their
accuracy and reasonableness.

- Checked mathematical accuracy of

the calculation of the provision for loss
allowance.
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The key audit matter
BAREENSEE
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

China United Venture Investment Limited HEHSIREGR AT

How the matter was addressed in our audit
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion, solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

Independent Auditor’s Report
B A REN RS

N
BeEHE

BERREFARAREERGMAEMMA
h2EERBERESENREE R AERDZ W
BRTRHEABEAATNEAUBHRE &%
E ERFESERRLENRNMER  BHEKR
BHMBRRIBEIFEARRFHERME
HHEAFHRRAL

RFEEGEEMBHRRE BERARNEFEASR
i ERERBEKLENEN XYHEBERBR
THREASELLEBNER YERKER
EREFER KIF ERFNEFAER &
SEERYUFULELEXFNELBERNERT

BRBARBERREMBRREAEZEM

AZBETHERSHGAVBREREERS
P EBRRRFFRERM B EANHRR M
RMEAERE YHABRATER XA
BE - BFRBRWENZEGRER BT (F
REBERBIFHARNRE R 2IARE R EE
B R NZBREIT T ERARERNBTAEM
HWALTABEIAEEMET A EREES
KEWIRE BTERERREERAELE
THBRAER —EXHERRAFERFBRERR -
#5 R (R AL RT FR ARRF 38R AR 1 - fi E B S B B
EeEEHRBRATARERERAVKRRE
RERBSEEMBERRFHNEERER A
WAR BB R R

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 £ 2022 67



Independent Auditor’s Report
B RS

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’ s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors of the
Company.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s
directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with audit committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide audit committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with audit committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Mr. Fan Chi Hang Stephen.

Prism Hong Kong And Shanghai Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Fan Chi Hang Stephen

Practising Certificate Number: P06144

Hong Kong

31 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

meBEsakEMEERER

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022 HE - - —F+_A=+—HILFE

2022 2021
—E=-= T —F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
ogza FET FAET
Continuing operations FEREETR
Revenue WA ) 287,850 339,255
Cost of sales and services rendered £ MR AR A AR A (253,672) (318,229)
Gross profit EF 34,178 21,026
Other income H g A 7 6,061 4,744
Other (losses) and gains b (B1E) ki 8 (1,418) 4,397
Impairment losses of financial assets TREERAENEERE
and contract assets, net of reversal [E518 - Bk £ O 9 (3,412) (2,812)
Change in fair value of financial assets at BiBIEHIE A FEDEZ
fair value through profit or loss CREECAFEES (5,475) =
Change in fair value of investment KEMERNTEE
properties 20 (800) (750)
Share of loss of joint ventures EBiLHEELEEIE (3,405) (1,789)
Finance costs R I 10 (3,865) (1,892)
Selling and distribution expenses HENMDHEAX (7,972) (8,455)
Administrative expenses TR (75,117) (67,903)
Loss before taxation FRBi AT 5 18 (61,225) (53,434)
Income tax expense Frisfim= 14 (249) (3,072)
Loss for the year from continuing REFERSEEKZ
operations FAEIE (61,474) (56,506)
Discontinued operation ERIEEEEN
Profit for the year from REERIEREER 2
discontinued operation F R F 13 - 106,232
(Loss)/profit for the year Fr(EH8)BF 15 (61,474) 49,726
Other comprehensive (expense)/ Hi2m (BX) i
income
Item that may be reclassified HAEAEEN 7R 1872
subsequently to profit or loss: EH -
Exchange differences arising on BMEBINEBFIEEXZ
translation of foreign operations E X E%E (315) (6,984)
Item that will not be reclassified HEETEEHN D EE B
subsequently to profit or l0ss: HE
Share of other comprehensive income BiEEEREZEMEE
of joint ventures & - 5
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REBEERAEMEZEIKER

For the Year Ended 31 December 2022 HZ—ZE - —F+-_A=+—HItFE

2022 2021
—E-= —ET-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
k=3 FET FET
Other comprehensive expense FREMZ2EBAX
for the year (315) (6,979)
Total comprehensive (expense)/ FRE2ME (AX) WEHEHE
income for the year (61,789) 42,747
(Loss)/profit for the year attribute to RAaEBAEEFER
owners of the Company (B8], /& F
— From continuing operations —REBECEER (61,906) (56,243)
— From discontinued operation —REERIEEEER - 106,232
(61,906) 49,989
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to SRR EEFENER
non-controlling interest (E18)
- From continuing operations —REBELCEER 432 (263)
(61,474) 49,726
Total comprehensive (expense)/income ULTALEGE2ZE (HX),/
attributable to: W 4R
- Owners of the Company - VNGIEZ N (62,221) 43,010
- Non-controlling interests —FEER R 432 (263)
(61,789) 42,747
(Loss)/earnings per share from continuing R BAFELLEBE LD RIE
and discontinued operations KEER BB (B1B)
2
- Basic and diluted (HK cents) —ERKREE (CEW) 17 (8.79) 7.10
Loss per share from continuing REBELEEBL 2
operations FREE
- Basic and diluted (HK cents) —BEARNEE CEM) 17 (8.79) (7.99)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

E BRI R

As at 31 December 2022 R =—F-—F+=-A=+—H

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
HiaF FET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment BB REE 18 25,283 29,825
Right-of-use assets FREEE 19 22,584 25,641
Investment properties WEME 20 12,700 13,500
Investment in joint ventures REBELENKE 21 - 3,405
Financial assets at fair value through BREREAFEIEZ
profit or loss TREE 22 47 -
Other intangible asset HEthimpEEE 23 1,088 =
Goodwill S 24 550 =
Loan receivables JE U B 3R 25 5,544 =
67,796 72,371
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 26 34,367 58,131
Trade and other receivables B 5 KE b EKERR 27 104,203 197,214
Financial assets at fair value through BEREREAFEIEZ
profit or loss SREE 22 1,905 =
Contract assets EHMEE 28 4,996 5,266
Cash and cash equivalent ReEMERIREIER 29 106,484 84,132
251,955 344,743
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 Kk HMER IR 30 71,411 137,188
Contract liabilities aHaE 31 3,007 1,663
Lease liabilities HEEAE 19 6,756 5,497
Tax liabilities HEAE 30,292 32,425
Bank and other borrowings HRIT R H AR E R 32 70,314 51,675
181,780 208,448
NET CURRENT ASSETS FREBEEFE 70,175 116,295
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHAERABER
LIABILITIES 137,971 188,666
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBEE
Bank and other borrowings RIT R E M E K 32 9,926 =
Deferred tax liability RIERIBEAE 33 445 =
Lease liabilities HEARE 19 12,985 15,558
23,356 15,558
NET ASSETS EEFE 114,615 173,108
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mEMBRRR

As at 31 December 2022 W—Z - —F+_-HA=+—H

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
ok FAET FET
CAPITAL AND RESERVES B A % {4

Share capital &N 34 7,040 7,040
Reserves {1 104,601 166,822

Equity attributable to owners of the KRAFIER ANEMhLZER
Company 111,641 173,862
Non-controlling interests IR = 2,974 (754)
TOTAL EQUITY ERBE 114,615 173,108

The consolidated financial statements on pages 70 to 215 S70E215B 2 A M EHRRN T -_ME=
were approved and authorised for issue by the board of A=+—BEEZEZE& & LFETZE T HNU
directors on 31 March 2024 and are signed on its behalf by: TEERAEE:

Wang Li Feng Fan Xiaoling
EEIE BT
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EF EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ—ZE - —F+_-_A=+—HILFE

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

ANAEE AEL2ER
Non-
Share Share Merger Translation  Retained controlling
capital  premium reserve reserve profits ~ Sub-total interests Total
RE  RGEE AHRE ERHE REEA Nt FERER Foh
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FAT FET FET FAET FAT FET FAET FAET
(note 34) (note i) (note i)
(Hfz#34) (Hiz) (W)
At 1 January 2021 i —d
-A-A 7040 5438 680 12554 107,068 133,680 [491) 133189
Profit/(loss) for the year E@F/ (FE) - - - - 49,989 49,989 (263) 49,726
Other comprehensive FREMZE
(expense)/income for the year (B ) /I3
Exchange differences arising &85 £ 67
on translation of foreign EXCERER
operations - - - (6,984) - (6,984) - (6,984)
Share of other comprehensive ~ EfRAEE 2
income of joint ventures Eth2EKE - - - 5 - 5 = 5
- - - (6,979) - (6,979) - (6,979)
Total comprehensive (expense)/ 2 (Fix) /Wiz
income ek - - - (6,979) 49,989 43,010 (263) 42,747
Release of exchange translation 7 & — B
reserve upon disposal of AR R AR BR HNEE
a subsidiary (note 38) e
(Hi738) - - - (2,828) - (2,828) = (2,828)
At 31 December 2021 R=ZFE=—%
+-A=1+—-H 7,040 5,438 680 2,747 157,957 173,862 (754) 173,108
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mEERBEHK

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ—ZE - —F+-_A=+—HILtFE
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
ANAEBAEL2ES
Non-
Share Share Merger Translation  Retained controlling
capital premium reserve reserve profits  Sub-total interests Total
BE  RGEE AHRE ERHE REEA Nt FERESR o
HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
FET FHET FET FET FHET FET FHET FET
(note 34) (note j) (note i)
(Hiit34) (iti) (W)
At 1 January 2022 RZE-Z%
-A-H 7,040 5,438 680 2,747 157,957 173,862 (754) 173,108
Loss for the year FREE - - - - (61,906) (61,906) 432 (61,474)
Other comprehensive expense  FRE {2 EFE X
for the year
Exchange differences arising ~ #E BN EH
on translation of foreign FEEZEN
operations =8 - - - (315) - (315) - (315)
Total comprehensive (expense)/ 2 (%) /I
income k) - - - (315) (61,906) (62,221) 432 (61,789)
Acquisition of subsidiaries FAKERBAR
during the year (note 37) (Hiz37) - - - - - - 3,296 3,296
At 31 December 2022 R-B-Z%
+ZA=1+-H 7,040 5,438 680 2,432 96,051 111,641 2,974 114,615
Notes: Bt

On 3 June 2020, the Company entered into a placing agreement
with a placing agent pursuant to which the placing agent placed
64,000,000 placing shares at the placing price of a HK$0.1 per
placing share to certain independent places. The net proceeds from
the subscription is net of related issued costs and expenses.

The merger reserve of the Group represents the difference between
the nominal value of the share capital of the subsidiaries acquired and
the nominal value of the share capital of the Company issued for the
acquisition under the group reorganisation in 2001.

R-IE-_EFNA=ZH ARARBEERIET L
REHw Bt RERBEEEEESREER
50178 T M & T 98 3 A& B2 A Fid 564,000,0000%
BRIEFHEEHMBRERETK

Fo&E B fn - REE P

ARFX e

AEEAGHEBEMEENBARNKRAEER
ARBR T -FREEMABTORBEEREM
BITRANEEBNZE-
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

REBEITRER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 {2 —E - —HF+ - A=+—HILFE

2022 2021
—E=-= —ET-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
k=g F#ET FiET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXEK
Loss before taxation from continuing REFEKEEE 2 GRATER
operations (61,225) (53,434)
Profit before taxation from REERIEREEB ZBRBA
discontinued operation v Al 13 - 106,232
(61,225) 52,798
Adjustments for: MATSIBIELFE:
Change in fair value of investment REMERNFEES
properties 800 750
Depreciation of property, plant and WE- BERRETE
equipment 4,277 4,994
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 5,837 3,118
Amortisation of other intangible b A o
asset 692 -
Finance costs B FS B AR 3,865 1,892
Interest income on bank deposits RITHF A EWA (515) (210)
Interest income on loan receivables B E KA B WA (834) =
Dividend income from equity Azt T AR B WA
instruments (36) =
Loss on write-off of property, W E BB MR EEE
plant and equipment 39 S
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HHB AR W 38 - (107,885)
Impairment losses of financial ERMEEREHNEERE
assets and contract assets, B8 - R EE
net of reversal 3,412 2,812
Provision of allowance for FERE
inventories 1,557 7,826
Written off of other payables and W EMEMNRERRIERER
accrual - (315)
Change in fair value of financial BRBEREATEINEZ
assets at fair value through PREERNTEE
profit or loss 5,475 -
Share of loss of joint ventures BHEEELEEE 3,405 1,789
Operating cash flows before EEEBPHIKERERE
movements in working capital (33,251) (32,431)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERL (M) 19,778 (15,368)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and B REMEWERTRLD
other receivables () 91,289 (80,705)
Decrease/(increase) in contract assets & & &R D /(1) 152 (2,219)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and B REMEMERORD)
other payables N (66,311) 69,789
Increase in contract liabilities E B ELE 1,344 107
Cash generated from/(used in) KERE/(FA)EE
operations 13,001 (60,827)
Income tax paid BERATEH (2,382) (13,946)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ—ZE - —F+-_A=+—HILtFE

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
k=3 FET FiET
NET CASH FROM/(USED IN) REEBFRSE,(FA)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES HEFEE 10,619 (74,773)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXT
Purchase of property, plant and BEWE BEMEE
equipment (1,753) (4,172)
Purchase of financial assets at BESBREBERERATEIEZ
fair value through profit or loss TREE (7,427) =
(Advance to)/repayment from (M—HEELERR)—F
a joint venture EEBEER (1) 3
Advance to a third party M—ZBEBZFBR (5,640) =
Interest received on bank deposits BYER1T1F 3 F B 515 210
Interest received on loan receivables B W E U E Z 7 & 834 =
Net cash flow from acquisition of WENBARMEBHREESREFHE
subsidiaries 37 249 -
Net cash flow from disposal of HE—EHBARMBRERE
a subsidiary F R 38 - 59,754
NET CASH (USED IN)/FROM REEH (FA) FERE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES HE (13,223) 55,795
FINANCING ACTIVITIES i -E 33
New bank borrowings raised MEELEZIRTER 44,569 51,675
Repayments of bank borrowings IRITIBEER (43,127) =
Interest paid for bank borrowings B TR 1T 18 R B (1,725) (1,053)
Interest paid for other borrowings to 8] — & B B 75 2 1~ E b 18 31 FI 8
a related party (856) S
Advance from a director RE—BEBZIN 211 =
New other borrowing raised from BE—&BYE=FESZHEM
an independent third party B 2,188 =
New other borrowings raised from B—REB T EE 2 MEMER
a related party 78,000 -
Repayment of other borrowings to [ — & BB 77 (858 B A B3R
a related party (49,924) -
Dividends received from financial BRBEDEATFEYEZ
assets at fair value through A EWEH AR R
profit or loss 36 -
Repayment of principal portion of HEBELRSHDEN
lease liabilities (4,532) (2,522)
Interest paid for leases BEREEFE (1,190) (839)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 {2 —E - —HF+ - A=+—HILFE

2022 2021
—E_-C —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
NET CASH FROM FINANCING RMEXKFEESFHE
ACTIVITIES 23,650 47,261
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND REREQAHESER EIMFE
CASH EQUIVALENTS 21,046 28,283
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R—AB—HBzBE&£KREH
AT 1 JANUARY HE&EE 84,132 56,403
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE ER&E) ~ 22
RATE CHANGES 1,306 (554)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R+=-A=+—HBzBE£R
AT 31 DECEMBER, SRABREER UBTERRE
REPRESENTED BY BANK BE&RTR
BALANCES AND CASH 106,484 84,132
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ—ZE - —F+-_A=+—HILtFE

GENERAL

China United Venture Investment Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and continued in Bermuda with limited liability. The
shares of the Company were listed on GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The addresses of the registered office of the Company
is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and the principal place
of business in Hong Kong is at Room 1801-1802,
18/F., Bank of America Tower, No. 12 Harcourt Road,
Central, Hong Kong, changed from Room 1033, 10/F.,
Central Building, 1-8 Pedder Street, Central, Hong
Kong, effective from 11 May 2022.

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding, and the principal activities of subsidiaries
are set out in note 42 to the consolidated financial
statements.

In the opinion of the directors, the holding company
and the ultimate holding company of the Company
are PT Design Group Holdings Limited and Wise
Thinker Holdings Limited respectively, which are both
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”). The functional currency of
the Company is United States dollars (‘USD”). As the
Company is listed in Hong Kong, the directors of the
Company consider that it is appropriate to present the
consolidated financial statements in HK$.

—REHR

MEBAREARAB([ARF]R
ERSHEETMR LI RNABREFEZ
ERRAB -ARABNREEHERS
PTAR A RGEM LT -

XX B) 9 = R U AClarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM11, Bermuda FREBHNETEL =
HMEEBRESRREITHI-SHEFREKX
E1011033EZ E RBEAPIRERE2
SREBIRIT R 0181 1801-1802%F © A
—E-_FRAART+—BRBREHR-

ARFMEBLBARE R 1M E
ATMEBEBRRGEA U REM
42 °

EERR ARARMERD G REEE
BARDRAREBRELAEFSFMAL
#IPT Design Group Holdings Limited &
Wise Thinker Holdings Limited °

AP BERIDAET ([EBT]) 25
ARBINEEEREXT(IXT]) &
REARBRBFELT ARAEERR
NET2INGAMHEHRREBIRE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I RAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 {2 —E - —HF+ - A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM
of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique of fair value measurement are
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
investment properties and financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) that are measured at
fair values, at the end of each reporting period.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.

The Significant accounting policies are set out below.
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved when the Group has: (i) the power
over the investee; (i) exposure, or rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee; and (iii)
the ability to use its power over the investee to affect
those returns.

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of
voting rights results in control. When the Company
has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the
voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

(©) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

China United Venture Investment Limited HEHSIREGR AT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ—ZE - —F+-_A=+—HILtFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of
the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities,
equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating
to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of
any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration
received, (i) the fair value of any investment retained
and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or
loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities.

MERRMMBRER  JTIEARFRE
FHEMEARAERT - BOSHER
RE-MBARANEERAAKENGE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eV BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 {2 —E - —HF+ - A=+—HILFE

82

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Application of new and amendments to HKFRSs

In the current year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred as the “Group”) has
applied, for the first time, the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) which are effective
for the Group’s financial year beginning on 1 January

2022:

Amendment to HKFRS 16  Covid-19-Related Rent

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

Accounting Guideline 5
(Revised)

Concessions beyond
30 June 2021

Reference to the
Conceptual Framework

Property, plant and
Equipment: Proceeds
before Intended Use

Onerous Contracts — Cost
of Fulfilling a Contract

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018 — 2020
cycle

Merger Accounting for
Common Control
Combinations

The application of the new and amendments to
HKFRSs in the current year has had no material effect
on the Group’s financial performance and positions for
the current and prior periods and/or on the disclosures
set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE T -~ +_A=+—HBILtFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but not

yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but

are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 (including
the October 2020
and February 2022
amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to
HKAS 8

Amendments to
HKAS 12

Amendments to
HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to
HKAS 21

Insurance Contracts'

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture*

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback®

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and the related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5(2020) Presentation of
Financial Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a Term Loan that
Contains a Repayment on Demand
Clause?

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants?

Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

Definition of Accounting Policies'

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction'

Supplier Finance Arrangements?

Lack of Exchangeability®
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eV BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 {2 —E - —HF+ - A=+—HILFE

84

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but not
yet effective (Continued)

E Effective for annual periods beginning on or offer 1 January
2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024

J Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of the new and amendments to HKFRSs
will have no material impact on the results and the
financial position of the Group.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of net assets in the event of
liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured
at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ—ZE - —F+-_A=+—HILtFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets includes
an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with
the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This
includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and
any fair value of the Group’s previously held equity
interests in the acquiree over the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair
value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on
bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill
is tested for impairment annually or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, irrespective of whether other
assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed
in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and
part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the
goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is
included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and
the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Investment in joint ventures

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require the unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Investment in joint ventures (Continued)

The Group’s investments in joint ventures are stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position at the
Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments
are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting
policies that may exist. The Group’s share of the post-
acquisition results and other comprehensive income of
joint ventures is included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has
been a change recognised directly in the equity of
the joint venture, the Group recognises its share of
any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and
losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s investments in joint ventures, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the
acquisition of joint ventures is included as part of the
Group’s investments in joint ventures.

When an investment in a joint venture is classified
as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations.

Revenue Recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Revenue Recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

When the consideration in a contract includes a
variable amount, the amount of consideration is
estimated to which the Group will be entitled in
exchange for transferring the goods or services to the
customer. The variable consideration is estimated at
contract inception and constrained until it is highly
probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not
occur when the associated uncertainty with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

(a) Sale of connectively products

Revenue from the sale of connectively products
is recognised at the point in time when control
of the asset is transferred to the customer,
generally on delivery of the connectively
products.

(b) Construction services

Revenue from the provision of construction
services is recognised over time, using an input
method to measure progress towards complete
satisfaction of the service, because the Group’s
performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the asset is created
or enhanced. The input method recognises
revenue based on the proportion of the actual
costs incurred relative to the estimated total
costs for satisfaction of the construction
services.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Revenue Recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
(b) Construction services (Continued)

Claims to customers are amounts that the
Group seeks to collect from the customers
as reimbursement of costs and margins for
scope of works not included in the original
construction contract. Claims are accounted for
as variable consideration and constrained until
it is highly probable that a significant revenue
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved. The Group uses the
expected value method to estimate the amounts
of claims because this method best predicts the
amount of variable consideration to which the
Group will be entitled.

(c) Financial services

Financial service income derived from the
provision of support services in connection
with financial projects is recognised when the
relevant services are rendered and the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group.

Other income

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms. Variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as income in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis
using the effective interest method by applying the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to
the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Revenue Recognition (Continued)
Other income (Continued)

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
right to receive payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of
the dividend can be measured reliably.

Tooling and sampling income is recognised when
the customer takes possession of and accepts the
products.

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services transferred to the
customer. If the Group performs by transferring goods
or services to a customer before the customer pays
consideration or before payment is due, a contract
asset is recognised for the earned consideration that is
conditional. Contract assets are subject to impairment
assessment, details of which are included in the
accounting policies for impairment of financial assets.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Group transfers the related
goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised
as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or
services to the customer).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Leasing
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as a lessee

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the
date of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from
business combinations, the Group assesses whether
a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the
contract. The Group recognises a right-of-use asset
and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all
lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except
for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option) and
leases of low value assets. For these leases, the
Group recognises the lease payments as an operating
expense on a straight-line basis over the term of
the lease unless another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic
benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Group measures
lease liability at the present value of the lease
payments that are not paid at that date. The lease
payments are discounted by using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily
determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing
rate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

Lease payments included in the measurement of the
lease liability comprise:

° fixed lease payments (including in-substance
fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an

index or rate, initially measured using the index
or rate at the commencement date;

° the amount expected to be payable by the
lessee under residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of purchase options if the
lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the
options; and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising
an option to terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by
increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on
the lease liability (using the effective interest method)
and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the
lease payments made.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

Lease liability is remeasured (and with a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a
significant event or change in circumstances
resulting in a change in the assessment of
exercise of a purchase option, in which case the
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using revised discount
rate.

° the lease payments change due to changes
in an index or rate or a change in expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in
which cases the lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using
the initial discount rate.

o A lease contract is modified and the lease
modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease, in which case the lease liability is
remeasured based on the lease term of the
modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial
measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease
payments made at or before the commencement
date and any initial direct costs, less lease incentives
received. Whenever the Group incurs an obligation
for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset,
restore the site on which it is located or restore the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised
and measured under HKAS 37 “Provision, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets”. The costs are
included in the related right-of-use asset
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. They are depreciated over the shorter period
of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset.
The depreciation starts at the commencement date of
the lease.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

The Group applies HKAS 36 to determine whether a
right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any
identified impairment loss.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or
rate are not included in the measurement of the
lease liability and the right-of-use asset. The related
payments are recognised as an expense in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers those
payments occurs and are included in “Depreciation of
right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying
leased assets at the end of the lease term upon
exercising purchase options, the carrying amount
of the relevant right-of-use asset is transferred to
property, plant and equipment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Leasing (Continued)
The Group as lessor

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor
with respect to building. Leases for which the Group is
a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases.
Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee,
the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.

When a contract includes both lease and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS 15") to
allocate the consideration under the contract to each
component.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount
of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are
recognised as receivables at the amount of the Group’s
net investment in the leases. Finance lease income
is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a
constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net
investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Lease modification
For operating lease

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating
lease as a new lease from the effective date of the
modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to the original lease as part of the
lease payments for the new lease.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e.
the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at
fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date
when fair value was determined. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of
non-monetary items carried at fair value are included
in profit or loss for the period.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group’s foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong
dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the end
of each reporting period. Income and expenses are
translated at the average exchange rates for the year,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of translation reserve (attributed to
non-controlling interests as appropriate).

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a
subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share
of accumulated exchange differences are reattributed
to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in
profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until such time as
the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants
will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognised as deferred income
in the consolidated statement of financial position
and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic
and rational basis over the useful lives of the related
assets.

Government grants related to income that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable. Such grants are
presented under “other income and gains, net”.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market
rate of interest is treated as a government grant,
measured as the difference between proceeds received
and the fair value of the loan based on prevailing
market interest rates.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Retirement benefits costs and termination
benefits

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit
scheme and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the
earlier of when the entity can no longer withdraw the
offer of the termination benefit and when the entity
recognises any related restructuring costs.

Short-term and other long-term employee
benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual
leave and sick leave in the period the related service is
rendered at the undiscounted amount of the benefits
expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee
benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of
the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the
related service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term
employee benefits are measured at the present value
of the estimated future cash outflows expected to be
made by the Group in respect of services provided by
employees up to the reporting date.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before
tax as reported in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income because it
excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in
a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and interest in a joint venture, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of
the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale,
unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is
rebutted when the investment property is depreciable
and is held within a business model whose objective is
to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather
than through sale.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they
are relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-
of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the
Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 /ncome Taxes requirements to right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities separately. Temporary
differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition due
to application of the initial recognition exemption.
Temporary differences arising from subsequent revision
to the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of lease
liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject
to initial recognition exemption are recognised on the
date of remeasurement or modification.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax
or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction
in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of
an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location
for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such
as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to
profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised
in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement.
Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the
Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis
to write off the cost of each item of property, plant
and equipment to its residual value over its estimated
useful life. The principal estimated useful lives and the
annual depreciation rates are as follows:

Annual
depreciation rates

2%—-3% or over the
remaining term of the
relevant lease, if shorter

20%-33%

Buildings

Furniture and

fixtures
Office equipment 20%-33%
Company 20%-33%
equipment
Machinery 14%-20%

Motor vehicles 20%-30%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that
item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the
parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual
values, useful lives and the depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss
on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement
of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and
buildings (including the leasehold property held as a
right-of-use asset which would otherwise meet the
definition of an investment property) held to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather
than for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes; or for sale in
the ordinary course of business. Such properties are
measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are stated at fair value, which reflects market
conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values
of investment properties are included in the statement
of profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-
occupied properties or inventories, the deemed cost of
a property for subsequent accounting is its fair value
at the date of change in use. If a property occupied by
the Group as an owner-occupied property becomes
an investment property, the Group accounts for such
property in accordance with the policy stated under
“Property, plant and equipment and depreciation” for
owned property and/or accounts for such property
in accordance with the policy stated under “Right-of-
use assets” for property held as a right-of-use asset
up to the date of change in use, and any difference
at that date between the carrying amount and the fair
value of the property is accounted for as a revaluation
in accordance with the policy stated under “Property,
plant and equipment and depreciation” above. For a
transfer from inventories to investment properties, any
difference between the fair value of the property at that
date and its previous carrying amount is recognised in
profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. BEXREFHEEX @
(Continued)
Investment properties (Continued) REWE (7)

104

Transfers to or from investment property shall be
made when and only when there is a change in use
evidenced by:

(a) commencement of owner-occupation, for a
transfer from investment property to owner-
occupied property;

(b) commencement of development with a view to
sale, for a transfer from investment property to
inventories;

(c) end of owner-occupation, for a transfer from
owner-occupied property to investment
property; or

(d) commencement of an operating lease to
another party, for a transfer from inventories to
investment property.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at
the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed
for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment annually either individually or at the
cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets are
not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset
with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine
whether the indefinite life assessment continues to
be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life
assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on
a prospective basis.

Customer relationship is stated at cost less any
impairment loss and is amortised on the straight-line
basis over its estimated useful lives of 1.5 years.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an
intangible asset are measured at the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss in the period when the asset
is derecognised.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories, contract assets, deferred tax
assets, financial assets, investment properties and
non-current assets/a disposal group classified as held
for sale), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its
fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a
portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset
(e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an
individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on
a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the
smallest group of cash-generating units.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no
longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset
other than goodwill is reversed only if there has
been a change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an
amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case
the reversal of the impairment loss is accounted for in
accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that
revalued asset.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the
Group;

(if) has significant influence over the Group;
or

(iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of
the Group;
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Related parties (Continued)

or

(o)

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(if)

(vi)

(vil)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of
the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or of a parent,
subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the
other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint
ventures of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related to
the Group; (If the Group is itself such a
plan) and the sponsoring employers of
the post-employment benefit plan;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost of inventories are calculated
using the first-in, first-out method. Net realisable value
of inventories represents the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the
sale.

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise bank balances
and cash (i.e. cash on hand and demand deposits).
Cash equivalents are short-term (generally with
original maturity of three months or less), highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible to a
known amount of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents
are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather for investment or other purposes.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of
cash and cash equivalents, as defined above, net of
outstanding bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management. Such overdrafts are presented as short-
term borrowings in the consolidated statement of
financial position.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position
when a group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value, except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial
asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

110

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

All recognised financial assets are subsequently
measured in their entirety at either amortised cost
or fair value, depending on the classification of the
financial assets. Financial assets are classified, at initial
recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised
cost, fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVTOCI”) and FVTPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the financial asset’s
contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group’s
business model for managing them.

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets subsequently at
amortised cost if both of the following conditions are
met:

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect contractual
cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ—ZE - —F+-_A=+—HILtFE

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

()

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method
of calculating the amortised cost of a debt
instrument and of allocating interest income
over the relevant period.

For financial assets, the effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts (including all fees and points
paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) excluding
expected credit losses (“ECL”), through the
expected life of the debt instrument, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross
carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial
recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is
the amount at which the financial asset is
measured at initial recognition minus the
principal repayments, plus the cumulative
amortisation using the effective interest method
of any difference between that initial amount
and the maturity amount, adjusted for any
loss allowance. The gross carrying amount
of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a
financial asset before adjusting for any loss
allowance.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

()

Amortised cost and effective interest method
(Continued)

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method for debt instruments
measured subsequently at amortised cost.
For financial assets other than purchased or
originated credit-impaired financial assets,
interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of
the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting
periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss
and is included in the “Other income” line item
(note 7).

China United Venture Investment Limited HEHSIREGR AT

EREHEHE@#)

ERMIA(#)
ETHEE (#)
(i) AR BT (&)

MERRBHKAFTENES T
AmE MEBMAKRBERAMXE
EHR-MBEIRENEER
BEeTREENIIEREEMS
MEBAEBHERMEENKR®T
BMEERERMEGFE EHE
EXBEEREN R EERI
(RT3 -sERKBRERRE
MEREEMS  MEBWRATIE
BHEMEEZHHENARAE
BRARER RERBEH W
BEERENEZRITIANEER
pirE FeREETBLERE
ERE AMNBRAREESRE
EREAERBERME A #

N
2
u/mm\ °

MBWAREm PR LA
[EAWAL (BHEET7) »



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ—ZE - —F+-_A=+—HILtFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are measured
at FVTPL. Specifically:

° Investments in equity instruments are classified
as at FVTPL, unless the Group designates an
equity investment that is neither held for trading
nor a contingent consideration arising from a
business combination as at FVTOCI on initial
recognition.

° Debt instruments that do not meet the
amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria
are classified as at FVTPL. In addition, debt
instruments that meet either the amortised
cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria may be
designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition
if such designation eliminates or significantly
reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency that would arise from measuring
assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and
losses on them on different bases.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss to
the extent they are not part of a designated hedging
relationship. The net gain or loss recognised in profit
or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the “other gains and
losses, net” line item. Fair value is determined in the
manner described in note 40.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL (Continued)
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A financial asset is held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose
of selling it in the near term; or

on initial recognition, it is part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has evidence of a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative (except for a derivative that is
a financial guarantee contract or a designated
and effective hedging instrument).

Financial assets at FVTOC/ (debt instruments)

The Group classifies and measures subsequently its
debt instruments at FVTOCI if both of the following
conditions are met:

the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling the
financial assets; and

the contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTOC/! (debt instruments)
(Continued)

The Group’s debt instruments classified as at FVTOCI
includes investments in the entities. Debt instruments
are initially measured at fair value plus transaction
costs. Subsequently, changes in the carrying amount
of debt instruments as a result of foreign exchange
gains and losses, impairment gains or losses, and
interest income calculated using the effective interest
method are recognised in profit or loss. The amounts
that are recognised in profit or loss are the same as
the amounts that would have been recognised in profit
or loss if these debt instruments had been measured
at amortised cost. All other changes in the carrying
amount of these debts instruments are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
under the heading of investment revaluation reserve.
When these debt instruments are derecognised, the
cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit
or loss.

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on
investments in debt instruments that are measured
at amortised cost or at FVTPL. The amount of ECL
is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective
financial instrument.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for loan
receivables. trade receivables, other receivables, cash
and cash equivalent and contract assets. The ECL on
these assets are assessed individually for debtors with
significant balances or collectively using a provision
matrix with appropriate groupings.

For all other financial instruments, the Group measures
the loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless
when there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases
in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.

() Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

() Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

° significant deterioration in external
market indicators of credit risk for a
particular debtor, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor, or the
length of time or the extent to which the
fair value of a financial asset has been
less than its amortised cost;

° existing or forecast adverse changes
in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor;

° significant increases in credit risk on
other financial instruments of the same
debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse

change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease
in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

() Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 30 days
past due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a debt instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition
if the debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk
if i) the financial instrument has a low risk of
default, ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to
meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the
near term and iii) adverse changes in economic
and business conditions in the longer term may,
but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of
the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Definition of default

The Group considers the following as
constituting an event of default for internal
credit risk management purposes as historical
experience indicates that receivables that meet
either of the following criteria are generally not
recoverable:

° when there is a breach of financial
covenants by the debtor; or

° information developed internally
or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group
considers that default has occurred when
a financial asset is more than 90 days past
due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence
that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer
or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default
or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons relating
to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would
not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market

for that financial asset because of
financial difficulties.

China United Venture Investment Limited HEHSIREGR AT

EXg

EILI'

BUR (1)

EWMIT A
EHEE (&)

RIZBEH 58 & BRI FEIF TR EFF
15ay T B EEREMIEF AR E (&)

(i)  1ZERENEHEE

ERL-RAZHEUERMEER
ARKBEEREAETNZENE
MEHE BREELREER
BE-¢REELBREFEHNENE
BERABBEUATEHZ2AERH
&

@ BITALEBERALREX
St R PR 2

) BH(PWEERIBHE
)

) BRANBERARERZR
AHBRMBERESH 2K
B I B T E K
AFEEAMBE R T HRAT
TERBZBEGE:

d) BRABAERESET
H A B 75 0 3k

) HNYBREHEZHME
EHERMISHEX -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ—ZE - —F+-_A=+—HILtFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iv) Werite-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the debtor
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings,
or in the case of trade receivables, when
the amounts are over two years past due,
whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.

v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. As for the exposure at
default, for financial assets, this is represented
by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the
reporting date; for financial guarantee contracts,
the exposure includes the amount drawn down
as at the reporting date, together with any
additional amounts expected to be drawn down
in the future by default date determined based
on historical trend, the Group’s understanding
of the specific future financing needs of the
debtors, and other relevant forward-looking
information.

ERETHEHE@#)

SRMIA(#E)
EHEE (&)

1R E BB 01 5 3 25 2 B ORI 7T 1B AT
i e B EER A E A E (%)

(iv)  WHEE

HWEEMBTRZEHABAR
EVEREBEERREAN KA
(MZZHFHEETERIE
ABERF 3 (B E 5 - YK
H)ZRBRCBHBEME) (K
RREFLERE)  KAEERIME
ERMEE-KEREARABR (W@
R)E CHMEZEmEEMNA B
EHRAEEYEIRZFT Z 58
WITES TAKREBERST
FER -

)  FAERBEREHEEER

FFERHEEERDEENRE .
BHNBEXEE (IMRAOMR
EEBENEE) REORRD K
H-FHEROBERENBERER
RERBELBIBZANELEER
AR -BAREVRR NS/
BEEMS DEEERHSAEH
MEmRE R BEREOM
AXEREERHESAEHE
R e EREMEHER
ARFEDHBH (RBELBE K
SEHEBAZBERKXBRES
K2 R LA K E AR B AT RE 1
BERETE) AR BN -

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 F#f 2022 121



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B BmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 {2 —E - —HF+ - A=+—HILFE

122

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as
the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the original effective interest rate. For a lease
receivable, the cash flows used for determining
the ECL is consistent with the cash flows used
in measuring the lease receivable in accordance
with HKFRS 16 Leases.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance
for a financial instrument at an amount equal
to lifetime ECL in the previous reporting period,
but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no
longer met, the Group measures the loss
allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL
at the current reporting date, except for assets
for which simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
with a corresponding adjustment to their
carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables and contract assets where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through
a loss allowance account, for which the loss
allowance is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the reserve, and
does not reduce the carrying amount of the
financial asset in the consolidated statement of
financial position.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss. In addition, on derecognition of an investment
in a debt instrument classified as at FVTOCI, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the
investments revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit
or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or
at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a
financial asset does not qualify for derecognition or
when the continuing involvement approach applies,
and financial guarantee contracts issued by the
Group, are measured in accordance with the specific
accounting policies set out below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised
cost

Financial liabilities that are not 1) contingent
consideration of an acquirer in a business combination,
2) held-for-trading, or 3) designated as at FVTPL, are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and
of allocating interest expense over the relevant period.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments (including all
fees and points paid or received that form an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter
period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or they expire. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable, including any
non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

Financial assets and liabilities of the Group are offset
and the net amount presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position when, and only when,
there is a legally enforceable right to set off the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties,
derivative financial instruments and equity and debt
instruments at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. Fair value is the price that would be received
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. The fair value measurement
is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability,
or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset
or a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.
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(Continued)
Fair value measurement (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorized
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows,
based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorization
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4.

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the directors of
the Company are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses reported
and disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates. The estimates
and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from
those involving estimations (see below), that the
directors of the Company have made in the process of
applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised
and disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (Continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities
or deferred tax assets arising from investment
properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the directors of the Company have reviewed
the Group’s investment properties portfolios and
concluded that the Group’s investment properties are
not held under a business model whose objective is
to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over time,
rather than through sale. Therefore, in measuring the
Group’s deferred taxation on investment properties,
the directors of the Company have determined that the
presumption that the carrying amounts of investment
properties measured using the fair value model are
recovered entirely through sale is not rebutted. As a
result, the Group has not recognised any deferred
taxes on changes in fair value of investment properties
as the Group is not subject to any income taxes
in relation to the fair value changes of investment
properties.

Classification of joint arrangements

PT & PL China Limited (“PT & PL China”) and PT
& PL Architectural Design Consulting (Shanghai)
Co., Ltd (“PT & PL Architectural Design”) are the
limited liability companies whose legal form confers
separation between the parties to joint arrangement
and the Company. Furthermore, there is no contractual
arrangement or any other facts and circumstances that
indicate that the parties to the joint arrangement have
rights to the assets and obligation for the liabilities of
the joint arrangement. Accordingly, PT & PL China and
PT & PL Architectural Design are classified as a joint
venture of the Group.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4.

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period, that may have a
significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year.

Revenue recognition from contract work

The management estimates the amount of foreseeable
losses or attributable profits of comprehensive
architectural design work based on the latest available
budgets of the contracts prepared by project team
with reference to the overall performance of each
contract work and the management’s best estimates
and judgements.

Due to the contracting nature of the business, revenue
recognition involves a significant degree of judgement.
Notwithstanding that the management reviews and
revises the estimates of contract costs for the contract
as the contract progresses, the actual outcome of
the contract in terms of its total costs may be higher
or lower than the estimates and this will affect the
revenue and profit recognised.

Provision of ECL for loan receivables, trade and
other receivables and contract assets

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for
the loan receivables, trade and other receivables and
contract assets. The provision rates are based on
internal credit ratings as groupings of various debtors
that have similar loss patterns. The provision matrix
is based on the Group’s historical default rates taking
into consideration forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue
costs or effort. At every reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are reassessed and changes
in the forward-looking information are considered. In
addition, loan receivables, trade and other receivables
and contract assets with significant balances and
credit impaired are assessed for ECL individually.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision of ECL for loan receivables, trade and
other receivables and contract assets (Continued)

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the Group’s loan
receivables, trade and other receivables, contract
assets and the ECL assessment are disclosed in notes
25, 27, 28 and 40(b) respectively.

Fair value of investment properties

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s investment
properties amounted to HK$12,700,000 (2021:
HK$13,500,000). The fair value was based on
valuations on these properties conducted by
independent qualified valuers using property valuation
techniques which involve certain assumptions of
market conditions. Favourable or unfavourable
changes to these assumptions would result in changes
in the fair values of the Group’s investment properties
and corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain
or loss reported in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income. Further
details of the fair value measurement of the Group’s
investment properties are set out in note 20.

Estimated useful life of property, plant and
equipment

At the end of each reporting period, the directors
of the Company review the estimated useful life
of property, plant and equipment with finite useful
life. The estimated useful life reflects the directors’
estimates of the periods that the Group intends to
derive future economic benefits from the use of the
Group’s plant and equipment. The residual values
reflect the directors’ estimated amount that the Group
would currently obtain from disposal of the assets,
after deducting the estimated costs of disposal, if the
assets were already of the age and in the condition
expected at the end of its useful life. The carrying
amounts of plant and equipment with finite useful life
as at 31 December 2022 are HK$25,283,000 (2021:
HK$29,825,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4.

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and
impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset is
impaired, the Group has to exercise judgement and
make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether
an event has occurred or any indicators that may
affect the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of
an asset can be supported by the recoverable amount,
in the case of value in use, the net present value of
future cash flows which are estimated based upon the
continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate
key assumptions to be applied in estimating the
recoverable amounts including cash flow projections
and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset (including right-of-use assets), the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash
generating unit to which the assets belongs, including
allocation of corporate assets when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established,
otherwise recoverable amount is determined at the
smallest group of cash generating units, for which
the relevant corporate assets have been allocated.
Changing the assumptions and estimates, including
the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the recoverable
amounts.

As at 31 December 2022, property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets with carrying
values of approximately HK$25,283,000 and
approximately HK$22,584,000 (2021: HK$29,825,000
and HK$25,641,000) respectively. No impairment
losses have been recognised for the year ended 31
December 2022 (2021: Nil).

EXEHABRGEFTABEEZE

fEEt TEEM 2 EERIF (4)
V¥ BERRBREHAELERE

ME - BEMKEAREREEERNX
KBRRAFELRE(WA)IIKR-NE
TEERGRER NEBAED G
EiGst LEBEFE: (NWESEET
EFEEEBENSFHRTAER (2
BEEMNREERDIARTKEEE (B
REEMmMS MRESECAEEMG
MAKRBREEREZREFE) FHF RO
HEFABESERMERANEE EEZR
R BRAESZRERINBEEFEEX
EEAMGEFENEE (BRERREE)
MR E SRR AREEGAZEEMN
BReELABUMALKE SR BRE
AEIEE-BHNIRELEROELE
BE BRIZESERBLEEENR
NREELBEUARNEETTRESHE-
BERRKMGA (BREFTEEIXBRAESR
BABRR)AEREXERROISHE-

R-B-_—_F+-_A=+—8B 9%

BMELEZBULFEAEEENRAES

7l & #925,283,0007% 7T & 422,584,000

BT (ZZT = —4%:29,825,0008 T &

25,641,000 L) - WEBHE_-_T =

F+ A=+ HIEFEBRRBEEE
TR —FE) e
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132

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Net realisable value of inventories

Management reviews the condition of the inventories
of the Group and makes provision for obsolete and
slow-moving inventory items identified that are no
longer suitable for sale. Management estimates the net
realisable value for such inventories based primarily
on the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. The
Group carries out an inventory review at the end of
each reporting period and makes provision for obsolete
and slow-moving items. As at 31 December 2022, the
carrying amounts of inventories were approximately
HK$34,367,000 (2021: HK$58,131,000), net of
impairment provision of HK$12,652,000 (2021:
HK$11,095,000).

Fair value change of unlisted investments

The unlisted investments classified as financial assets
at FVTPL have been valued based on an unobservable
inputs using valuation technique as detailed in note
40 to the financial statements. The valuation requires
the Group to determine the discount rate of present
value of the unlisted investments. The Group classifies
the fair value of these investments as Level 3. During
the year ended 31 December 2022, the fair value loss
of unlisted investments classified as financial assets
at FVTPL is approximately HK$3,088,000 (2021: N/A)
have been recognised in profit or loss. Further details
are included in note 22 to the financial statements.

China United Venture Investment Limited HEHSIREGR AT
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ—ZE - —F+-_A=+—HILtFE

REVENUE 5.

Revenue represents revenue arising on sales of goods,
construction contracts and financial services for the
year. An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year
from continuing operations is as follows:

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts
with customers

For the year ended 31 December 2022

WA

BAEFRAHEEER BEAOLRER
MEEENBA-RUTFE A&EH
KEFBELEEBORADTNT :

(i) PIFREEEHBRA
BE-_ZEZ-_—_#+=-A=+—H

EFE

Contracts of

Sales of comprehensive

connectivity architectural Financial
products services services Total
ZHES
HEERER REEH SRR @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
Revenue from contract with ~ &8 B %R & %8
customers within the 1555 B E A
scope HKFRS 15 EEAHMA
Types of customers EFEH
Original equipment RREEER
manufacturer (‘OEM”) ([OEM] ) B F
customers 164,233 - - 164,233
Retail distributors TENHE 108,383 - - 108,383
Contractors A - 8,270 - 8,270
Corporate customers TERP - - 6,964 6,964
Total @it 272,616 8,270 6,964 287,850
Geographical markets WEmE
Korea ) 81,625 - - 81,625
The People Republic of HEARENE
China (“PRC") (THE]) 5,239 8,270 6,964 20,473
Japan AR 53,073 - - 53,073
The United States of America E 7B 4 RE
(“USA”) ([EE]) 102,431 - - 102,431
Taiwan = 16,690 - - 16,690
Others Hith 13,558 - - 13,558
Total @t 272,616 8,270 6,964 287,850
Timing of revenue LON 42
recognition
At a point in time RERRE 272,616 - - 272,616
Over time BE 5 - 8,270 6,964 15,234
Total zt 272,616 8,270 6,964 287,850
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5.

134

REVENUE (Continued)

U]

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts

with customers (Continued)

Revenue represents revenue arising on sales of
goods and construction contracts for the year.
An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year
from continuing operations is as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2021

5.

WA ()
(i) PIHREFEHRA
WAEFAHEEE

mREEAE

ERRA-RIATEE REBERX
BRFEKEEBNRAIHNT

BE-F=-—-%+t=-A=+—-H

LEFE
Contracts of
Sales of comprehensive
connectivity architectural
products services Total
2EEE
HEERER R%EEH @Er
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FHET FET FET
Types of customers EFRE
OEM customers OEME P 208,657 = 208,657
Retail distributors ZEDHEE 108,589 = 108,589
Contractors T - 22,009 22,009
Total st 317,246 22,009 339,255
Geographical markets HEmE
Korea ZEH 108,037 - 103,037
The PRC H 13,100 22,009 35,109
Japan AR 67,471 - 67,471
The USA ES 94,148 - 94,148
Taiwan 8g 27,547 - 27,547
Others Hith 11,043 - 11,943
Total @t 317,246 22,009 339,255
Timing of revenue PN AT
recognition
At a point in time REBE 2 317,246 - 317,246
Over time e B - 22,009 22,009
Total st 317,246 22,009 339,255
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5. REVENUE (Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

(a)

(b)

Sales of connectivity products

For trading of connectivity products,
the Group sells connectivity products to
OEM customers and retail distributors.
Revenue is recognised when control of
the goods has transferred, being when
the goods have been delivered to the
specific location and confirmed by the
customers.

Contracts of comprehensive architectural
services

The Group provides comprehensive
architectural services to independent
contractors. Revenue from such services
are recognised when a performance
obligation is satisfied over time as the
Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group
and the Group has an enforceable right
to payment for performance completed
to date. Revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation using input
method.

The Group’s service contracts include
payment schedules which require stage
payments over the design period once
certain specified milestones are reached.
The Group requires certain customers
to provide upfront deposits range from
10% to 30% of total contract sum, when
the Group receives a deposit before
comprehensive architectural service
commences, this will give rise to contract
liabilities at the start of a contract, until
the revenue recognised on the specific
contract exceeds the amount of the
deposit received.

5.

WA ()
(i) BFEFEAHANBHEE
(a) HEEEKER
REEERERME &
EBFEOEMEF REE S
HEEEERER WA
RERE R ERER
BERRMNEIEEMEIL
EEPEERE-
b) ZEEERBEHX
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5.

136

REVENUE (Continued)

(i) Performance obligations for contracts with
customers (Continued)

(b) Contracts of comprehensive architectural
services (Continued)

A contract asset, net of contract
liability related to the same contract,
is recognised over the period in which
the comprehensive architectural
services are performed representing the
Group’s right to consideration for the
services performed because the rights
are conditioned on the Group’s future
performance in achieving specified
milestones. The contract assets are
transferred to trade receivables when
the rights become unconditional upon
meeting the billing milestones.

(c) Financial services

During the year ended 31 December
2022, the Group newly engaged in
provision of financial services. For
financial services, the Group provides
financial advisory services and corporate
financial services to entities. Revenue
is recognised in accordance with the
terms and conditions of the service
agreements.

(iiii Transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligation for
contracts with customers

Contracts of comprehensive architectural
services are typically completed within one year.
As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction
price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is
not disclosed.

China United Venture Investment Limited HEHSIREGR AT
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Board of Directors of
the Company, being the chief operating decision
makers, for the purpose of resources allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on
types of goods or services delivered or provided. No
operating segments identified by the chief operating
decision makers have been aggregated in arriving at
the reportable segments of the Group.

Segment information reported internally for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment is analysed based on the class of
customers which is the same as information reported
to the CODM.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments under
HKFRS 8 are as follows:

1. OEM customers

2. Retail distributors

3. Contracts of comprehensive architectural
services

4, Financial services

The above operating divisions constitute the results
from continuing operations by reportable segments of
the Group.

2 EHEFR

RERSERTHDBEETAELD
EoE (MIBEBARE) Mo &
R BT X SR 2 R R RS 2 -
RERAEENAE4 ’\*BHT FTEZ
R 5 A A R 5 A
HE-

RARBEREFERAMARNLE2H 2
DHEHRDEREFERETH N &
MTELERREZHBNERER-

BME AEERBEEEMHREE
85k 2RI 2D #Ba T -

Lﬁﬁ?&%%%ﬁ%ﬁk$’iliﬁ—] ¥ A
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

6. DEER (m)

Segment revenue and results AEMAREE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue UWTAEREERERTEREFELE DS
and results by reportable and continuing operating Bl oMU AR EE ST

segments:

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-S--—F+-A=t+-BLEE

Continuing operations RS
Contracts of
comprehensive
OEM Retail  architectural Financial

customers distributors services services Total

2EER
OEMEF ZENHE BHEH SRER% @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FET
Segment revenue AEBA 164,233 108,383 8,270 6,964 287,850
Segment result DEHEE 5,536 2,407 (9,071) 1,194 66
Unallocated income FoEWE 6,366
Unallocated expenses RABRRX (67,657)
Loss before tax BEAER (61,225)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE-Z-_—F+=ZA=+—HLEE

Continuing operations FFEAREER

Contracts of

comprehensive

OEM Retall architectural
customers distributors services Total

FEHEE
OEME TEDHE &4 Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET FAET
Segment revenue A EHA 208,657 108,589 22,009 339,255
Segment result DEEE 284 3,494 (558) 3,220
Unallocated income RO EKRE 4,744
Unallocated expenses AOERZ (61,398)
Loss before tax BREAEE (53,434)
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment revenue and results (Continued)

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue
generated from external customers. There were no
intersegment sales in the current and prior years.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described
in note 3. Segment result represents the profit or loss
from each segment without allocation of other income,
certain other (losses) and gains, certain impairment
losses of financial assets and contract assets, net of
reversals, change in fair value of investment properties,
share of loss of joint ventures, certain finance
costs, certain selling and distribution expenses,
central administration costs and gain on disposal
of a subsidiary. This is the measure reported to the
chief operating decision makers for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment.

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and
liabilities by reportable and operating segments:

DEER (m)
DEBMARES (&)

XE2HH D EB AR B IR P
Hﬁz]\ RAFERBEFELED FRE
HE -

R R R & 5 BUER BR I RESAT A AN £
Iﬁaﬁﬁ RIER- DR EE KA S
7> &b RO 1B a8 M I & 5 ME@WA =T
Hip (BR)MRE ETEeRMEERS
MEEREBRE (NEED) REME
RV EEY EBEARELEBR BT
MBRA - BETHERSHEAX PR
TTHRRARHE—HHBA ﬂ%%é
EIHERSERRAFHEALTE
REREZWMZFET A

THMEERAE

AT RASEZAIZ2R/NELEDHBE D
MEENRBEDNT:

Segment assets TEEE
2022 2021
—E=-= —EZ—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FiET
Continuing operations HEREER
OEM customers OEMZE P~ 83,082 153,367
Retail distributors TEDHEY 96,111 81,579
Contracts of comprehensive ZHERERBEY
architectural services 12,487 52,482
Financial services & @ ARTE 38,276 =
Total segment assets DEBEE LR 229,956 287,428
Corporate and other assets NEINMHMEE 89,795 129,686
Consolidated assets AHEE 319,751 417,114
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) THEERERE (&)
Segment liabilities DEHERE
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FAET
Continuing operations HEREER
OEM customers OEMZE P~ 66,378 79,541
Retail distributors TEDHEM 8,493 41,395
Contracts of comprehensive ZHEERBEYD
architectural services 5,988 6,279
Financial services ® Bt AR 75 641 -
Total segment liabilities DEEELREE 81,500 127,215
Corporate and other liabilities NEIRHMEE 123,636 116,791
Consolidated liabilities afftasE 205,136 244,006
For the purpose of monitoring segment performances MERSIBEELR D HEHERERT
and allocating resources between segments: =

- all assets are allocated to operating segments
other than unallocated corporate assets,
including loan receivables, investment
properties, interest in joint ventures, certain
right-of-use assets, other receivables, amount
due from a joint venture, and certain cash and
cash equivalent.

- all liabilities are allocated to operating segments
other than unallocated corporate liabilities,
including certain other payables, amount due to
a related company, amount due to a director,
tax liabilities, other borrowings and certain lease
liabilities.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. DEER (m)
Other segment information HihpIHER
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-ZE-_—_F+=-A=+—HLEE

Continuing operations PSR

Contracts of

comprehensive
OEM Retail  architectural Financial
customers distributors services services Unallocated Total
2HES
OEMEF TEAHE RHEH SREH *AE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FEx FEx FEx FEx FEx
Amounts included in the measure st ADBEEHHBEEHE
of segment profit or loss or MesE:
segment assets:
Depreciation of property, plant and ~ #1% - B LR EHE
equipment 2,761) (1,206) 210) (10) = 4,277)
Amortisation of other intangible ~ Ef EH AEL
asset - - - (692) - (692)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE (4,387) (625) - (88) (737) (5,837)
(Impairment)/reversal of loan BUER BEHREMEN
receivables, trade and other BIARANEE (RE)/
receivables and contract assets 36 (42) 67 (3,735) (] 306 (3,412)
Provision of allowance for AREERE
inventories (1,557) - - - - (1,557)
Finance costs B R AR (2,684) (30) - (21) (1,130) (3,865)
Amounts regularly provided to the  EEIRE B4 ERRERER
chief operating decision makers T AR PEEXHHEE
but not included in the measure ~ FtEMEE:
of segment profit or loss or
segment assets:
Share of 10ss of joint ventures EEAELEER - - - = (3,405) (3,405)
Interest income on bank deposits ST F.2 F 8 - - - - 515 515
Interest income on loan receivables &M E 3 2 F 8 A - - - - 834 834

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 £ 2022 141



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eV BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE —Z ——
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Other segment information (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Continuing operations

6. DEER (@)
HioaPER (8)

Bz _Z2-_-F+-A=+t—-HLHFE

Contracts of

comprehensive
OEM Retail architectural Financial
customers distributors services services Unallocated Total
2HEE
OEMEF  TEHHE RiEH SRRE RAE b
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
Amounts included in the FASBERINPEE
measure of segment profitor  FEMLE:
loss or segment assets:
Depreciation of property, plant 1% B E kX ERE
and equipment (2,660) (1,385) (308) - - (4,353)
Depreciation of right-of-use FREAENE
assefs (2,567) (257) - - (230) (3,054)
Impairment of trade and other &% REMERET UK
receivables and contract ANEERE
assefs (343) (179) (901) - (1,389) (2,812)
Provision of allowance for FREERE
inventories (5,054) (2,630) - - - (7,684)
Finance costs BIRA (581) (303) = = (1,008) (1,892)
Amounts regularly provided o EHREELERKERMH
the chief operating decision BRAR HBEELHH
makers but not included inthe ~ BE;tEMEE:
measure of segment profit or
loss or segment assets:
Investment in joint ventures REELERNRE - - - - 3,405 3,405
Share of loss of joint ventures ~ ERAAREERE - - - - (1,789) (1,789)
Interest income on bank deposits 381777 2.2 I 8 M A - - - - 207 207
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. DEER (@)

Geographical information i & & K

The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong, the REBZEBUNRES -+ =K
PRC and Taiwan.

Information about the Group’s revenue from continuing ERAREEREITEPMFERLEXE
operations from external customers is presented BWENERDBREEFHNMENE 2
based on the geographical location of the customers. - BRAALEBEIERBEENERTIR
Information about the Group’s non-current assets is BEENMBUEZY -

presented based on the geographical location of the

assets.

Revenue from
external customers

REMFEEHBA
2022 2021
—=E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Korea 8 81,625 103,037
The PRC s 20,473 35,110
Japan =N 53,073 67,471
USA x 102,431 94,148
Taiwan B & 16,690 27,547
Others HAib it [@ 13,558 11,942
287,850 339,255

Non-current assets

kRBEE
2022 2021
—EC-CfF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FAET
The PRC s 38,526 47,559
Hong Kong BB 22,622 16,282
Others H i [@ 1,057 5,125
62,205 68,966
Note:  Non-current assets exclude investment in joint ventures, Biat: ERBEETBIERGELENKRE:
financial assets of FVTPL and loan receivables. BAFEFABGNeREERERE

Eoy
A °
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. DEER (@)
Information about major customers EBEETEEFNESR
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years HEFEATNEBLBLWATEI10%IUA L
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the ZEPRAMT

Group are as follows:

2022 2021
—E=-= T —F
HK$’000 HK$000
FETT FET
Company A’ A AJA! 41,555 56,776
Company B’ -~ AB! 58,682 72,415
Company C! NS0} 39,991 46,902
Company D! AaD! 43,747 N/AA 3 F2
1 Revenue from sales of connectivity products. L REHEERERZKA -
2 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of c FELFE W A I A AN SR B 4R U A10% BA o
the total revenue of the Group.
7. OTHER INCOME 7. HtgA
2022 2021
—E=-= T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT FET
Continuing operations FEREEK
Interest income on bank deposits IRITIF R EF B U A 515 207
Interest income on loan receivables EWE K2 F B YA 834 =
Rental income (Note a) HEWA (Kita) 2,151 1,836
Government subsidies (Note b) BT AL (K atb ) 597 133
Tooling and sampling T RE& 1,823 2,118
Dividend income from financial assets 2 A FEF ABH 7 E2REEY
at fair value through profit or loss ¥V ON 36 -
Miscellaneous income HMIE A 105 450
6,061 4,744
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OTHER INCOME (Continued)

Notes:

(@)

Rental income arise from the operating leases of its
investment properties of the Group of which lease payment
were fixed. The related direct operating expenses incurred
during the year were HK$483,000 (2021: HK$95,000).

The government subsidies represents salaries and wage
subsidies granted under (i) Anti-epidemic Fund by the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
for the use of paying wages of employees of HK$192,000
(2021: Nil), and (i) Employment Support Scheme provided by
the PRC government of HK$405,000 (2021: HK$133,000).
There are no unfulfilled conditions and other contingencies
attached to the receipts of those subsidies.

OTHER (LOSSES) AND GAINS

Hag A ()

Hrat -

(@)

HEWMAELEAAEELEMENLE
HE HAENRARE FRELEH
BEELERMT483,0008 T (ZE-—4F:
95,000/ 7T ) ©

AT 168 Bh B AR 35 () B 75 45 A1 4T R (& BT B
EMEESRENTFSRIEMA AR
YEE T E192,00087T (T ——4:
) R(NPBEEFIREANRMLET ST
H R ¥ e & T & #Ah405,0008 T (=
——%F 133,000/ 70 ) o WX S RG I
AR ERGEH REMKAEIE

Hit (BB RKE

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Continuing operations HEREER

Net foreign exchange (losses)/gains  [E X (E18) Uz 5 (1,379) 4,397

Loss on write-off of property, WHEME BMERIBZERE
plant and equipment (39) -
(1,418) 4,397
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ—ZE - —F+_-_A=+—HILFE

10.

146

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES OF
ASSETS, NET OF REVERSAL

FINANCIAL 9.

TRMEERESE (NKRED)

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Continuing operations HEREER
Impairment losses recognised/ BT SEER,(BE)K
(reversed) on: BEEE
- Trade receivables — & 5 EWERER 3,601 1,418
— Contract assets —AHEE 117 5
- Loan receivables —ERER 470 =
— Other receivables — Hfth JE S BR SRR (776) 1,389
3,412 2,812
FINANCE COSTS 10. BIER A
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Continuing operations FEREEK
Interest expenses on Ty EIERF S FZ
— Bank borrowings —RITEE 1,725 135
— Other borrowings —HigE 856 918
— Lease liabilities —MHEBE 1,284 839
3,865 1,892

China United Venture Investment Limited HEHSIREGR AT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ—ZE - —F+-_A=+—HILtFE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 11. EER{THAEME
EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the AEEEERETETHAENHFMHOT
year, were as follows:
Retirement
Salaries benefits
and other scheme
Fees benefits contributions Total
Fek RIKER
e Hitgg Al g Foh
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
Year ended 31 December EHE-E=-—f
2022 +=ZA=+-H
tE5E
Executive directors: HiTEZE:
Mr. Wang Li Feng TEELE 1,560 1,390 697 3,647
Ms. Lee Jul-lan’ L30T e 842 - - 842
Mr. Yu Sanlong? Sl e 793 410 8 1,211
Mr. Fan Xiaoling BNREE 1,073 - - 1,073
Dr. Chen Xiaofeng® BREgE e - 585 15 600
Mr. Ni Xian® {737 5 450 - - 450
Mr. Su Guang® B S S - 840 849
Non-executive director: HHTEE:
Mr. Huang Bin® B S 310 - - 310
Independent non-executive  BUHHTEE -
directors:
Dr. Fong Chi Wan, Alex’ HEEEL 60 - - 60
Mr. Sui Fu Xiang? PEfEm LA 20 - - 90
Dr. Yan Ka Shing DRBE - - - -
Dr. Feng Shen? ERETe - - - -
Mr. Wu Lebin' RE F A 206 - - 206
Mr. Xu Lin' LA 198 - - 198
Total @t 5,582 3,225 729 9,536
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ—ZE - —F+_-_A=+—HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 11. EER{THRAEME (&)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
Retirement
Salaries benefits
and other scheme
Fees benefits contributions Total
ek RGBT
k3 HiigFl Al @i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FET
Year ended 31 December HBE-T=-
2021 +=ZR=+-
tFE
Executive directors; HiTEE:
Mr. Wang Li Feng TEELE - 3,309 423 3,732
Ms. Lee Jui-lan’ FHRELL = 1,104 14 1,118
Mr. Yu Sanlong? S e - 732 - 732
Mr. Fan Xiaoling BNRRE - 592 - 592
Dr. Chen Xiaofeng® BREHgE e - - - =
Mr. Ni Xian* {59 5 &+ - - = S
Mr. Su Guang® Bt gae - - - S
Independent non-executive BV HHTEE -
directors:
Dr. Fong Chi Wan, Alex’ AEEEL 120 - - 120
Dr. Yan Ka Shing DRBE - - - -
Dr. Feng Shen? ERELe - - = =
Mr. Wu Lebin™ SR S A0 _ _ _ _
Mr. Xu Lin™ FHh A - - - -
Total @it 120 5,737 437 6,294

148

Resigned on 6 May 2022
Resigned on 29 December 2022

Appointed on 17 February 2022 and resigned on 29
December 2022

Appointed on 4 March 2022 and re-designated as a non-
executive director on 22 November 2023

Appointed on 1 May 2022 and resigned on 29 December
2022

Appointed on 20 February 2022 and resigned on 13 March
2024

Resigned on 17 August 2022
Appointed on 17 August 2022
Resigned on 4 March 2022

Appointed on 20 February 2022 and resigned on 24 July
2023

Appointed on 4 March 2022 and resigned 29 December 2022
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13.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE T -~ +_A=+—HBILtFE

EMPLOYEE’S EMOLUMENTS 12. EIMS
The five individuals with the highest emoluments in the rEEBREERTMALTH AR (=
Group, five (2021: four) were directors of the Company T —F MB)AEXRRESE FE2
whose emoluments are disclosed in note 11 of the MEEREE N ERRMF11HEE-H
consolidated financial statements. The emoluments of H—BATRZZE-_—FHBem T
the remaining one individual of 2021 were as follow:
2021
—_E-—F
HK$000
FAET
Salaries and other benefits FekHEMmEF 519
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RREFIFT B R 87
606

The number of the highest paid employees who are
not the directors of the Company whose remuneration
fell within the following bands is as follow:

T HRERNFARBAEZTNRS H
BEZHBWT:

2021
—E-—F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,000% 7T 1
DISCONTINUED OPERATION 13. BRILREXEYR
Disposal of trading of electronic products HEEFTERESER

operation

Pursuant to a sale and purchase agreement dated 16
June 2021, the Group agreed to dispose the entire
equity interests in Dongguan Asia-Link Technology
Limited (“Dongguan Asia-Link”) to an independent
third party for a total consideration of approximately
HK$122,210,000. On 22 October 2021, the disposal
of Dongguan Asia-Link was completed as the control
of Dongguan Asia-Link was passed to the acquirer.

BEABHA-_Z-_—EXATAEHB
EEWE AEERER —RZBILE
THHEERZETHBFEFERAQA
(RG] )ME2ERE BRENA
122,210,000 T - R=ZZTE=Z—F+ A
ZHZH AR REDEAERED
BERER BEEREDBDTK-
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13.

150

DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued)

13. CRUEREXEK (5

Disposal of trading of electronic products HEEFERESZER (&)

operation (Continued)

The loss for the year ended 31 December 2021 of B2 - —F+_A=+—HLEFE

disposal from discontinued operation is set out below: REDKIEEEER 2 HEBEEH WM
T

2021

—E-—F

HK$’000

FHET

Loss of trading of electronic products

ETERESIEB2FABR

operation for the year (1,653)
Gain on disposal of trading of electronic TEBEFEME S EB WS (#17238)
products operation (nhote 38) 107,885
106,232
The results of the electronic products operation ETEREBR_ZE-_—F—A—H=
for the period from 1 January 2021 to 22 October ZEI—FTAZHZAHECEE (2
2021, which have been included in the consolidated FFAGZEEEREMEERKER) AT
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, were as follows:
Period
ended
22 October
2021
BE
—E-—F
+HA=+=H
IHHA S
HK$'000
FHET
Other income A 467
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHMAX (%)
Administrative expenses TEAZ (2,115)
Loss before taxation BrEL AT E 1B (1,653)
Income tax expenses B R =
Loss for the period from discontinued RAGHEEABEREERIEEEXER 2
operations attributable to owners of HANEE
the Company (1,653)

China United Venture Investment Limited HEHSIREGR AT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE T -~ +_A=+—HBILtFE

DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued)

Disposal of trading of electronic products

operation (Continued)

13. CARAULRBEEK (@)
HEEFEREZELK (&)

Profit for the period ended 22 October 2021 has been HE_ZT-_—F+A-+ZHILHBE
arrived after charging: FITSEEMB T & EEZEE
Period
ended
22 October
2021
BZE
—E-—F
+A=+=H
IEHA S
HK$’000
FiET
Other staff costs Hih8 TR
- Salaries and other benefits —He REMEF 3,455
- Retirement benefits scheme contributions — — iR k& |5t 2 4t 3% 492
Total staff costs B T AN48%8 3,947
Depreciation of e
— Property, plant and equipment — BB KR 641
- Right-of-use assets —EREEE 64
Provision of allowance for inventories IR EEE (BEHEHERREERERN
(included cost of sales and services FXAS)
rendered) 142
Period
ended
22 October
2021
BZE
—E=-—F
+A=+=H
ILHA S
HK$°000
FiET
Other income: Hapg A -
Interest income on bank deposits |ITFERFE WA 3
Miscellaneous income I A 464
467

The carrying amounts of assets and liabilities of
Dongguan Asia-Link as at the date of disposal are
disclosed in note 38.

REDHMRHERRZEERBERE
B FE3B W EE
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14.

152

INCOME TAX EXPENSE X
2022 2021
—E-= —E-_—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Continuing operations HEREER
Current tax: EHABIIE
Hong Kong BB 171 =
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (‘EIT") FEERESH ([DEMERH]) 78 3,072
Income tax expense for the year FAMFRAX 249 3,072

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong
Kong Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of
the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The
profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a
flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits
Tax of the qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25%
on the first HK$2 million of the estimated assessable
profits and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable
profits above HK$2 million.

The Company’s subsidiaries operating in the PRC
are subject to enterprise income tax in the PRC. The
applicable enterprise income tax rate of the PRC is
25% in accordance with the relevant income tax law
and regulations in the PRC for both years, except for
those subsidiaries described below.

Certain subsidiaries operating in the PRC fall within
the Preferential Corporate Income Tax Catalogue in
the specific zone. According to Cai Shui (2014) No.26,
qualified companies in Qianhai Shenzhen-Hong Kong
Modern Service Industry Cooperation Zone are granted
for a reduced enterprise income tax rate of 15% during
the period from 1 January 2014 to 31 December 2020
and further granted for a reduced enterprise income
tax rate of 15% starting from 1 January 2021 to 31
December 2025.

China United Venture Investment Limited HEHSIREGR AT

BIEEBFEHN = &R E BB X
E - 6EREBEEEMNEHE2,000,000H
TL i M) 1% 128.25% &) B K BB - T R B
2,000,000 7T 89 5 F #% £ 16.5% 8 F
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EEEREMNGANBEEIZ165%ME T
MEBR - A GEREEERNY
2,000,000 JT {71 F& 3% Bt 4 71/128.25%
SFE BB - B #2,000,000% 7T
B ET ERR R P B IR16.5%:F B &S
FIEH -

ARBRFELLENMBRRAZHP
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ—ZE - —F+-_A=+—HILtFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

Also, certain subsidiaries operating in the PRC were
accredited as “Cultural Innovation Enterprise” by
the local tax authorities and were registered with
the local tax authorities to be eligible to the reduced
15% enterprise income tax rate for a period of four
years from 2017 to 2021 inclusive and further granted
enterprise income tax rate of 15% starting from 1
January 2021 to 31 December 2025. As a result, the
tax rate of 15% is used to calculate the amount of
current taxation.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at
the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

Income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to
the loss before taxation per the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as
follows:

14.

FEHEX @

N NP EEENETHBEBARES
WREHEAREALBIFEE] B
REMHEBSEEZL TR —+tF
EE - F (BEEREME)BHAE=Z
B1I5%M M AL EMEHME - ERZ
T -—4F—HAF—BE-_Z-_HF+-A
=+ —HE—TERISRH D EMEH
ME-H - 15% 2 METARGEE
HfIE &%

REMADEERELNHRIATIIREEA
ERRABITHEGHE -

FAMSHAXAEGABREREME
B ERNGHABREERNT

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Continuing operations HEREER
Loss before taxation from continuing REFELLEE 2B
operations &8 (61,225) (53,434)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of LAB R TSR R25%E 2
25% Ti1E (15,306) (13,358)
Tax effect of share of loss of joint BIEEECEBBIHBEE
ventures 562 295
Tax effect of income not taxable for ~ FFHEM S BERRBAZ
tax purpose M e (725) (450)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible FFIEM S T Al MR H 2
for tax purpose W E 4,342 751
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised FIER AR IE 2 MG T E 7,166 11,905
Income tax at concessionary rate REBMETEZMER (51) 231
Effect of different tax rates of B H Ath B UK 4 [ A 2 O BT B
subsidiaries operating in other RATRABMENTE
jurisdictions 4,261 3,698
Income tax expense for the year FRAAEHRAX 249 3,072
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 {2 —E - —HF+ - A=+—HILFE

14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 14. FISHBAX @)
At 31 December 2022, certain subsidiaries of RZE_—_FE+-_A=+—HB K&
the Group had aggregate unused tax losses of ETHBARBABABIESER
HK$107,023,000 (2021: HK$81,793,000) available for # /3107,023,0008 T (ZE = — 5
offset against future profits. No deferred tax assets 81,793,000 7t ) AT f 3K 88 K 2K & F o
has been recognised in respect of such tax losses due AR RETBE R B M BA IR E
to unpredictability of future profit streams. As at 31 BERLERBEBEZHABEEHESE
December 2022, tax losses of HK$52,383,000 (2021: E-R-_ZET-_—_F+-_A=+—H
HK$44,424,000) will be expired within 5 years. 15 E51852,383,0008 T (Z T = — £ :
44,424,000 T) KR A FREH -
15. (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 15. FE (FE#B) &R
2022 2021
—E-—F —_ET-_—F
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FiET
Continuing operations FEREEK
(Loss)/profit for the year has been FE(EB),SaM &5k
arrived at after charging: T3 & IBEED
Directors’ remuneration (note 11) EFMe (Hat11) 9,536 6,294
Other staff costs E 8 TRA
— Salaries and other benefits —He hHEMEF 63,714 81,473
— Retirement benefits scheme —RIREFIFH B R
contributions 6,531 2,910
Total staff costs B TR A4 79,781 90,677
Auditor’s remuneration % S A & 1,100 1,100
Cost of inventories recognised BRAEAINEENAE
as expenses 243,606 302,767
Depreciation of e
- Property, plant and equipment — B KR 4,277 4,353
- Right-of-use assets —FRAEEE 5,837 3,054
Amortisation of other intangible asset 4 £ 2 & = # £ 692 =
Rental expenses for short-term leases 52 HiFH S & 5 % 4,593 1,961
Provision of allowance for inventories 1F& % (st AEE R
(included in cost of sales and R RIEACA)
services rendered) 1,557 7,826
Change in fair value of financial FBiRBEmEATEIEREZ
assets at fair value through PREELATEE
profit or loss 5,475 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE T -~ +_A=+—HBILtFE

DIVIDENDS 16.

No dividend was paid or proposed during the year
ended 31 December 2022, nor has any dividend been
proposed since the end of the reporting period (2021:
Nil).

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 17.
For continuing and discontinued operations

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per
share from continuing and discontinued operations

attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

IR =

HE-_Z-_—#+-_A=+—RItFE
VTEENFIEZRNSEAERE  BHE
BHRURTEEZZENEARE (=ZF
Z—F:E) o

BR(BR) BR
REEREXEBRERLREXBMS
ARBEBEANEBEREFELEEBLR

ERIBREXRBNERERNRE TR
TIRBE AT BURAH & -

(Loss)/earnings (BR]) &A
2022 2021
—E-CfF —E-_—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FEr
(Loss)/earnings for the purpose of ARFTEERERREERT
basic and diluted earnings per share  (/&18) /& (61,906) 49,989
Number of shares g 4=
2022 2021
—E-_F T —F
‘000 ‘000
FR Fhg
Weighted average number of ordinary R &+ & 5 /% Z A & 8 5 2 F
shares for the purpose of basic and Y & 3@ IX i F 15 &1
diluted earnings per share 704,000 704,000

No diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31
December 2022 and 2021 were presented as there
were no potential ordinary shares outstanding in issue
for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

HREBE-_T kT =—F+=
AZ+—BULHFEIEEHTEELR
BT EEINHEE_ T __FR_F
T FF+_AZ+RILFENETRE
SEAF -
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17. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued) 17. S8R (EH#8) BF w

156

For continuing operations

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
from continuing operations attributable to the owners
of the Company is based on the following data:

RIEREERBEMS

ARAEBEANEBEREFBERLEET 2
BRERNREEERIREAT BURR

Eanin

2022 2021
—E-= - —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable ~ AARHEB AEEER (E1B)
to owners of the Company ikl (61,906) 49,989
Less: Profit for the year from WREBERIEEEXR
discontinued operation F R - (106,232)
Loss for the purpose of basic and ARFTEREFBELLEERD
diluted per share from continuing FRERANREEEENEE
operations (61,906) (56,243)

The denominators used are the same as those detailed
above for both basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per
share.

For discontinued operation

Basic and diluted earnings per share for the
discontinued operation are HK15.09 cents per
share in 2021, based on the profit for the year
from discontinued operation of approximately
HK$106,232,000 in 2021 and the denominators
detailed above for the basic and diluted earnings per
share.

China United Venture Investment Limited HEHSIREGR AT
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+ A =+—HILFE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. YMX -BERRZHE
Furniture
and Office  Company Motor
Buildings fixtures equipment equipment Machinery vehicles Total

RER BAE  BRE LR

BEh kE RfR Hff  HERHE ERIA fast
HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$00O

TAT TAT TET TAT T TAT TAT

COoST KA
At 1 January 2021 RZB--F

—R—H 60,018 31,980 5,836 3,175 91,748 1,224 193,981
Additions NE 189 - - 2,979 1,004 - 4172
Disposal of a subsidiary ~ H&E—FKER ]

(note 3) (Hi#38) (29,620) (2,957) (271) - (1,424) = (34,272)
Exchange realignment e 1,541 147 64 74 433 10 2,269
At 31 December 2021 and R=ZT=—%

1 January 2022 ZA=1+-H

—ZE-CF
—-HA—H 32,128 29,170 5,629 6,228 91,761 1,234 166,150
Additions nE - 33 80 258 1,382 - 1,753
Acquired on acquisition of YR KB A Rl

subsidiaries (note 37) & (fisr) - - - - - 77 77
Write-off ik - - - - (69) - (69)
Exchange realignment fEH % (2,394) (357) (150) (264) (723) (1) (3,889)
At 31 December 2022 RZE-ZF

+-A=+-H 29,734 28,846 5,559 6,222 92,351 1,310 164,022
ACCUMULATED 2 ERAE

DEPRECIATION AND

IMPAIRMENT
At 31 December 2020 and H-E-F &

1 January 2021 +-A=1+-H

RZZZ-F

—A—H 19,618 29,499 4,031 2,006 87,286 1,224 143,564
Provided for the year FENER 1,368 906 417 976 1,327 = 4,994
Eliminated on disposal of &R B A

a subsidiary (note 36) KM (f17238) (8,955) (2,675) (271) - (1,350) - (13,251)
Exchange realignment BN AR 575 118 20 43 252 10 1,018
At 31 December 2021 and R -E=—%

1 January 2022 +-A=1+-8

R-E--F

—R—H 12,506 27,848 4,197 3,025 87,515 1,234 136,325
Provided for the year ENEE 858 587 424 925 1,473 10 4,217
Acquired on acquisition of  FA Ut E&H B 1 7] 8

subsidiaries (note 37) BE (Hi#37) - - - - - 67 67
Write-off ik = - - - (30) - (30)
Exchange realignment ERAR (1,130) (184) (65) (234) (284) 3) (1,900)
At 31 December 2022 RZE-

+-A=t-H 12,234 28,251 4,556 3,716 88,674 1,308 138,739
CARRYING VALUES RHE
At31 December 2022 ~ W-F==F

+-A=t-H 17,500 595 1,003 2,506 3,677 2 25,283
At 31 December 2021  R-E=—%

+-A=t-H 19,622 1,322 1,432 3,203 4,246 - 29,825
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —“F+ A =+—HILEFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. ME -BERZE @
(Continued)
The Group has pledged certain buildings with a net REEEDEFE TEREFE 48,637,000
book value of approximately HK$8,637,000 (2021: B (ZF = —4:9,892,000% 7T ) 1Y
HK$9,892,000) to secure the bank borrowings of the EBF UREBEAEERITER
Group.
19. LEASES 19. #HE
(i) Right-of-use assets (i) FEHAEEE
Land use
Buildings rights Total
EEREEY T ERE @
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET
At 31 December 2020 and RZE-_ZEE+_A=+—H
1 January 2021 k=2-—-%—-HA—H 1,212 7,616 8,828
Addition NE 22,070 - 22,070
Depreciation for the year FRFE (2,900) 218) (3,118)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 38) & — M B L & (#1:#38) = (2,624) (2,624)
Exchange realignment ERICES 286 199 485
At 31 December 2021 and RZEZ—F+ZA=+—H
1 January 2022 k—E-—F—F—H 20,668 4,973 25,641
Addition NE 4,686 - 4,686
Depreciation for the year FRNE (5,691) (146) (5,837)
Exchange realignment R (1,521) (385) (1,906)
At 31 December 2022 RZB-—F+-RA=+—H 18,142 4,442 22,584
Right-of-use assets of approximately HK$4,442,000 {85 M & = 494,442,000 TTHE (i1

158

represents land use rights located in the PRC
(2021: HK$4,973,000).

The Group leases various offices and factories.
Rental contracts are typically made for fixed
periods of two years, but may have extension
options as described below.

Extension and termination options are included
in a number of property and equipment
leases across the Group. The extension and
termination options held are exercisable only by
the Group and not by the respective lessor.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+ A =+—HILFE

19. LEASES (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

The Group has pledged certain
with net carrying amount of

(2022: HK$4,374,000) to secure the bank

borrowings of the Group.

19. #HE
(i) FRAEEE (&)

land use rights
HK$3,915,000

LAERS A £ E R 171

$%@E%ﬂfﬁ%¥ﬁﬁﬁmﬁi’7
3,915,000 7T (
4,374,000 JU) &)+ Hh {F FA 4 -

2
B A °

— = — —

=

Lease liabilities iy HEaE
2022 2021
—E=-= —EZ—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Current mE 6,756 5,497
Non-current FEMED 12,985 15,558
19,741 21,055
2022 2021
—TEC-CF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Amounts payable under HEaBEETNENEE
lease liabilities
Within one year —F A 6,756 5,497
After one year but within —FREMENRN
two years 5,966 9,498
After two years but within MERERLFERN
five years 7,019 6,060
Less: Amount due for W12 B AR & E R FRIE
settlement within 12 months (RRsaE IET@J/T)
(shown under current liabilities) (6,756) (5,497)
Amount due for settlement 128 A2 B B E M58
after 12 months 12,985 15,5658

During the year ended 31 De

cember 2022,

HEz_ZTZ-_—_F#+-_A=+—H

the Group entered into a number of new lease
agreements in respect of renting buildings
and recognised lease liability of approximately
HK$4,686,000 (2021: HK$22,070,000).

The weighted average incremental rates applied
to lease liabilities range from 0.56% to 8.30%
(2021: from 0.56% to 5.81%).

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 % # 2022

HtFE ASERBAEEFI
ZIENHERE YTHEREES
& 494,686,000 L (=& = —
£ : 22,070,000/ 7T ) °

EARHEAEENMETHES
FEANF0.56%£8.30% (= F
Z—F:0.56%%E5.81%) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —“F+ A =+—HILEFE

19. LEASES (Continued) 19. #HE
(iii) Amount recognised in profit or loss (i) REZHPEINSE
2022 2021
—E-= —E—%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Depreciation charge of FRAREEREER
right-of-use assets
Buildings EENEEY 5,691 2,900
Land use rights T fsh A 146 218
Total BEt 5,837 3,118
Interest expense on HEBEMNBRAX
lease liabilities 1,284 839
Expenses related to HEMAEREENAX
short-term leases 4,593 1,961
(iv)  Others (iv) Hft
During the year ended 31 December 2022, BE_E_—_F#+-_A=+—8H
the total cash outflow for leases amount to IHEFE HENBRERLEEA
HK$10,315,000 (2021: HK$5,322,000). 10,315,000 L (=& = — F:
5,322,000 7T) °
20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 20. REW=
HK$'000
FHEIT
Fair value AF¥E
At 1 January 2021 R—TE-_—F—H—H 14,250
Decrease in fair value recognised REZERZAFERD
in profit or loss (750)
At 31 December 2021 and | January 2022 R-Z=-—%+-_A=+—AK
—E__%—H—H 13,500
Decrease in fair value recognised REZERZAFERD
in profit or loss (800)
At 31 December 2022 RZEZZF+=-A=+—H 12,700
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+ A =+—HILFE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at
31 December 2022 and 2021 have been arrived at
on the basis of a valuation carried out on that date by
Savills Valuation and Professional Services Limited,
an independent qualified professional valuer not
connected with the Group.

The fair value was determined using direct comparison
approach assuming sales of the properties in their
respective existing status and by making reference
to comparable sales evidences as available on the
market. There has been no change from the valuation
technique used in the prior year. In estimating the fair
value of the properties, the highest and best use of the
properties is their current use.

All of the Group’s property interests held under
operating leases to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation purposes are measured using the fair
value model and are classified and accounted for as
investment properties.

The properties were valued using the direct
comparison method using the sales comparison
approach based on recent sales of comparable
properties in the area. The key input under this
approach are the price per square feet on saleable
floor area basis from current year sales of comparable
lots of properties in the area (location and size) and
which maximise the use of observable market data and
rely as little as possible on entity-specific estimates.
During the year ended 31 December 2022, there were
no transfers into or out of level 2 or any other level
(2021: level 2).

There has been no change from the valuation
technique used in the prior year.

An analysis of the Group’s investment properties that
are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair
value, grouped into fair value hierarchy Levels 1 to 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to fair value
measurements is observable is as follows:

20.

BEWE »

KEBEEMER-_ZT__FR_F
——F+_AZ+—BHRAFEDER
HAEEVEBENBLSERIEM
ERME-—AFHETHENEEEMRS
BRARIRZAEITHHBESD-

ARFEDRAERLEBE BRROEY
EREZARNAALBBL2EMZAGFZ
AEHNBRHEREMET -RBEFE
REAZHEESTEZMEZY REFYE
ZAVER MEZESLRERER
B AT & -

AREURERNBAEUARDESHE
ARENMBNXESARERIER
REWE TRABATFEEAAE-

BEELEAWRIEZM R AT L&Y%
R HHE BT REEL B A WS
TEBE-ZAFZEZNETEHAABERZIL
BEEHECVENEFHERE (LE
ERXNBENEERAEREFTENESF
FERRER A& AKREHF AR E
ROMBHEBEIRAERIEETE
BETNEKBE- BEZE-_T-__F+=H
—t+t—HALFE - WESEAREBLE -
BHAEMEMER(ZE_—F:E =
) e

RBEFERBZEETEZHREZ-

RS HERBEATFEFEZAEBK
EYWE(BREATEFEGASRE A
BREENADNTFEBRE—BEZL)
LM
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —“F+ A =+—HILEFE

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 20. REWE (2
Details of the Group’s investment properties and RZEBEZZFR-ZZFE=-—F+=A
information about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 T —H AEEREVENFBLE
December 2022 and 2021 are as follows: BATEERNERMDT
Fair value
as at
Level 2 31/12/2022
R-ZE-Z
+=A
=+—H
-t ] AN
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FET
Commercial properties units NREB R MEEN
located in Hong Kong 12,700 12,700
Fair value
as at
Level 2 31/12/2021
R-ZT——%F
+=A
=+—H
R AN |
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FiET
Commercial properties units UREBZERMEEN
located in Hong Kong 13,500 13,500
21. INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES 21. REELENKRE
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Cost of investment in joint ventures ~ R A & ¥R ER A 5 5
Share of post-acquisition (loss) profit  FE/E Ut B & (BB ) & A &
and other comprehensive (expense)  Efth 2 m (B ) Uz
income (5) 3,400
- 3,405

162 China United Venture Investment Limited $T## &SR EAR A 7




21.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 H{Z —ZE - —F+_-_A=+—HILFE

INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

On 11 January 2017, PT Design International Limited
(“PT Design International”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company and an independent third party
entered into an agreement for the establishment of
PT & PL China, a Hong Kong incorporated company
with issued share capital of HK$10,000. PT Design
International subscribed for 5,100 ordinary shares
in PT & PL China, representing 51% of the entire
issued share capital. Upon the completion of the
capital contribution, the Group holds 51% equity
interest in PT & PL China. The Group has the right to
appoint one out of two voting directors in the Board
of Directors of PT & PL China in which the decisions
about the relevant activities of PT & PL China require
the unanimous consent of the director from both PT
Design International and the other shareholder. In this
regard, the investment in PT & PL China is accounted
for as joint venture of the Group. At the same time, PT

21. REELENKRE &)

RZF—tF—-—A+t—B AQA2E
MERRBERAERARIA ([
BRATER] ) BBYE =KL BE
mik (RE) (—RAREBEZMEALZ D
A HE #/TRA 10,000/ 7T ) 71 3L 1
o BRI ERZBRERMA (PE)
5,100 B@A - (2 M2 HITRAD
B1% - ITER AKEFKFAENEM
MORE)51%ME - RFmt (FE)E
EeTMERARAENESE . — H
THRBAZMAA (P E) B RBHIRE
ARIMERAERREBERERNES
M —EE B RBFEAA(FE)
MBEENAREEEELE AR RE-
BERK(FEEFBEKRLT 2EHB
AAMABEmA (L8) BERFEAER
AR (THREmAR(LB)ZERET]) -

Rt AEBEEZEBZ R A1 %M H#E

& PL China formed a wholly owned subsidiary in the gl
PRC, PT & PL Architectural Design. Hence, the Group
indirectly owned 51% equity interest in this company.
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group had RZEB__FR_ZF-_—-—F+ZA
interests in the following material joint ventures: =t+—B - AEERTIEREERLE
AR
Place of Principal Proportion of Proportion of
Form of incorporation/  place of Class of ownership interest held voting rights held
Name of entity entity registration business shares held by the Group by the Group Principal activity
SRR/ rE@EfEZ &R
1 521 1.3 BRY TEEENE  KERBER RERERLA RAELH TEEH
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-CF —E--F —E-CF —E--fF
PT &PL China Incorporated  Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary 51% 51% 50% 50%  Provision of comprehensive
(AR (RE)FRAF) architectural services
BEGM (E) Rz B Bk EBR REZARERK
PT & PL Architectural Design* Incorporated  PRC PRC Ordinary 51% 51% 50% 50%  Provision of comprehensive
(RERM (LG BERHD architectural services
BRAE)
HREMN (L8 BER Bl PE HE LRk REPERERYE
= English name for identification purpose only. * X ETBERZFY -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —“F+ A =+—HILEFE

21. INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 21. REELENRE W)

The summarised financial information in respect of the YA SEEMEBEAYRAERE
Group’s joint ventures that is material to the Group ABZAEEAECE LY BHRERME
and are accounted for using equity method is set out YW -

below.

31/12/2022 31/12/2021

—SsSE-—F —E-—F

+=A +=A

=+—H =+—~H

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAET

PT & PL China HERA (RE)

Current assets mEEE 35,483 42,821
Non current assets IEREBEE 225 154
Current liabilities MENAR (36,262) (36,299)
Net (liabilities)/assets (afE) BEFE (554) 6,676
Year ended Year ended

31/12/2022 31/12/2021

gz =z

—E=-= —E-—F

+=A +=A

=+-—~H =+—H

IEFEE HFE

HK$’000 HK$’000

FETT FET

Revenue WA 5,848 37,748
Loss for the year FNEE (7,111) (3,508)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income E 2 mE (B ), Wz (119) 9
Total comprehensive expense FHEMSEE (7,230) (3,499)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+ A =+—HILFE

INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 21.

The reconciliation of the above summarised financial
information presented above to the carrying amount of

REBLENKRE 0

L BEERBBERARES

I wRA

AN -—BMAECENREZEEE

the investment in the joint venture is set out as below: ZHERWMOT
2022 2021
—E-= T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Net (liabilities)/assets of the joint AREGEZ (AEFRE) BE
venture FE (554) 6,676
Proportion of the Group’s ownership ~ NE @ RIAE M (FFE) 2
interest in PT & PL China EEEERLD 51% 51%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest N &£ B A 1HE @Ak (R E ) 2
in PT & PL China ZBREE - 3,405

The Group has ceased recognising its share of losses
of the joint ventures when applying the equity method.
The unrecognised share of the joint ventures, both for
the year and cumulatively, are set out below:

AEBREAEDSEZRCORIEEARAER
HERELENER NFEIRAKE
REGEABELEMNBEIINNT

Year ended Year ended
31/12/2022 31/12/2021
BZE H=E
—TE-CF —E - —F
+=A += A
=+—H =+—~H
ILFE IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT

Unrecognised share of losses of REBRERELEELEER
joint ventures for the year 282 -
31/12/2022 31/12/2021
== —E-—F
+=A +=ZA
=+-—~H =+—AH
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET

Accumulated unrecognised share of Rt ABEREMLHAELEEIE

losses of joint venture 282 -

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 % # 2022

165



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —“F+ A =+—HILEFE

22,

166

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

22, BRAVEFABRZZEREE

2022 2021
—E=-= —EZ—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Financial assets measured at FVTPL: & QA F{Ezt A8t E 2
CRAEE:
Unlisted investments (Note (i) ELEWIRE (W) 47 =
Listed securities held for trading: BIEEE LTHESH:
- Equity securities listed in Hong —REBE B EMZRAFES
Kong (Note (ii)) (H7aai)) 1,905 -
1,952 -

Notes:

(i

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
invested unlisted investments at an aggregate consideration
of approximately HK$3,135,000 (2021: nil). The unlisted
investments are held by the Group to collect their contractual
cash flows which are not solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding and to sell these
financial assets. Accordingly, the unlisted investments are
classified as financial assets at FVTPL.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the fair value
loss of such investments is approximately HK$3,088,000
(2021: nil) have been recognised in profit or loss. As at 31
December 2022, the fair value of such unlisted investments is
approximately HK$47,000 (2021: nil).

During the year 31 December 2022, the Group held issued
share capital of Precious Dragon Technology Holdings Limited
(“Precious Dragon”). No dividend was declared and received
during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2022. During
the year ended 31 December 2022, the fair value loss of such
investments is approximately HK$2,387,000 (2021: nil) have
been recognised in profit or loss. As at 31 December 2022,
the market value of the investment in the shares of Precious
Dragon was HK$1,905,000 (2021 nil).

China United Venture Investment Limited I E£HSREGRE A T

HyiE -

(ii)

BE_ZT-_—H#+_-_A=+—HILtFE"
AEE LR ELS,1350008 T (=
T B)REFLETMEE-AKEEE
B LEMEBENKBRESHNESRE
MZzEReEREWIHFERINEE KK
BEASOFEUREEZESMEE-
Al EEmBESBEABEBREBERER
FEINENESREE-

BE_ZE_—_+_A=+—BHI1LtFE"
ZERE /N FEE1E 43,088,000 T

—E--F F)ENBEERR-N=F
ZZFFZ A=+ —B %ZEFELTE
BEWRFELHBAT,0008T (T = —
FiF)o

BE_T-__F+Z_A=+—HL*F
B AEBEBAEREENEZEBRAERA
AI(RERE] )NERITRA-BHE_ZT
Z—FRZEZZF+ZA=+—8L
FE HESEREREARE -BHE=
E-_—_F+-_A=Z+—HLEFE ZFEK
AR A F(EEIE2,387,0008L (=%
ZT—F:F)EREERER - RN_T=_=
F+-_A=Z+—B RREERHHE
B WA A1,905,0008 T (T = —4:
%)o

=
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24,

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+ A =+—HILFE

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSET 23. HtiEEEE
Customers
relationship
EFBRE
HK$'000
FET
COST R A
At 1 January 2022 R-ZE-_—_F—H—H -
Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries RUEE B B A R 1S (A72237)
(note 37) 1,780
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION AND Rt #ERBE
IMPAIRMENT
Provided for the year FRNET IR EE (692)
CARRYING VALUES RHEE
At 31 December 2022 R_E_—_F+-_A=+—H 1,088

Further details of the Group’s customer relationship
arising from business combination are set out in note
37.

BERASBEREBAHMELENE LM
REVE — IR H M RES7 -

GOODWILL 24, HE
Financial
services
< 7l iR 7%
HK$'000
FAET
COST AND CARRYING VALUES RAREREE
At 1 January 2022 RZEZ=ZF—H—H -
Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries RU BB B A RIS S (f14237)
(note 37) 550
At 31 December 2022 R-BE-_—_&F#+-A=+—8” 550

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
acquired 5 financial advisory services companies for
a total consideration of HK$3,764,000. Identifiable
financial advisory services contracts and customer
relationship of HK$1,780,000 were recognised
as intangible asset. The excess of the purchase
consideration over the net identifiable assets acquired
of HK$550,000 was recognised as goodwill.

For the purpose of goodwill impairment testing, the
carrying value of goodwill is allocated to the related
CGU or groups of CGUs which are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the business combination.

BE-_E-_—#+-_A=+—HILFE"
ANEBE 2R (E3,764,0000 T BT
fe] B 7% B8 RS AR 7% 2 B) © A] 34t Bl BA 7% R RS
R & # REF #1%1,780,0000%8 7T i
REBEREE-BEREBEMKE
Bl & EEF E /) = §8550,000/% 7T #E R
BEE-

BEEREFEMS BENREED
EERHBXamn X% a 0 5 B %E /8
BReELEMKREELEUMAR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —“F+ A =+—HILEFE

24.

25.

168

GOODWILL (Continued) 24. BHE
The recoverable amount of a CGU or a group of ReELEBNIRSEESEMARMN
CGUs is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs KWEeBABEATERDEKAMTE
to sell and the present value of the future cash HEEEELANARRBACREREME
flows expected to be derived from the asset. The FHRSE - MATFERLEXAKRE
corresponding impairment loss of a CGU or a group of MRBEENARReRERBERNE
CGUs will not be recognised if either the fair value less HE ATeERReEASEMS—A
costs to sell and the present value of the future cash BEeESEEMNBRRERIE-
flows expected to be derived from the asset is higher
than the carrying value.
Based on management’s assessment, no impairment REEEENTH R _F+=
provision of goodwill was recognised as at 31 A=+ AU EBERAEEBRMERRE -
December 2022.
The value-in-use calculation has been reviewed by FREEFECHB L EEHEMER
Royson Valuation Advisory Limited, an independent FEFBRBERARER -FEREAD
professional valuer. The key assumptions used in the BRI
calculation are set out below:
= pre-tax discount rate of 49.2%; = FATAL 3R ¥£40.2% :
- revenue growth rate range of 0% to 5%; and = WA R ROUESHTE K
= terminal growth rate of 2%. = Bimig R E B2% o
The values assigned to the above key assumptions are il E Ei R REEEEINERIR
consistent with external sources. — B
LOAN RECEIVABLES 25. EWER
Effective
Maturity date interest rate 2022 2021
BB BERAE === —E_—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
RMB5,000,000 fixed-rate loan 24 June 2025 6% 5,544 -
receivables
AR#¥5,000,000tELEYK Z—TE-_AFAZ+WMA
@
=N
RMB15,067,260 fixed-rate 31 December 2023 5% 16,620 -
loan receivables (note 27)
AR®15,067,260CE BEY —T_=F+-_A=+—H
B (Hi727)
Analysed as
2N AE
Non-current 5,544 -
FEMED
Current 16,620 -
mE
22,164 -
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26.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31

mEMBHRHE

December 2022 HiE—E-—F+-_A=+—HILEE

LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued) 25. FEWER @
Included in the carrying amount of loans receivables as RZEZZF+ZA=+—H EK
at 31 December 2022 is accumulated impairment loss EXMNEABEREREAREBEY
of approximately HK$470,000 (31 December 2021: 470,000 L (ZE=Z—F+ZHA="+—
Nil). H:ME) -
Details of impairment assessment are set out in note AREBEFEFIBER W FE40(0) o
40(b).
INVENTORIES 26. BFE
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Raw materials and consumables R K8 R 7,315 18,541
Work in progress FEIR 7,573 18,496
Finished goods LA oh 19,479 21,094
34,367 58,131

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amounts
of the Group’s inventories are net of allowance of
approximately HK$12,652,000 (2021: HK$11,095,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
recognised an provision of allowance on certain slow
moving inventories of approximately HK$1,557,000
(2021: provision of inventories of approximately
HK$7,826,000) and included in cost of sales.

RZE-_—_F+_A=+—H AEH
FEMNREBED MR EED12,652,000
BT (ZEZ—4F:11,095,000/ 7T ) °

BHE-_Z-_—_F+-A=+—BL*#F
E AEEBRRAETHEFTEREBED
1,657,000 L (Z 2 —F T EEH
497,826,000/ 7T) » WEF ASHEM A -
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27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 27. EZRHMEWKWERR
2022 2021
—E=-= —EZ—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Receivables at amortised cost R EX AT ENREIBIERE
comprise:
Trade receivables B 2 IR
— sales of connectivity products —HEERKE®R 45,613 83,011
— provision of comprehensive —REEEEERE
architectural services 10,585 9,157
— financial services — & R AR 75 677 =
56,875 92,168
Less: allowance for impairment of BB S RYGREURERE
trade receivables (11,189) (7,588)
45,686 84,580
Loan receivables (Note a) EWE K (Kita) 16,994 =
Less: allowance for impairment of R BB E B
loan receivables (374) -
16,620 -
Prepayments TE IR 13,042 14,695
Refundable rental deposits REHERS 3,670 2,806
Value-added tax receivables JE W 3B E 3,577 12,465
Receivable from the sale proceed of HE—EHER A 2 HETE
disposal of a subsidiary SRIB 2 E WA - 61,105
Amount due from related parties FE U BEE 5 3B (K aEb )
(Note b) 14,009 -
Amount due from a joint venture R —EEECERE (HiFc)
(Note c¢) 8 7
Others (Note d) Hb (Hatd) 8,114 22,945
42,510 114,023
Less: allowance for impairment of SR ¢ EL b I8 Ui BR RO E B
other receivables (613) (1,389)
41,897 112,634
104,203 197,214
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+ A =+—HILFE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes:

(@) The carrying amount of approximately HK$16,620,000 net
of accumulated loss allowance of HK$374,000 represents
the advance to independent third parties and expected to
be settled within 12 months. The amount is unsecured and
carries interest at 5% per annual.

(b) The carrying amount of approximately HK$13,800,000 net of
accumulated loss allowance of HK$299,000 represents the
advance to a related company - CITIC Guotong Enterprise
Management Co., Ltd.* (“‘CITIC”") (FEBBELEXERERA
7]). Mr. Huang Bin and Mr. Ni Xian, being the directors of the
Company. The amount is expected to be settled within 12
months, unsecured and interest-free.

(c) The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

(d) For the year ended 31 December 2021, the amount of
approximately HK$18,098,000 net of accumulated loss
allowance of HK$321,000 included in others represents the
advance to the independent third parties and is expected to
be settled within 12 months. The amount is unsecured and
interest-free.

* English name for identification purpose only

As at 31 December 2022, the gross amount of trade
receivables arising from contracts with customers
amounted to approximately HK$56,875,000 (2021:
HK$92,168,000)

For the sales of connectivity products, the Group
allows an average credit period ranging from 15 to 120
days (2021: 15 to 120 days) to its trade customers.

As for the provision of comprehensive architectural
services, the Group does not have a standardised and
universal credit period granted to its customers. The
credit period granted to individual customer is within
90 days in general, which the Group considered on a
case-by-case basis, depending on the credibility and
reputation of the customers and as stipulated in the
project contract.

27.

EZRHEMEBWERR @)
HsE

(a) BRI 1B 4916,620,0008 7T (Hk 2515 1B
B H#5374,00078 70 ) MBI E = FER
FEHERI2EARNEE -2 EAER
1 32 F F 5% B o

(b) AR {8 4913,800,0005% 7T (0B Rt E 18
# 1%299,000/ T ) 18 M — R B & R Al 4
FEEBCEEBEARAG([FE])E
FeoARRBEEEHAEERMBEEE %
RBFEEHEN2E R AEE AERKA
LB E -

8

(©) ZERA/EER RERAREREE-

(d) BE-_E-_—+-_A=+—HItFE"
A H B £ %8 4918,098,0005% 7T (1R
R EIE R #321,0008 T BB E
SHEERBF - ESHER12EARE
Ho-pesBAREKRARRE -

v EXEFERBS

RZEBEZZF+=ZA=Z+—H8" X%
BEREFAHNZESRBEREELY
/56,875,000 L (=& = —F:
92,168,000 7T ) °

HRHEERERMS A5ELTHE
ZEFZFHEEHRNF1621208 (=
T —F:15E120H) °

MRERHEEEEREME AKBEAE
MEEPETHRELS -—NEEH K
TENEFHNEEH -—R/OAAR K
SERBEFPNEEMBENRERS
KR ERERIBERE S -
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27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 27. BEZRHMEWERR @

ATRRBEHRREZAHEINE
2 EUWRR SR (N FR B 5 8 Wk FORU{E 7

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables
net of allowance for impairment of trade receivables,

presented based on the invoice dates, at the end of ) B BRER DT -
the reporting period.

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
0-30 days 0%30H 42,895 32,742
31-120 days 31E120H 1,839 45,610
121-180 days 121£180H 101 6,090
Over 180 days HiE180H 851 138
45,686 84,580

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note

B BB R {4 80 5 B LR KT -E40(b) ©

40(b).
28. CONTRACT ASSETS 28. GHEE
2022 2021
—E=-= —E -
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Provision of comprehensive REEHEERS
architectural services 4,996 5,266
As at 1 January 2021, contract assets amounted to RZEBE-_—F—A—B AHEEAE
HK$3,052,000. 3,052,000 T °
172 China United Venture Investment Limited S £ & REGR A 7
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mEMBHRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+ A =+—HILFE

CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued)

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s right
to consideration for work completed and not billed
because the rights are conditioned on the Group’s
future performance in achieving specified milestones at
the reporting date on the comprehensive architectural
services. The contract assets are transferred to trade
receivables when the rights become unconditional.
The Group typically transfer contract assets to trade
receivables upon achieving the specified milestones in
the contracts.

The Group classifies these contract assets as current
because the Group expects to realise them in its
normal operating cycle.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, approximately
HK$122,000 (2021: HK$5,000) is recognised as
provision for expected credit losses on contract
assets. Details of impairment assessment are set out
in Note 40(b).

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalent comprise short-term bank
deposits with the original maturity of six months
or less of HK$6,786,000 (2021: 3 months or less
of HK$52,000) at fixed interest rates ranging from
1.25% to 3.60% (2021: 0.32% to 0.66%) per annum
and bank balances of HK$99,604,000 (2021:
HK$83,606,000) at variable interest rates with effective
interest rates ranging from 0.25% to 0.625% (2021:
0.01% to 0.30%) per annum and cash balances of
HK$94,000 (2021: HK$474,000).

Detail of impairment of bank balances and short-term
bank deposits are set out in note 40(b).

28.

29.

EHNEE

BREETEZEEBRASEND TK ALK
METRURKENEN RESEH
BAMNBUANRASERBERHEREE
EERKEEEREEOARARKRR-NEA
RN SEGER SHNEEERE
BOREER AEEBEREIRE
BERER BANEEEREZEEFIRENR
AR e

AEEBEEANAESEARD R
BAREBENN - REERNNER
HEAE-

BE-_E-_—#+-_A=+—RHILFE"
#9122,0008 7L (ZF = — 4 : 5,000/8
TR EANEEEHEEBBEG-
£ BRER SO FBERK FE400)

RERERREEHE

ReMERASEEBERIEBAAN
& A s A T 2 52 HidR 7777 706,786,000
T (ZZT - —4%: =@ A =L 752,000
BIL)IEEEFFEN F1.25%F3.60%
TFE - —F:0.832%%0.66% )it B K
R 17 4% £299,604,0008 T (=& — —
F 183,606,000/ 7T0) ILIZ B F FEN T
0.25%%0.625% (—ZE = — % :0.01%
20.30% )&t B kIR & 4 £:94,000/8 T
—E - — 474,000 7T) °

RITEREEBETERNREF B
A K 5E40(b) °
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o)

30.

174

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 30. EZRHMEMER
2022 2021
—=E=-= —ET - —4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Trade payables (Note a) B SRR (Mita) 38,733 67,991
Staff salaries and welfare payables ENEIHSREF 6,817 15,016
Refundable rental deposits AREEERS 298 323
Value-added tax and other tax EE T B b S B IE
payables - 855
Accrued operating expenses BRI E R 17,509 35,053
Amount due to a director (Note b) I —REERIE (Hitb) 210 =
Amount due to a related company e — R AR A R I8 (M ite)
(Note c¢) 267 -
Others (Note d) Hth (H7atd) 7,577 17,950
71,411 137,188

Notes:

Included in the amount of trade payables as at 31 December
2022, approximately HK$772,000 (2021: HK$838,000)
represented the amount due to a related company -
Architecture Design (Shenzhen) Company Limited (“PT
Shenzhen”)* (HAEZEZREF OXY) BB A F]). Mr. Wang Li
Feng, a director and a shareholder has an indirect equity
interest of 17.5% (2021: 27.6%) in PT Shenzhen.

The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayment on
demand.

The amount due to a related company — PT Shenzhen. Mr.
Wang Li Feng, a director and a shareholder has an indirect
equity interest of 17.5% (2021: 27.6%) in PT Shenzhen.
The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayment on
demand.

Included in the others in 2021, approximately HK$4,892,000
(2021: HK$14,140,000) represents the amount due to
Dongguan Asia-Link, which was disposed in 2021.

* English name for identification purpose only

China United Venture Investment Limited I E£HSREGRE A T

R-ZE-_—_F+-_A=Z+—HWESH
FEREZRESEF  £772,0008 T (=ZF

— — 4% :838,0008 L) AR A A
ERERFT CRIDERAR ([HE
I BRI - é%&zﬂﬁ%z&ﬂé?ﬁi
RABZEINEB175% (ZT - —F:
27.6% ) [ B I #e -

ZEBEREER REMERERER-

ENBERRMBRIKE-BEERK
REBEEENABRYNEF17.5% (=
E_—F276% ) MERE-ZEER
EAKI - 0 B R BEREE -

RZTEZ—F EMBEEN R R
H) 7% TE #74,892,0008 T (—Z T = —F ¢
14,140,00087t) RETHBER T
T—FELE-

v EXEFERBS
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TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 30, EFRHEMESERER @
The following is an aged analysis of trade payables LWTARBRERAREZEZAHPENNE
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the SRR RR DT -
reporting period.
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Trade payables B SRR
Within 30 days 30H A 13,190 33,169
31-90 days 31%290H 13,514 23,289
90-150 days 902 150H 4,178 4,363
Over 150 days Hi@150H 7,851 7,170
38,733 67,991
The Group has been granted an average credit period AEEXNMEFTERESHERGTZ
ranging from 30 to 150 days from its trade suppliers FHEEHN FI0E150H °
for both years.
CONTRACT LIABILITIES 31. BHEE
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FHEIT
Sales of connectivity products HEERED 2,793 1,645
Provision of comprehensive RHEEEERS
architectural services 214 18
Total #Et 3,007 1,663
2022 2021
—EC-CF =FE=—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Current & 3,007 1,663
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31. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued) 31. EHEEw
As at 1 January 2021, contract liabilities amounted to RZEZ—F—-—HA—HB a8HEEAR
HK$1,556,000. 1,556,000/ JT °
The contract liabilities include (i) advances received EHEEBRRE)ARNNERE @ im W E
to deliver the connectivity products and (i) advances ) 2 51 K (i) A BR A 2 TE A 2R AR 7S AR
received to render comprehensive architectural FOE= /)
services.
Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 REEERERME RBEEZT==
December 2022 that was included in the contract F+ A=+ —HIEFERRWTAF
liabilities at the beginning of the year is HK$901,000 HEHEBEZWAAEI,0EBT(ZE
(2021: HK$419,000) in respect of sales of connectivity ~——%:419,000/& L) °
products.
32. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 32. SHBITREMER
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Bank borrowings RITE K 41,428 43,127
Loans from a related party BB T B R 2,188 =
Other borrowings E M ER 36,624 8,548
80,240 51,675
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Analysed as: DR
Secured BEA 41,428 43,127
Unsecured EIEA 38,812 8,548
80,240 51,675
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+ A =+—HILFE

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued) 32, S|ITRHMER @

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Carrying amounts repayable*: AR T HEEENREE"
On demand or within one year BERIR—FNR 70,314 51,675
After one year but within two years —FEWF 1,354 =
After two year but within five years WEERF 8,572 =
80,240 51,675
* The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates * B2 BB TR IE B 1 55 B & iy 51 2 8
set out in the loan agreements. HHREE -
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Amount shown under current liabilities FI{EREN B E S % 70,314 51,675
Amount shown under non-current TIEERBIBES R
liabilities 9,926 -
80,240 51,675
2022 2021
—E-= T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Fixed-rate borrowings EBEER 68,961 51,675
Variable-rate borrowings FEER 11,279 =
80,240 51,675
The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also AREBEZNEREMNNXR (MERE T
equal to contracted interest rates) on the Group’s R)EEEHWOT :

borrowings are as follows:

2022 2021
—E-—F —E - —
Fixed-rate borrowings EEMER 2.00% to 2.90% to
4.20% 18.00%
2.00%%4.20% 2.90%%18.00%
Variable-rate borrowings FEER 4.60% -
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32. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued) 32, SBITRHMER @

178

The Group’s bank and other borrowings that are
denominated in currencies other the functional
currencies of the relevant group entities are set out
below:

AEBLERSEERIREERE I
BEIEZRTREMEREINWT

2022 2021

—EC-CF —ET -5

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

HK$ BT 43,624 15,593
RMB AR 36,616 36,082
80,240 51,675

The bank borrowing of approximately HK$7,000,000
(2021: HK$7,045,000) is guaranteed by a subsidiary of
the Company — Glory Mark Electronic Limited.

The bank borrowings of HK$34,428,000 (2021:
HK$23,851,000) is secured by the Company’s land
and buildings with aggregate net carrying amount
of HK$3,915,000 (2021: HK$4,374,000) and
HK$8,637,000 (2021: HK$9,892,000) respectively.
The bank borrowing is used to finance the future
development project.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the other
borrowings of approximately HK$36,624,000 are
borrowed from a related company. The Group
has signed two contracts Goldstone Investment
Management Limited (“Goldstone”), indirectly owned
by the non-executive director of the Group.

Goldstone is indirectly owned as to 60% by Mr. Huang
Bin, the non-executive Director of the Company; and
(i) indirectly owned as to 40% by CITIC International
Assets Management Limited (FEEBREEEEAR
A (“CIAM”). CIAM is a company incorporated in
Hong Kong with limited liability and is a non wholly-
owned subsidiary of CITIC International Financial
Holdings Limited (F {5 BIFR & B %R B BR 2 &) (“CIFH).
CIAM is principally engaged in equity investment and
asset management. The principal was lent during the
year and repayment was made within 12 months.

China United Venture Investment Limited I E£HSREGRE A T

RITHE 47,000,000 T (T = —
F:7,045,000/ 7T) T BB A QA B A
RERETERARIIRMEER

fRITHE 34,428,000 T (— T - —4F:
23,851,000/8 7t ) Jy LA A A &) BR M JF B
2R A3,915,0008 Tt (=& = — &
4,374,0005% 7T ) %8,637,000/8 7 (=&
— —%:9,892,0008 L) R EF
EIE - BERITIERTIB R B AR KE
REEREES-

BE-T-_—_F+-_A=+T—HLFE"
H th £ 3% 4936,624,0008 7Ty 5 — [ B8
BRARAMBA-AEECEANEEIFEHTIT
EEMERENCOREERAERAA
(&R EEMHEL-

EANBARARFATESERLER
BHE0% (AP EEKREEE R
ERAR (R EEREEER])EE
B’EHEIO% P EEREEEER —HER
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33. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY

33. EEZEBREEE

Amortisation
of intangibles

assets
B EEEN
HK$'000
FET
At 1 January 2022 RZE-Z=—F—H—H -
Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries UK BB BT B A RIS (H13237)
(note 37) 445
At 31 December 2022 RZEZZF+=-HA=+—H 445
34. SHARE CAPITAL 34. BX
Number Share
of shares capital
BB N
‘000 HK$°000
FRR FET
Ordinary share of HK$0.01 each SRRMEE0.01E T 2 T il
Authorised: EE
At 1 January 2021, RZE—F—H—H-
31 December 2021, —E-—F+-_A=+—8"
1 January 2022 and T _F-A—HK
31 December 2022 —E-_—_F#+=-A=+—H 10,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRHBR:
At 1 January 2021, RZE-_—F—H—H"
31 December 2021, —EF—4F+=ZA=+—8"
1 January 2022 and —E-__F—A—8Ak
31 December 2022 —E-_—_F+-A=+—H 704,000 7,040
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o)

35.

36.

180

OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS 35. REMREW
The Group as lessor AEEREHMEA
The Group leases out investment properties and AEERECEHELHREMERE
buildings under operating leases. The leases typically FoHEMYIBHRE —MKB2EIF I
run for an initial period of 2-3 years, with an option AEEEZA R EENE BRgE
to renew the lease after that date at which time all FEEEER -HEMNKR —RE2E3
terms are renegotiated. Lease payments are usually FEM—R B mEHEE - BEL
increased every 2-3 years to reflect market rentals. MEEREUEHEN K-
None of the leases includes variable lease payments.
Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable RBEBHEERN T AIHECERE
operating leases in place at the reporting date will be TH TR B3R & 3088 57 K 2k BB
receivable by the Group in future periods as follows: REBWE FHBEHOT:
2022 2021
—E=-= —E - —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FiET
Within one year —F A 1,236 2,223
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRHREMFTNRN 220 1,087
After 2 years but within 3 years MERE=ZFN 220 =
1,676 3,310
RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS 36. EIKERE

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme and a retirement benefit scheme for all
qualifying employees in Hong Kong and Taiwan,
respectively. The assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the Group, in funds under the
control of trustees. The Group contributes 5% and 6%
of relevant payroll costs to the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme and the defined contribution retirement
benefit scheme, respectively, in which contribution is
matched by employees.

China United Venture Investment Limited I E£HSREGRE A T

AEEDREENBEMEARERRE
BRRHE SRR S 8RR IS FIET
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (Continued)

Eligible staff of subsidiaries operating in the PRC
currently participate in a central pension scheme
operated by the local municipal government. The
subsidiaries in the PRC are required to contribute
10% of the covered payroll of its employees to the
central pension scheme to fund the benefits. The
local municipal government undertakes to assume the
retirement benefit obligations of the eligible employees
of the PRC subsidiaries.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the total
contribution charged to profit or loss amounted to
approximately HK$7,260,000 (2021: HK$3,347,000).

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
acquired 100% of the issued share capital of State
Venture Investment (HK) Holding Limited (“State
Venture HK”) and 51% of the issued share capital of
its subsidiary, E EEKEXNEEEREBRAA (‘G E
BI1%") (hereinafter collectively “State Venture Group”)
for consideration of HK$3,764,000.

The acquisitions have been accounted for using the
acquisition method. The amount of goodwill arising
as a result of the acquisition was approximately
HK$550,000. State Venture Group is engaged in the
provision of financial services. State Venture Group
was acquired so as to continue the expansion of the
Group’s financial sector.

Consideration transferred

36.

37.

RUKBREE
RPEEEZHBRARICAERERR
A2EMEMTRFER 2T RERE
AE-PENE R /,\&fééiﬁ@ﬂﬁ@%ﬁ

Z1O%|JTEP9%5ET7FiEJr§|H LM’EF%
BRABHNAEZES - E iﬂzmﬁﬁ(ﬁ%
BERTEMNBARAERERRMIE
USEER

ﬁi—=::¢+—ﬁ_+—a

¢¢J* BEEZHNROERIBEN A
7,260,000/ 7T (:2:—¢ : 3,347,000
WIT) °

W B8 Bt B 2 F

BE_T-_—_F+-_A=+—BILEE"
K % B/ Y B State Venture Investment
(HK) Holding Limited ( [ State Venture
HK])100% BB TR AR EWB AR H
EEKRKEEEEARA A ([E5H
1) (%78 [State Venturef(2@ ] )51%
BEITIRA - {8 /3,764,000 7T °

WEEHARBEAR - KBEENH
£ $ 584 /550,000 JT ° State Venture
SENERES RS BEState
Venture S B E T #EEEAEBE N TR
Ei

EEENE

State
Venture
Group
State
Venture
=
HK$'000
FET

Cash B

3,764
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37.

182

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 37. WEHB2RT @
Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the RUWEBRHEWBEERCEIRAEESR
date of acquisition are as follows: 2R N
State
Venture
Group
State
Venture
5
HK$'000
FHET
Property, plant and equipment YW BB REE 10
Other intangible asset (Customer relationship) Efb R & E (BFMIE) 1,780
Other receivables H b fE AR 3R 1,475
Cash and cash equivalents ReRERBRSIEER 4,013
Other payable H fth JE T BR 3K (58)
Amount due to the former owner RIS AFKIE (265)
Deferred tax liability REHIBEAE (445)
6,510
Goodwill arising on acquisition: WEBELECHE:
State
Venture
Group
State
Venture
&=
HK$°000
FHEIT
Consideration transferred BEERE 3,764
Add: non-controlling interests 3R ER (KRB AR Z249%)
(49% in subsidiary) 3,296
Less: net assets acquired B EWEEESE (6,510)
Goodwill arising on acquisition WHEEECHE 550

China United Venture Investment Limited $T## &SR EAR A 7
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ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
Goodwill arising on acquisition: (Continued)

Goodwill arose in the acquisition of State Venture
Group because the cost of the combination included
a control premium. In addition, the consideration paid
for the combination effectively included amounts in
relation to the benefit of expected synergies, revenue
growth, future market development and the assembled
workforce of State Venture Group. These benefits are
not recognised separately from goodwill because they
do not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable
intangible assets.

The non-controlling interests 49% in State Venture
Group recognised at the acquisition date was
measured by reference to the fair value of the non-
controlling interests and amounted to approximately
HK$3,296,000. This fair value was estimated by
applying an income approach. The following were the
key model inputs used in determining the fair value:

- discount rate of 15.20%;
- terminal growth rate of 2%; and

S assumed adjustments because of the lack of
control or lack of marketability that market
participants would consider when estimating
the fair value of the non-controlling interests in
State Venture HK and & & B #%.

37.

U BB B A A ()
WHBELEZEE: (&)

SRR N e 2l v = R O g
State Venturesx B E £ EZ - o 5
AR INREEZRBREEBEEBHRE
RRE - A IS R - R 2R T 5 B R K State
Venture S Bl EBMANEBEBE I ZN €
BozENamBATHEaN @A EREE
MERIZEMAIB LA EBER -

MU B8 B #E R M State Venturet: E49%
I HER IR EFETHESNATF
B2 €54 53,296,000 L Z A
FEDDEAKRSZAGBT A TAHEAEEA
AP A R SR AR AL 8 A B ¢

— BE3I8 K15.20% :
= BImEREEREB2% &

- A A EtState Venture HKE S & H
B EEREZHAFER T
B2 WA S E EE RS E SR
MHERBENTMIELBREAE

\!

o
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37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 37. WEHB2RT @
Net cash inflow on acquisition of State Venture W iEState Venture R B 2B &K A F
Group: L
HK$'000
FHET
Cash consideration paid BEBESKE 3,764
Less: cash and cash equivalent balances W EWEREeMERRSEE &5
acquired (4019
(249)
Included in the loss for the year is profit of FRNEEBERF2,5658,000% 7T - Th 5
HK$2,558,000 attributable to the additional business E 7 State Venturee B & £ B FEIN TS ©
generated by State Venture Group. Revenue for the F U A B FEState Venturets B E £ 8
year includes HK$6,964,000 generated from State 6,964,000/ JT °
Venture Group.
38. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 38. HE—HKELQA
For detail in note 13, the Group disposed of its entire rEER-_ZTE-_—F+A-_+-_AEE
investment in the Dongguan Asia-Link on 22 October ERRETHNEHERE FEEWTE
2021. 13 @
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DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

The net assets of Dongguan Asia-Link at the date of
disposal were as follows:

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which

38.

HE—BHB QR @

RETHRME B BOEEFENT

RERHENEEREB 2N

control was lost

Period
ended

22 October

2021

BZE
—E-—F
+HA=+H
ZHE
HK$'000
FHET

Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents
Other payables

Release of translation reserve upon
disposal of a subsidiary

Net assets disposed of

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary

EN S
EREEE

H A 8 U BR K
RekFERAEEEB
H A 8 5 BR 3K

P — RSB B A B BRE R BR OB IB (R 88

EHEEEFRE

HE—BME QR WS

21,021
2,624
11,419

1,351
(4,370)

32,045

(2,828)

29,217

Period
ended

22 October
2021

BZE

ot S S
+THA=t1H
ZHE
HK$'000
FHEIT

Cash consideration
Net assets disposed of
Wavier of the intra-group transactions

Gain on disposal of Dongguan Asia-Link
(note 13)

BEHE
EHEEEFE
REeEEARAHERXS

HER I 2 W (A16£13)
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122,210
(29,217)
14,892

107,885
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REMBHRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —“F+ A =+—HILEFE

38. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued) 38. HE—HKWEAT
Net cash inflow arising on disposal of a subsidiary HE-—BHBARELEZRERANTE
2021
—E-—F
HK$’000
FHET
Consideration received in cash and ReRERBLEEEKWRE
cash equivalents 122,210
Less: Receivable from the sale proceed of  Jg: [EW HE — KB R R ZEEMSHKIA
disposal of a subsidiary (61,105)
Less: cash and cash equivalent disposed of & :EHERE MERIIRETIER (1,351)
59,754
The impact of Dongguan Asia-Link on the Group’s RETHHEASERNBTHECEXEZ
result in the prior periods is disclosed in note 13. BN 135 EE -
39. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 39. EXxERER
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in AEBEEREER UBERASEAZ
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern ERGAUFELCE ARERENLER
while maximising the return to stakeholders through &HXZIK ER L MEMEEE 2B WM& A -
the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The AEEBEEXKEFFEHFIE
Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior
year.
The capital structure of the Group consists of trade RTEBZ2EARBOREE S R EMEN
and other payables, lease liabilities, bank and other EX-HEAE RITEEMER 54

borrowings, contract liabilities, net cash and cash
equivalents, and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital, various
reserves and retained profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital
structure periodically. As part of this review, the
directors of the Company consider the cost of capital
and risks associated with each class of capital. Based
on recommendations of the directors of the Company,
the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through the payment of dividends, new share issues
as well as issue of new debts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+-_A=+—HLLFE

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 40. €®mIA
(a) Categories of financial instruments (@) =®MIASDE
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Financial assets EWMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost HESE KA E 2
(including cash and cash equivalent) & REE (BFEEEX
ZRFELER) 199,612 254,186
Financial assets at FVTPL BRBEEEAFEY R
ZEMEBEE 1,952 =
201,564 254,186
Financial liabilities EA =R
Financial liabilities at amortised cost M §5 K A 5T 2 #Y
LHEE 171,392 209,063
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and b) =<REREEEEREX

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
financial assets at FVTPL, trade and other
receivables, cash and cash equivalents, loan
receivables, trade and other payables and bank
and other borrowings. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial
instruments included market risk (currency risk
and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. The management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.
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REMBHRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —“F+ A =+—HILEFE

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 40. €MIAw®
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) SEEREEBRZRBERM
policies (Continued)
Market risk -
Currency risk B b

188 China United Venture Investment Limited $T## &SR EAR A 7

Several subsidiaries of the Company have
foreign currency sales and purchases, which
expose the Group to foreign currency risk.

The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, the
management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign exchange exposure should
the need arises.

AR Az B K E R A HEE ASH
BErEMHEERKE KMER
SBASINER R

ZANE S 1B R i VAN o
Re-RM AEBEEEE—EER
PE R XA N R B R
T EHMERM

2022 2021
—EC-CF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Assets BE
USD (Note) E7T(Hat) 5,555 7,812
New Taiwan dollar (‘NTD”) e - 1,143
RMB AR 8,188 304
Liabilities =K
NTD etk 152 3,219
RMB AR 22 24
Note: HBiat -

Functional currencies of the respective subsidiaries are RMB/
HK$. Since HK$ is pegged to USD and immaterial monetary
items denominated in USD against the functional currency of
RMB, no sensitivity analysis is presented.

HEMBRARZHEEERARE B
TTemMN BT EETAS B AZTEHE
ZEBBERRDREEARBKLTER
B 8 2 5 GURE D #7
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+ A =+—HILFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 40. €W I A
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b)) 2REAKEEEEREERE)
policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued) mE R (&)
Currency risk (Continued) B b (&)
The following table details the Group’s sensitivity TRFNAEBHETHARE
to a 5% (2021: 5%) increase or decrease in EKFoaBAEXLZESY (ZF
USD against RMB and NTD. 5% (2021: 5%) is ZF 5% ) MBRE - BEE
the sensitivity rate used by management for the HAEEAEMEXREHFMAN
assessment of the reasonably possible change BREELEAE% (T —4&F:
in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity 5%) BMRESPMRBERTEHE
analysis includes only outstanding foreign MIINEHBEERER WERSF
currency denominated monetary items and RIEERBSR (Z T = —F:
adjusts their translation at the year end for a 5% 5% ) ZEEHBRETUFHAE-UT
(2021: 5%) change in the foreign currency rates. FE (A ) XRTRBER MG M
A positive (negative) number below indicates an (RP) (ZEZ—F:HEBE
increase (a decrease) in post-tax profit (2021: a A (M) ) - HAhB#ENEE
decrease (an increase) in post-tax loss) where kS A E S AESN (ZF = —
the respective functional currencies strengthen F:5%) PETHB@INE R
by 5% (2021: 5%) against the relevant currency. B5% (ZE=_—F:5%)f5F "
For a 5% (2021: 5%) weakening of US$ against HEENREMmEREERSH
the relevant foreign currency, there would be MHREZ BN TE®RBERE
an equal and opposite impact on the profit and 2o
other equity and the balances below would be
negative.
Impact of RMB Impact of NTD
ARBzEE HaMzEE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—EC-CE g% —E-_C-E —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FET
Impact on (loss)/profit ¥ A (E518), /5% Fl
for the year A% 306 11 (6) (78)
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40.

190

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk in relation to variable-rate cash and
cash equivalents and variable rate bank and
other borrowings (see note 29 and note 32).
The Group currently does not have an interest
rate hedging policy. However, the management
will consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arises.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to interest
rates for the bank and other borrowings at
the end of the reporting period. The analysis
is prepared assuming the bank and other
borrowings outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the whole
year. A 100 basis point (2021: 100 basis point)
increase or decrease is used when reporting
interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change
in interest rate.

If interest rate had been 100 basis points (2021:
100 basis point) higher/lower and all other
variables were held constant, the Group’s post-
tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2022
would increase/decrease by approximately
HK$94,180 (2021: increase/decrease by
HK$58,450).

China United Venture Investment Limited I E£HSREGRE A T
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20N MFE32) c AEBEHEARAE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+ A =+—HILFE

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group
due to failure to discharge an obligation by
the counterparties is arising from the carrying
amount of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

The Group’s principal financial assets at
amortised costs are trade and other receivables,
cash and cash equivalents and loan receivables.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable
to its trade receivables, loan receivables and
contract assets. The Group is exposed to
concentration of credit risk as a substantial
portion of its sales is generated from a limited
number of customers. At 31 December 2022,
the top five customers of the Group accounted
for about 56.51% (2021: 74.2%) of the Group’s
trade receivables and contract assets, all of
which are engaged in business of connectivity
products with good reputation. In order to
minimise the credit risk, management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limit, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each debt on a collective
and on-going basis to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk
is significantly reduced.

40. €@ IT AR

(b)
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40.

192

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The management estimates the estimated loss
rates of loan receivables based on historical
credit loss experience of the debtors. Based on
assessment by the management, the loss given
default is low and the directors of the Company
considers the ECL for loan receivables is
adequate. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk
is significantly reduced.

For other receivables, the management of the
Group makes periodic individual assessment
on the recoverability of other receivables and
deposits based on historical settlement records,
past experience, and also quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportive forward-looking information. The
management believes that there is no significant
increase in credit risk of these amounts since
initial recognition and the Group provided
impairment based on 12-month ECL.

The credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is
limited because the counterparties are banks
with high credit-ratings assigned by international
credit rating agencies. The directors of the
Company considered the ECL on cash and
cash equivalents is insignificant and therefore
no loss allowance was recognised.

In order to minimise credit risk, the management
of the Group has tasked its operation
management committee to develop and
maintain the Group’s credit risk grading to
categorise exposures according to their degree
of risk of default. The credit rating information is
supplied by independent rating agencies where
available and, if not available, the operation
management committee uses other publicly
available financial information and the Group’s
own trading records to rate its major customers
and other debtors. The Group’s exposure
and the credit ratings of its counterparties are
continuously monitored and the aggregate value
of transactions concluded is spread amongst
approved counterparties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+ A =+—HILFE

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 40. €W I A
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) SREREEEHEZREE®H)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EEmEE (&)
The Group's current credit risk grading REBKEREERRTRIEZE
framework comprises the following categories: BRETISE:
Basis for
Category Description recognising ECL
BIAFEHEE
Al o EENEE
Performing For financial assets where there has low risk of default or 12-month ECL

has not been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition and that are not credit impaired (refer
to as Stage 1)

B %) REARBRBREXBVNTHACEERRTERZENE 12EABHEE
WEREERENESREE (BREIRER) &8

Doubtful For financial assets where there has been a significant Lifetime ECL
increase in credit risk since initial recognition but that are — not credit
not credit impaired (refer to as Stage 2) impaired

75t REVSLERACEERREZEMNEYEEFERENSR ECEERENTE
BE(BRE2RER) HEREaEEE

Default Financial assets are assessed as credit impaired when one  Lifetime ECL
or more events that have a detrimental impact on the — credit impaired

estimated future cash flows of that asset have occurred
(refer to as Stage 3)

E X ERAGHIMEEMAARKRREREEN TN EN— EELEGEERED
BRZEEN  AZEERTEREERE (HAE3ME FEMEHREE
B) B8

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe Amount is written off
financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect
of recovery

i FRBETEGADRRENHRE TASEYEER S EME

Yg (= 5K IE B 7 B
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40.

194

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

40. W IH®

Financial risk management objectives and (b) <SEEREEEZEREE®)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EE R (&)
The table below details the credit risk exposures TRENAEEBETEHREE
of the Group’s financial assets and contract EEAENEREERGNEE
assets, which are subject to ECL assessment: WIEERBREFS
Gross Net
Internal 12-month or carrying Loss carrying
2022 Notes credit rating lifetime ECL amount allowance amount
12857 ES
I et Wi ABERFR HUEEEE AREE BRERE REFHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Financial assets at amortised cost
REHRATENEREE
Loan receivables 25 Low risk 12-month ECL 22,634 (470) 22,164
ERER el REAEHEEEE
Cash and cash equivalents 29 Low risk 12-month ECL 106,484 - 106,484
ReRERREER ERER 1EAEHEESE
Other receivables 27 Low risk 12-month ECL 25,891 (613) 25,278
Hit Bk B R R REAEHERESR
Trade receivables 27 Low risk Lifetime ECL (simplified 56,875 (11,189) 45,686
approach)
2o RN ERE FREEEBEERR
(BHeA %)
211,884 (12,272) 199,612
Other items
HiER
Contract assets 28 Low risk Lifetime ECL (simplified 5,118 (122) 4,996
approach)
ANEE ERE FREEEBEERR
(BHeA %)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+-_A=+—HLLFE

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 40. R IHA

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and (b)
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
The table below details the credit risk exposures

of the Group’s financial assets and contract
assets, which are subject to ECL assessment:

TREREEEREREE (8)

EEmE (&)

TR AEBALETHEBEER
BREAANEREERANEE
HEE RS

Gross Net
Internal 12-month or carrying Loss carrying
2021 Notes  credit rating lifetime ECL amount allowance amount
12EAXGFEH
—I-—F Wi ABERTR BHEEER BEREE BEER REFE
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FAET FAT
Financial assets at amortised cost
REERAGTENEREE
Cash and cash equivalents 29 Low risk 12-month ECL 84,132 - 84,132
ReRERRSER B REARSEEERE
Other receivables 27 Lowrisk 12-month ECL 86,363 (1,389) 85,474
Hith e R TR iy REARHEERR
Trade receivables 27 Low risk Lifetime ECL (simplified 92,168 (7,588) 84,580
approach)
) LG iy FREARBEEEE
(BILHE)
263,163 (8,977) 254,186
Other items
HitER
Contract assets 28 Low risk Lifetime ECL (simplified 5,271 () 5,266
approach)
AMEE igE FERRBEEEE
(BlenE)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —“F+ A =+—HILEFE

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 40. €MIAw®
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) =Z=REKREEBEEREE )
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EE R (&)
The following tables provide information about THRHEINEEALERE FEIW
the Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs RRIZEIBEMERENEER
for trade receivables according to their past due p RIBHEEBEER
dates:
Weighted
average Gross Net
expected carrying Loss carrying
Trade receivables loss rate amount allowance amount
mEFH
EARWER AHEBRE BEHEE EEEE REFE
% HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
% FET FET FET
As at 31 December 2022 RZB-Zf
+=R=t-H
Not past due EaH 0.97% 45,107 (436) 44,671
Less than 31 days past due BEDR31A 1.72% 58 1) 57
31 - 120 days past due WHI31E1208 0.93% 107 1) 106
121 - 180 days past due w121 2180H 14.25% 758 (108) 650
Overdue 180 days #H180H 97.23% 7,300 (7,098) 202
53,330 (7,644) 45,686
On individually basis AR &% 100% 3,545 (3,545) -
56,875 (11,189) 45,686
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+-_A=+—HLLFE

40. €W IE

Financial risk management objectives and (b) =REBREEBEEREEW
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EEmEE (&)
Weighted
average Gross Net
expected carrying Loss carrying
Trade receivables loss rate amount allowance amount
Jilk: B
B HRUER BHEREX BREE BREEE REFE
% HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% FHET FHET FET
As at 31 December 2021 R-B=-—%
+-A=+-8
Not past due e - 28 - 28
Less than 31 days past due wEDR31A 0.22% 32,785 (74) 32,711
31 - 120 days past due #WEA31E1208 0.31% 45,757 (146) 45,611
121 - 180 days past due wHE121£180H 18% 7,419 (1,330) 6,089
Overdue 180 days #H180R 95% 2,634 (2,499) 141
88,623 (4,043) 84,580
On individually basis AR &% 100% 3,545 (3,545) =
92,168 (7,588) 84,580
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REMBHRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —“F+ A =+—HILEFE

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 40. W IH®
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) SEEREEBRZRBERM
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EE R (&)
The Group recognised ECL for contract assets &R AR 4 B WOAR R EBAE A AT
and other receivables based on the internal BEHEHWEEREMEWERRD
credit rating of receivables as follows: TEHEEBIBRERNT
Gross Net
Expected carrying Loss carrying
Contract assets loss rate amount allowance amount
EHEE BHEBRE BEHEE BEREE REFE
% HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
% FET FET FET
As at 31 December 2022 RZB-Z&
+=ZA=t-H
Low risk &= b 2.38% 5,118 (122) 4,996
As at 31 December 2021 R-B--%
+=R=t-H
Low risk 15 2l ez 0.09% 5,271 (5) 5,266
Gross Net
Expected carrying Loss carrying
Loan receivables loss rate amount allowance amount
Bl ER AHERE BEHE BRER REFE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% FET FET FET
As at 31 December 2022 R-Z-Z%
+=ZA=+-H
Low risk EE R 2.08% 22,634 (470) 22,164
As at 31 December 2021 R-B--%
+=A=+—-H
Low risk KRk - - - -
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 40. TWMIEH )
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b)) 2REAKEEEEREER®E)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) GEEEE (&)
Gross Net
Expected carrying Loss carrying
Other receivables loss rate amount allowance amount
H B W R R AHERER BEEE EBRER RERE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% FET FET FET
As at 31 December 2022 R=Z==%
+=A=+-AH
Low risk EE R 2.37% 25,891 (613) 25,278
As at 31 December 2021 R-BZ-%
+=A=+-H
Low risk 15 2l ez 1.60% 86,863 (1,389) 85,474
The following tables show the movement in TERHEINEREGFTEREHEE
allowance for credit losses that has been B8 (bR %) k128 AFEAE
recognised for trade and other receivables EEBEBERE S K EH b FE UK )
and contracts assets under the lifetime ECL RO EEBERESS-
(simplified approach) or 12-month ECL.
Lifetime ECL
- not credit- Lifetime ECL -
impaired  credit-impaired
(simplified (simplified
Trade receivables approach) approach) Total
GFEBESE FEBES
BEEE - FEEE -
EEERE FERE
B ZRWERR (S 3%) (S %) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET
As at 1 January 2021 R—ZFE-_—F—H—H 2,625 3,545 6,170
Allowance recognised in RIB R T R B
profit or loss 1,418 - 1,418
As at 31 December 2021 and T = —4F
1 January 2022 TZA=+—HAK
—T__%—H—H 4,043 3,545 7,588
Allowance recognised in RIEEERNEE
profit or loss 3,601 - 3,601
As at 31 December 2022 i
+=A& +-7H 7,644 3,545 11,189
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group writes off a trade receivable when
there is information indicating that the debtor
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the
debtor has been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or when
the trade receivables are over two years past
due, whichever occurs earlier. The Group may
take legal action against the debtors to recover

the amount due.

40. W IH®

(b) LRERSEBEERKE (2

FEmE (&)

EEENBEREHRARABREY
IR 2 B I & E BR A A W @ 5K
HE (PINEBEADBRIEA
RERFF i E % &I a
HBEAMFR UAREEEER
®) AEESMEE S REK
R AKEAHERARBUAE
17 8) PA UL [0 B B TR IR

12-month

Loan receivables ECL

1218 A 8 8

EWRER FEEE

HK$'000

FET

As at 1 January 2022 R-BE-—F—HF—H =

Allowance recognised in profit or loss R Bz R B E 470

As at 31 December 2022 RZEZZF+=-RA=+—H 470

12-month

Other receivables ECL

1218 A A 58

H fth FE W BR R FEEER

HK$'000

FHEIT

As at 1 January 2021 RZZE-Z—F—H—H S

Allowance recognised in profit or loss R IBRFERH B 1,389
As at 31 December 2021 and RZEZ—F+ZA=+—HBERK

1 January 2022 —E-—F—H—H 1,389

Allowance reversed in profit or loss REZERAEE (776)

As at 31 December 2022 RZBE-_=—F+=-A=+—8H 613
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+-_A=+—HLLFE

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

40. @I H®

b) 2REABRESEEERKE (S

Credit risk (Continued) EEmEE (&)
Lifetime ECL
(simplified
Contract assets approach)
GESES
FEEE
EHEE (L7 3%)
HK$’000
FET
As at 1 January 2021 RZZE-_—F—H—H
Allowance recognised in profit or loss 18 % R Y B 5 5
As at 31 December 2021 and RZEBEZ—F+=ZA=+—8K
1 January 2022 —E--F—H—H 5
Allowance recognised in profit or loss 18 %5 & R EY # #55 117
As at 31 December 2022 R-_E-_—_F#+-_A=+—H 122

Liquidity risk

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative
financial liabilities. The table has been drawn
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on
which the Group can be required to pay.

REE LB

TRFANAEERTESRAE
ZHBEHH - ZRIBREBEASE
BATXNZEFRAHRERE
BEZRURASRER/H -
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40.

202

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 40. €MIAw®
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) =SHREKREEAFERBEK®
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) HEELERE (&)
Liquidity table HEEZF
Weighted
average Within More than More than
effective one year 1yearbut  2years but Total
interest oron less than less than  undiscounted Carrying
rate demand 2 years 5 years cash flows amount
MmEFS —FR BBIE BE2E  ANAKE
ERR= FRER BAR2E BIH5E  RERBE REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% FET FET FET FET FET
As at 31 December 2022 R-B--f+-A=1+-H
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ %74 ¢RE%E
Trade and other payables EHREMERER N/A RE 71,411 - - 71,411 71,411
Bank and other borrowings FIREMED 3.22% 71,312 1,440 9,607 82,359 80,240
Lease liabilities HERE 2.19% 7,756 6,605 7,322 21,683 19,741
150,479 8,045 16,929 175,453 171,392
Weighted
average Within More than More than
effective one year 1 year but 2 years but Total
interest oron less than less than  undiscounted Carrying
rate demand 2 years 5 years cash flows amount
MmETH -R BRIF BilBF  ANRHR
ER A= AREL BoReE BORSE  ReRAE RafE
% HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$000
% FET TET TET FET TET
As at 31 December 2021 RZB--%+ZA=1+-8
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ %74 ¢REE
Trade and other payables EHREMERER N/A T E 136,333 - - 136,333 136,333
Bank and other borrowings ROREMER 6% 51,675 - - 51,675 51,675
Lease liabilities HEAR 2.89% 5,524 18,638 - 24,162 21,055
193,532 18,638 - 212,170 209,063
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Fair value estimation

The different levels of fair value estimation have
been defined as follows:

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markers for identical assets or liabilities
(level 1).

Inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from
prices) (level 2).

Inputs for the asset or liability that are
not based on observable market data
(that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).

The following table presents the Group’s

40. @I H®

(© APEMEH

AT EEHHTRERREMT

HRAEEXKABEREED
B2 BE(RERHE) (8
—#&&) e

FE—RBEREZREAI
MEEXNRBEZABREER
Z(AER)KHEEZE (BB
BRGH) BABREK(F =
&) o

WIEER I E RS EHIE
(BN AT = A% |
EEXNEBEZBAZBE (F
=8 -

TRITAEERRFEFEDN

financial assets that are measured at fair value: TREEE:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F— = F=8 st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
As at 31 December 2022 RZEZZ&
+=ZR=+—H
Assets gE
FVTPL (non-current) ERBREATE
S8R (FEmED) - - 47 47
FVTPL (current) EBRERRATE
S8R (&) 1,905 = = 1,905
Total assets BEE 1,905 - 47 1,952
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 40. WMIH )
(c) Fair value estimation (Continued) () DFEMFE)

a. Fair value of financial assets that are a. RIEZEEMBEEZ L FE
measured at fair value on a recurring FTEZEHEEZAFE
basis
The valuation techniques and inputs BEECEHEEFESS
used in the fair value measurements of BTAMAFERMAN
each financial instruments on a recurring (ERERR- SN =Xl
basis are set out below: W

Relationship
of key inputs
and significant
Significant unobservable
Financial Fair value Valuation technique  unobservable inputs to
instruments hierarchy Fair value as at and key inputs inputs Range fair value
BREnAgE
REAFAER
KT BHEM® HEFER EAFH WABBE
SRIA AFEER AVE EIOPN ¢4 ERZpAE #€E AVENRE
31/12/2022 31/12/2021
“B-C-E —Z-—F
t=A TZA
=t-B =t-H
Listed equity securities Level 1 1,905 N/A Quoted bid prices inan  N/A N/A N/A
active market
THRAE 5 F—8 1,905 NER ERMBAREAE  TER TEA TEA
Unlisted investment Level 3 47 N/A Income approach
FETRE E=R 47 TER WAE
By reference to value of Discount rate  30% The higher the
the expected future discount rate,
economic benefits the lower the fair
to be derived from value
the ownership of
this investee, based
on an appropriate
discount rate
B2ERRENMAR HRE 30% BRELA DTE
EERNEHRREE T
MNaEE REEE
B E
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(c) Fair value estimation (Continued)
a. Fair value of financial assets that are

measured at fair value on a recurring
basis (Continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value

40. €W I A
() DAFEMFHE)
a. RIELEMEEZ L FE
FTEZEMEEZAFE

(%)

TRMEEF =R FER

measurements of financial assets are as ENHERAT:
follows:

Unlisted
investments
FLETEHRE
HK$'000
FET
At 1 January 2022 RZEZ—F—H—H -
Addition NE 3,135
Net loss recognised in profit or loss PiE = ERAFEE (3,088)

At 31 December 2022

The above net loss for the year ended
31 December 2022 recognised in profit
or loss of approximately HK$3,088,000
(2021: N/A).

R-ZE-_—_F+-_A=+—H 47

tEHEE-—"FT-_—_F+=
A=Z+—HIEFERIE
mERNFEEN A
3,088,000 L (=Z&F = —
FAEA) -
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41.

206

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND 1. BEBIRIREH
BALANCES
During the current year, the Group entered into the KEFEEAR KNE £ B8 B 5 1T T A
following transactions with related parties: R
Name Nature of transactions 2022 2021
=g REMHE —E-= —E—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
PT Shenzhen (Note a) Cost of service rendered paid - 1,708
by the Group
BRI (Kita) REED R RBK A
PT Shenzhen (Note a) Rental paid by the Group 660 862
BRI (Kita) AEBEMNES
Goldstone (Note b) Interest expense paid by 856 -
the Group

h (Kitb)

China State Ventures Group Limited
(Note c)
PEFECEEERRAF (Hite)

The following balances were outstanding at the end of

the reporting period:

AEFEDHREMEZ
Rental paid by the Group 677

AEEDNEE

FO R 45 H R LA T A B0 o R -

Amounts due from/(to)

Name Nature of balances related parties
%8 e E W (FEfT) BAHE 5 FR 1B
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
PT Shenzhen (Note a) Cost of service rendered paid (772) (838)
by the Group
BRI (Kiita) REE B MRERBKAR
PT Shenzhen (Note a) Rental paid by the Group (267) -
BRI (Kiita) rEEENES
Goldstone (Note b) Loans lent to the Group (36,624) -
eha (Hitb) MAKEEHNER
CITIC (Note d) Loan lent by the Group 13,800 -

RS (A aEd)

AEEEHNER
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND 4. BEBEIRIREHR@
BALANCES (Continued)
Notes: Biat -
(@) Mr. Wang Li Feng, a director and a shareholder of the (a) AAREERRETBELERAESR
Company has an indirect equity interest of 17.5% (2021: JEEEEREI75% (T = —F:
27.6%) in PT Shenzhen. 27.6%) °
(o) Goldstone is indirectly owned as to 60% by Mr. Huang Bin, (b) SHRBARNTFENTESTSHACERE
the non-executive Director of the Company; and (i) indirectly HEOWE R R)BFEEBREEE R
owned as to 40% by CIAM. CIAM is a company incorporated MEEGIO%ER P EEREETEAR
in Hong Kong with limited liability and is a non wholly-owned —EREETMRZOBRAR A
subsidiary of CIFH. CIAM is principally engaged in equity P EEBRSRIERMNIEEEHB AT -
investment and asset management. The principal was lent T EEBREEERTFENRERERER
during the year and repayment was made within 12 months. BEEE -ASDREAMBEL  BERI12
8 A REE -
(©) Mr. Huang Bin being the director and indirectly hold of the (©) EEEMEEMEREERARR EEZ
Company until 19 October 2022. E-_—F+A+hH-
(d) Mr. Huang Bin and Mr. Ni Xian, being the directors of the (d) BERAEERRZEE BNARRES
Company.
Compensation of key management personnel EREE ABHMH
The remuneration of directors of the Company and RAARESFRBAREEBEMKERNSF
other members of key management during the year A F BT
was as follows:
2022 2021
—E-F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Fees, salaries and allowances e FHEREN 8,807 5,857
Contribution to retirement RGBT EIH R
benefit scheme 729 437
9,536 6,294
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42. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 42.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at

208

31 December 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

"|T
Place/country
Form of of incorporation/ Paid up and issued Percentage of nominal value of
business registration/ share capital/ issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary structure operation registered capital capital held by the Company Principal activity
HRAY 2B/ EBRAR RDAFRBZBRY
WERRER ERERTS  giu¥/EX BRRE/EMER RAEE/ERERLAH TEEH
Direct Indirect
%3 GE:3
2022 2021 2022 2021
—8--f -“T--% -—B--f -“FT--&
Asia-Link Technology Limited Limited liability  British Virgin Islands/ ~ US$50,000 Ordinary - - 100% 100%  Trading of connectivity products
company Taiwan shares mainly for computers and
peripheral products in the USA,
investment holding
THHRERAA AREMLNR RERBRES/AE 50000ETLER EXEEETERANERRARR
REREHERRREER
Dongguan Glory Mark Electronic  Limited liability ~PRC HK$15,100,000 Paid - > 100% 100%  Manufacture of connectivity
Co., Ltd. company up registered capital products mainly for computers
and peripheral products
REBEETERAA BREFAR +E 15,100,000 L& 2 HETERNERRAEREER
HMER EEER
Glory Mark Electronic Limited Limited liability  British Virgin Islands/ ~ US$50,000 Ordinary - = 100% 100%  Trading of connectivity products
(Note a) company Taiwan shares mainly for computers and
peripheral products in South
East Asia
BEETERARA (Hia) AREARR RELARES/AE 50000%TEBR EREGEEIEANERRAR
REEMIENER
Glory Mark Electronic Limited Limited liability ~ Samoa/Taiwan US$50,000 Ordinary - - 100% 100%  Trading of connectivity products
company shares mainly for computers and
peripheral products
BEETARAA AREARR EER/AE 50,0005 T & &R BEEIERNEMRARREER
CEBER
Glory Mark International Limited liability ~ British Virgin Islands/ ~ US$400 Ordinary 100% 100% - - Investment holding
(Holdings) Limited company Hong Kong shares
BEER (£8)BRAA AREMLNR RERBRES/EF W0ETLER RERR
Dongguan Asia-Link (Note b) Limited fiabilty ~ PRC HK$62,260,000 Paid - - N/A 100%  Manufacture of connectivity
company up registered capital products mainly for computers
and peripheral products
RETH (M) EREARE 4 62,260,000/ T TERA HETERNERRAERBER
HER EEER
Asia-Link (Fogang) Electronic Limited fiabilty ~ PRC US$3,150,000 Paid up - - 100% 100%  Manufacture of connectivity
Limited (Note ¢) company registered capital products mainly for computers
and peripheral products
T (BR)EFERAR (Mitc) ARELRR $E 3,150,000 T4 & REFTEANERRERRBER
HER ERER
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PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 42, MERARFE @

Place/country
Form of of incorporation/ Paid up and issued Percentage of nominal value of
business registration/ share capital/ issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary structure operation registered capital capital held by the Company Principal activity
HMAL/HM/  ERAR RAAFRBZERS
WEARER EBERER  2ERY/EX BRBA/EREX RAEE/ERERLH TERE
Direct Indirect
HE &
2022 2021 2022 2021
—8--f -“T--% -—B--f -“FT--%
Dongguan Glory Mark and Limited fiabilty ~ PRC HK$24,500,000 Paid - - 100% 100%  Manufacture of connectivity
Asia-Link Technology Co., Ltd. company up registered capital products mainly for computers
and peripheral products
REEEGBRITARAR BREELRA HE 24,500,000 T4 & HETERNEMRAEREER
FER EEER
Dongguan Glory Mark and Asia  Limited liabilty ~ PRC HK$1,223,100 - - 100% 100%  Manufacture of connectivity
Link Electronic Co., Ltd company products mainly for computers
and peripheral products
Dongguan Glory Mark and BREEAR #E 1,223,100 7T HETERNERRALERBER
Asia Link Electronic Co., Ltd ZEREMR
Shenzhen Shufen Technology Limited fiabilty ~ PRC HK$1 - - 100% N/A~ Manufacture of connectivity
Co., Ltd (“Shufen”) (Note ) company products mainly for computers
and peripheral products
Shenzhen Shufen Technology BREAAR HE 18T TER RETERNERLALRRER
Co., Ltd ( [Shufen] ) EEER
(Hitd)
PT Design International (Holdings)  Limited liability ~ British Virgin Islands/  US$50,000 Ordinary 100% 100% - - Investment holding
Limited company Hong Kong shares
BERHERERERAA BREMLR HBRERHES/ER 50000 LER RERR
Pt Design (QH) Limited Limited fiabilty ~ PRC HK$2,000,000 Paid - - 100% 100%  Provision of comprehensive
company up registered capital architectural service
AERERA (RINERRA  ARERLA +E 2,000,000 T4 2 REXEEERS
AMER
PT Design International Limited fiability ~ Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - = 100% 100%  Investment holding and provision
company Ordinary shares of comprehensive architectural
service
HERER BREEAR FR 1,000,000/ ¢ & Ak REBRRRELERERS
State Venture Capital Limited Limited liability  Hong Kong HK$10,000 Ordinary 100% 100% - - Investment holding
(Note ¢ company shares
MEBARAXERAR (Hide) ARERARA FE 10,0008 T & BR REER
State Innovation Capital Limited ~ Limited liability ~Hong Kong HK$100 Ordinary 100% 100% - - Investment holding
(Note ¢ company shares
MEBANAKXERAR (Hide) ARERARA FE 1008 T & ER REER
Radiant Assets Management Limited liability  Hong Kong HK$10,000 Ordinary 100% 100% - - Investment holding
Limited (Note f) company shares
Radiant Assets Management BREERA FA 10,0008 T EBR RERR
Limited ( A7z#f)
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42. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Notes:

(@) The subsidiary had established a branch, namely Glory Mark
Electronic Limited — Taiwan Branch (the “GME Branch”) in
Taiwan. The GME Branch is engaged in trading of connectivity
products mainly for computers and peripheral products.

(b) The subsidiary was disposed on 22 October 2021.

(c) The subsidiary was secured for the bank borrowings of
RMB10,000,000 (2021: RMB10,000,000) (equivalent to
HK$11,279,000) (2021: HK$12,231,000) of Dongguan Glory
Mark and Asia-Link Technology Co., Ltd.

(d) The subsidiary was acquired on 15 July 2022 from the related
parties — Mr. Yu Sanlong and Mrs. Fan Xiaoling being the
directors of the Company.

(e) The subsidiary was acquired on 8 March 2022 from the
related party — Mr. Huang Bin being the director and indirectly
hold of 60% shares of the Company.

(f) The subsidiary was acquired on 21 March 2022 from the

related party — Mr. Huang Bin being the director of the
Company.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities
at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

BFEBIE, a 51% (2021: nil) owned subsidiary of
the Company, has material non-controlling interests
of 49% which is material to the Group. The non-
controlling interests of all other subsidiaries that are
not 100% owned by the Group are considered to be
immaterial.
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PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 42. WED IS =
Summarised financial information in relation to & & REBRNARHEHHEN EHEETESHK
#2, before intra-group elimination, is presented below: MEBERBEZYWOT
2022
—E-=
HK$'000
FHET
For the year ended 31 December HE+-_A=+—HILEE
Revenue W e 6,964
Profit for the year F N F 2,558
Total comprehensive income for the year FAEHER=BE 2,658
Profit allocated to non-controlling interests DT IEIE R = 2w A 1,253
For the year ended 31 December HE+-_A=+—HILFE
Cash flows generated from operating activities #&&FHELEZRESRE 3,271
Cash flows generated from investing activities REZBEL RS R E 23
Net cash inflows REMAFRE 3,294
At 31 December w+=—A=+—H
Non-current assets FmBEE 1,090
Current assets MENE E 9,306
Current liabilities mE B & (667)
Non-current liability FEREBEE (445)
Net assets BEFE 9,284
Accumulated non-controlling interests ZErIEERER 4,549
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43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 43. AR FHBEMRRE
THE COMPANY
The financial information of the Company as at 31 KRARRZBEZZFR-ZZ-_—F+=
December 2022 and 2021 are as follows: A=+—BMEBEERNT:
2022 2021
—E-= —E -
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
ior3 FET FAET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Unlisted investments RETBARIMIELMIEE
in subsidiaries a 34,530 34,510
34,530 34,510
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Other receivables H b I AR 3N 1,735 3,070
Amount due from JE Uy — 5 B8 &~ B 508
a related company b 13 12
Amounts due from AL ENG E e
subsidiaries b 48,194 16,551
Cash and cash equivalent RekEFERREIEAR 10,439 44
60,381 19,677
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Other payables Hoth JE - BR 3K 7,077 9,262
Amounts due to subsidiaries  FE{I I B R F3KIE b 64,038 =
Bank and other borrowings RIT R H A& K 7,000 15,214
78,115 24,476
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES FREB&EFH (17,734) (4,799)
NET ASSETS EEFE 16,796 29,711
CAPITAL AND RESERVE R R E
Share capital fi% A 7,040 7,040
Reserves 1 % 9,756 22 671
TOTAL EQUITY EREE 16,796 29,711
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43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 43. AEATHBER @)
THE COMPANY (Continued)
(a)  Unlisted investments in subsidiaries (@ RHBARIMNFELWERE
As at 31 December 2022, unlisted investments W_E__F+_H=+—
in subsidiaries are carried at cost of H A BARNKEERRKE
HK$34,530,000 (2021: HK$34,510,000). No 34,530,000 T AR (=T = —
impairment losses were recognised for the year F:34,510,0008 7T) - F A #E
(2021: Nil). EHRERBEBER(ZZZ—F:
;) o
(b)  The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free (b) ZEHREEER 2ENERE
and repayable on demand. K EE -
()  Movements in the Company’s reserves are as () ARBRBENEENT:
follows:
(Accumulated
losses)/
Share Retained Total
premium profits reserves
(R3tER)/
RBEE REER Fohy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FETL FETL FET
At 1 January 2021 W-E-—#—A—R 5,438 (10,594) (5,156)
Profit and total comprehensive R H R 2B A L E
income for the year - 27,827 27,827
At 31 December 2021 and RZTZ—%
1 January 2022 +ZA=+—-8k
—Z--%—H—H 5,438 17,233 22,671
Loss and total comprehensive ~ FREERZEH B8
expense for the year - (12,915) (12,915)
As at 31 December 2022 i ——
+-RA=+—-H 5,438 4,318 9,756
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44, RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 4. BMETHELEEEHE
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Bank and
other Lease
borrowings liabilities Total
BITR
Hi &K HERE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
At 1 January 2021 AT —F—A— EI - 1,217 1,217
Changes from financing wﬂ & iﬁjﬁﬁj’:mug
cash flows:
New bank and other FEEZRITREMER
borrowings raised 51,675 - 51,675
Interest paid for bank and B AT R1T R B A1 KA E
other borrowings (1,053) - (1,053)
Repayment of principal HEBBASHBIER
portion of lease liabilities S (2,522) (2,522)
Interest paid for leases BEREEFNE - (839) (839)
50,622 (3,361) 47,261
Other changes: EH e
Interest on bank and RIT S H A8 R B
other borrowings 1,053 - 1,053
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERE - 839 839
New lease recognised %§EEWL\EU%ﬁTH
(note 19) (H#19) = 22,070 22,070
Exchange realignment ME 5, 38 B - 290 290
At 31 December 2021 R-ZTB_—F
+TZA=+—8H 51,675 21,055 72,730
Changes from financing REEERSREZE):
cash flows:
New bank and other FEECBRITRAMER
borrowings raised 124,757 - 124,757
Interest paid for bank and BATIRIT R E AL ST B
other borrowings (2,581) - (2,581)
Repayment of principal RITRHMERES
portion of bank and EHoEW
other borrowings (93,051) - (93,051)
Repayment of principal HEBBASBHER
portion of lease liabilities - (4,532) (4,532)
Interest paid for leases EMNEERNE = (1,190) (1,190)
29,125 (5,722) 23,403
Other changes: H b -
Interest on bank and R1 &Ei\ﬁﬂﬁ B RS
other borrowings 2,581 - 2,581
Interest on lease liabilities HEAENE - 1,284 1,284
New lease recognised KERMIAE
(note 19) (B73E19) - 4,686 4,686
Exchange realignment E H (3,141) (1,562) (4,703)
At 31 December 2022 A
+—-—A=+—~8” 80,240 19,741 99,981
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45.

46.

47.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE T - —F+ A =+—HILFE

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, certain property, plant and
equipment and land use right of HK$8,637,000 and
HK$3,915,000 respectively (2021: HK$9,892,000 and
HK$4,374,000 respectively) were pledged as collateral
for the Group’s certain bank borrowings (note 32).

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
entered into new lease agreements in respect of office
premises. On the lease commencement, the Group
recognised right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in
the same amount of approximately HK$4,686,000
(2021: HK$22,070,000).

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

On 24 March 2023, the Company as vendor and Shen
Chen, an independent third party of the Company,
as purchaser have entered into an equity transfer
agreement, pursuant to which the Company has
agreed to dispose of 100% of the issued capital of
Radiant Assets Management Limited at a consideration
of HK$1. The disposal was subsequently completed
on 14 June 2023.

As the relevant applicable percentage ratios (as
defined under Rule 19.07 of the GEM Listing Rules) in
respect of the disposal are less than 5%, the disposal
is exempt from the reporting, announcement and
shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 19
of the GEM Listing Rules.
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EEEH

R-E-_—_F+-_A=+—8B &F
MHE- -BERSERTHERESD R
8,637,000/ Jt 3,915,000 L (=&
— — 4% :9,892,000/& Jr & 4,374,000/%
AT EEREREEE THRITER
B 1 an (B 5E32) ©

TEFRERS

BE_E-_—_F+-_RA=+—BLtEE"
AEBRBAESMEI LT EERZ-
REERGEE ~5ERRERSED
FREEERMEEAEL4,686,0008
7T (ZF = —4%:22070,000567T) °

WMEHBRER
w =

TE-_=F=ZA=-+mA KA A
(tTERBEH)BA R EIE = FShen
Chen (ERE 7)ET L REEFE W& -
E - A2 AR & H &Radiant Assets
Management Limited 2 100% 2 817 X
BERIAT HEFHAZERZ-Z ==
FRATMHETERK -
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MU EEHEHERRETGEMLETREIE
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Financial Summary

MBEE

Year ended 31 December
BET-A=+—-ALEE
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
“2-\F ZE-NF ZE-TF —T--% ZEBZCZHF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FHET FET

RESULTS E |
Revenue WA 388,770 347,973 292,748 339,255 287,850
Profit/(loss) for the year FREF/(BR) 24,434 11,870 (5,122) 49,726 (61,474)

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to: JA T A T &G A& R,/

(B18):
Owners of the Company AREHEEA 24,456 12,255 (4,576) 49,989 (61,906)
Non-controlling interests FERER (22) (385) (546) (263) 432
24,434 11,870 (5,122) 49,726 (61,474)
As at 31 December
R+-—A=+—H
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
“2-\F ZE-NF ZE-TF —T--F ZBZCZf
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FETL FET FETL FET FAET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE
Total assets BERE 274,869 256,445 258,022 417,114 319,751
Total liabilities BELE (154,389) (126,773) (124,833) (244,000) (205,136)
Shareholders’ funds BEES 120,480 129,672 133,189 173,108 114,615

Shareholders’ funds attributable to: A T AT EEREES
Owners of the Company ARAEE A 120,040 129,617 133,680 173,862 111,641
Non-controlling interests BRI 440 55 (491) (754) 2,974

120,480 129,672 133,189 173,108 114,615
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